Capital Blue Cross
Reserve/Surplus
Application
and Supplemental
Documents

CBC 00001



i ¢ ny
VY,

]

Capital BlueCross
RECEIVED
Corporare & Finincial legulation
REDACTED COPY HAND DELIVERY
JUL 2 3 2004
Pernsylvania
July 23, 2004 Insurance Department
Stephen J. Johnson Randolph L. Rohrbaugh
Deputy Commissioner Deputy Commissioner
Office of Corporate and Financial Office of Insurance Product Regulation and
Regulation Market Enforcement
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Insurance Department Insurance Department
1326 Strawberry Square 1326 Strawberry Square
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Dear Messrs. Johnson and Rohrbaugh:

Enclosed please find a clean and re-redacted version of the Application originally submitted to
the Department on April 15, 2004 in response to Notice 2004-01 (the “Notice™). They reflect the
confidential designations agreed to between our respective counsel which were memonalized in
a joint motion to the Commonwealth Court on July 9, 2004, and confirmed by the Order of Judge
Pellegrini on July 23, 2004. Also attached is an electronic version of the redacted copy (except
for the amicus brief filed as part of Exhibit (b)-2, the A.M. Best Methodology Report filed as
Exhibit (b)-4, and the confidential business plan filed as Exhibit (d)-2, which are only available
in hard copy).

Also, it is our understanding that the Department still plans to provide a thirty (30) day period for
public inspection of and comment on the appropriately redacted version of the Application and
other materials submitted in response to the Notice. CBC respectfully requests that, after the
close of the thirty day period, it be given the opportunity to review all comments submitted in
response to the Applications and that it be given an opportunity to respond to those comments.
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Please contact me if you have any questions.

Very truly yours,
e

Patricia K. Wong
Supervising ﬁ
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REDACTED COPY " April 15, 2004

Preliminary Note:
Clarifications for the Public Benefit

As a threshold matter, Capital BlueCross (scmetimes referred to as "CBC"), an
independent licensee of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (the “BCBSA™), wishes
to provide certain background information for the benefit of the public concerning the
Notice published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin on January 16, 2004 (the “Notice”) by the
Pennsylvania Insurance Department (ihe “Department”).

The Notice contains a number of information requests, such as the request for CBC's
Risk Based Capital (“RBC") level. It indicates that the RBC level of CBC and the other
Blue Plans should fali within a range of 350% 1o 650%, that an RBC level outside that
range is likely “excessive.” In addition, it requires submission of a business plan setting
forth how any “excess” surplus should be distributed. Furthermore, the Notice implies
that any “excess” would be distributed to plan participants and to other residents outside
of CBC's 21-county service area.

Since publication of the Notice, the Department has materially altered its position
concerning many of these matters. During the course of testimony at a preliminary
injunction hearing before the Honorable Dan Pellegrini in the Commonwealth Court on
March 17, 2004, representatives of the Department and its counsel conceded, despite
the actual wording of the Notice, that:

o the use of RBC was never intended as the exclusive method of determining
adequate levels of reserves and surplus;

¢ CBCis free to propose a target RBC ratio outside the 350% to 650% range; and

« CBC may utilize alternate methods of determining reserves and surplus without
specifying any particular RBC level.

In addition, Judge Pellegrini has ordered that certain portions of this Application be held
confidential in order to prevent disclosure of important and highly confidential and
proprietary information concerning CBC and its subsidiaries. The result is that some of
the information initially requested by the Department in the Notice cannot and should not
be made public.

CBC has asked the Department to re-issue the Notice and explain these developments
so that the public will understand the background and be in a better position to comment
on our filing. Because the Department has not indicated that it intends to re-issue the
Notice, we thought it would be helpful to point out the following:

« The Introduction to our Application below contains a brief explanation of the

reasons we disagree with the Department’s Notice and sets forth the legal and
regulatory basis for our objections.
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o Qur Application also contains an explanation of the development and intended
use of RBC (which was never intended as a tool for evaluating maximum
surplus). Indeed, Pennsylvania law presently prohibits the disclosure of RBC
levels and the use of such levels for the purposes contemplated by the
Department. We have included as an exhibif to our Application a position paper
by the BCBSA as well as an amicus brief filed by the BCBSA in the recent
proceeding supporting CBC and addressing the issue of RBC levels in depth

(see Exhibit (b)-2).

e For a number of reasons explained in our Application, CBC believes its reserves
and surplus are adequate, but not excessive. We have included as an exhibit to
our Application a report by Douglas B. Sherlock, CFA of Sherlock Company,
discussing the particular circumstances facing our company and explaining the
importance of reserves and surplus for CBC and its policyholders at this point in
CBC's history {see Exhibit (d)-2). Sherlock Company assists health plans, their
business partners and their investors in the treasury, strategic and control
functions of finance.

¢ By committing to remain independent and by choosing to operate as a fully-
integrated health plan exclusively focused on the needs of Central Pennsylvania
and the Lehigh Valley, we have brought the levels of competition in our service
area to new heights — benefiting all of the residents and providers in our service
area. ltis often opined by various public officials that more competition is
needed among health plans in the Commonwealth. Given that the availability of
capital is crucial to CBC’s ability to successfully compete, any actions by the
Department to weaken CBC will likely have an unintended consequence —
reducing competition. Fostering competition and keeping competitors financially
strong go hand-in-hand. Weakening CBC could even impact CBC's current work
force of over 2,000 employees in Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley
and also have a cascading impact on CBC'’s vendors.

o Needless to say, we are concermned by any implication on the part of the
Department that it can expand its limited authority to approve surplus to take or
redirect assets earned by CBC in the course of doing business in our 21-county
service area in Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley for other areas of the
Commonweaith and for nonpolicyholders. That would work a fundamental
unfairness to CBC, all of its members and the communities it serves.

It is important for all participants in the process to understand that CBC is a business
enterprise operating for the benefit of its members in a new and fiercely competitive
marketplace. We are seeking to safeguard highly sensitive information that, if released,
could adversely impact our competitive position as well as our ability to continue to serve
our customer base. We are exercising the rights available to any licensed health plan to
ensure that regulatory action taken by the Department is in full compliance with
applicable law and regulations and to protect our assets from an unconstitutional faking.
Indeed, while we have always had great respect for the Department, we believe that
failure to challenge the Department’s actions to date would be imprudent, and even
amount to a failure to exercise sound stewardship of CBC's hard-earned assets for the
benefit of its subscribers.
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Introduction

CBC submits this Application intending to preserve its objections to the Notice and the
application process related thereto (including the January 5, 2004 letter (the “Letter”)
which was sent to CBC in conjunction with the Notice). Although CBC does not
challenge the jurisdictional authority of the Department to approve CBC's reserves and
surplus,' there are numerous defects in the manner in which the Department has chosen
to proceed as articulated in the Notice. CBC's objections include, but are not limited to,
the following:

The Application Process Violates The Federal And State Consfitutions

The Notice states in ltem (d} that, fo the extent that the Department finds there is
“excess” surplus, such allegedly “excess” surplus must be “equitably distributed to
benefit Plan participants and the Commonwealth's underinsured and uninsured citizens
in a manner befitling charitable and benevolent institutions such as the Blues Plans.”
The Notice clearly proposes and contemplates the distribution of CBC's property to third
parties. Under the Constitutions of Pennsylvania and the United States, the requirement
that CBC distribute allegediy “excess” surplus to parties or persons approved by the
Department is confiscatory on its face, violates substantive and procedural due process
and constitutes a regulatory taking.

The Notice and application procedures further violate CBC's due process rights under
the United States and Pennsylvania Constifutions because:

1. The Notice itself is defective because it fails to give CBC or the public
accurate notice of the procedures the Department intends to follow or the
standards it intends to use to evaluate whether CBC has “excess” surplus.

2. The Notice proceedings constitute a taking of CBC's property without due
process of law or just compensation.

3. The Notice fails to provide CBC with an adjudicatory hearing before making
the decision that it has any allegedly “excess” surplus.

4. The Notice fails to provide CBC with an adjudicatory hearing before CBC
must file a plan for excess surplus to be “equitably distributed to benefit Plan
participants and the Commonwealth’s underinsured and uninsured citizens in
a manner befitting charitable and benevolent institutions such as the Blues
Plans.”

5. The Notice does not provide CBC any opportunity to be heard by an
unbiased decision maker.

! The Pennsylvania Supreme Court is currently considering the Commonwealth Court's
determination in Ciamaichelo v. Independence Blue Cross, 814 A.2d 800, 803 (Pa. Commw. Ct.
2002}, that the “Department has exclusive jurisdiction over the setting of rates, approving
reserves and surpluses.” Ciamaichelo v. Independence Blue Cross, No. 223 MAP 2003 (Pa.). In
addition to the objections set forth herein, CBC reserves ils right to raise additional objections to
these proceedings, including the Department's jurisdiction, that may be appropriate following the
Supreme Court's Decision.

5
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6. In violation of the Equal Protection provision, the Notice and the application
pracess only apply to the Blues Plans and not to other hospital or health
service plans, any for-profit or nonprofit insurer, or health maintenance or
preferred provider organization.

The Department Lacks The Authority To Compel The Distribution of Surplus that
the Department Deems “Excessive”

The Notice is an impermissible attempt by the Commissioner and the Department to
confer upon themselves authority not granted by the General Assembly. National Solid
Wastes Mamt. Ass'n. v. Casey, 143 Pa. Commw. 577, 587, 600 A.2d 260, 265 (1991).

There is no statutory authoerity which grants the Department the power to require a
solvent insurer to file a plan for distributing its “excess™ surplus to “benefit Plan
participants and the Commonwealth's underinsured and uninsured citizens in a manner
befitting charitable and benevolent institutions such as the Blues Plans.” Indeed, the
Department’s Notice is nothing more than a non-legislative tax.

The term “social mission” does not have a statutory basis. While professional heaith
services plan corporations (“Blue Shields™) have a statutory social mission, 40 Pa.
C.S.A. §6303, such provisions do not apply to hospital plan corporations (“Blue
Crosses”). Id. §6301(b). Rather, CBC is a nonprofit hospital plan corporation whose
statutory purpose is to provide and sustain a nonprofit hospital plan. Id. §6101. By
operating a hospital plan, CBC gives subscribers the means to pay for hospital
expenses, assists hospitals and subscribers finance the cost of health care, and thus
promotes the health of the residents of its 21 county service area.

CBC's position that the Department does not have express or implied authority to
compel CBC to file a plan for distributing excess surplus is strengthened by the fact that
in other jurisdictions where courts have affirmed the authority of an Insurance
Department conceming excess surplus, there was an explicit legislative scheme that
established maximum surplus levels and required the filing of, and compliance with, an
approved plan to correct any surplus imbalance.? The Pennsylvania General Assembly
has not given the Insurance Department comparable authority to require the Blue Plans
to distribute surplus the Department deems to be “excessive.”

The Statute Relied Upon by the Department for the Notice And Application Does
Not Authorize the Procedures That The Department Seeks To Utillze

By issuing the Notice, the Department purports to be following the procedures set forth
in §6124(b) of the Health Plan Corporations Act. Section 6124(b) states:

? See, e.q., In the Matter of the Excess Surplus Status of Blue Cross and Blue Shield of
Minnesola, 624 N.W.2d 264 (Minn. 2001} (affirming decisicn of Minnesota Insurance
Commissioner requiring use of premium rebates to return excess surplus generated by
setflement of lawsuit against tobacco companies); cf. In the Matter of New York State Conference
of Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans v. Muhl, 253 A.D.2d 158 (N.Y. A.D. 1999} (statutory scheme
explicitly authorized consideration of whether requested rates would produce amounts greater
than required to maintain solvency). See also footnotes 16, 17, and 18 below.
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Every application for such approval shall be made to the department in
writing and shall be subject to the provisions of subsections (c) through (f)
of section 6102 of this title (relating to cerlification of hospital plan
corporations) except that the department may substitute publication in the
Pennsylvania Bulletin of notice of reasonable opportunity to submit written
comments for publication of opportunity for hearing in any case where the
right to an oral hearing is not conferred by the Constitution_of the United
States or the Constitution of Pennsylvania.

40 Pa. C.S.A. § 6124(b) (emphasis added).

Under the clear language of Section 6124(b), the Department may replace publication of
notice for a hearing under §6102(e) with publication of notice to submit written
comments under §6124(b} only when the applicant does not have a right to a hearing
under the United States or Pennsylvania Constitutions. In this case, the determination
by the Department that any allegedly “excess™ surplus must be “distributed” in item (d) of
the Notice clearly requires a hearing under the United States and Pennsylvania
Constitutions and, therefore, the Notice procedure is not available to the Department
under §6124(b) by its very terms. The Department must hold a constitutionally valid
hearing prior to making any determination that any of CBC's surplus is “excessive” or
directing or ordering CBC to distribute its surplus to any entity.

The Notice Is Defective Because It Does Not Accurately Reflect The Procedures
That The Department Is Following

The Notice does not accurately reflect either the standard the Department intends to
follow or the process it will use in evaluating CBC's Application and is, therefore,
defective. At the March 17, 2004 preliminary injunction hearing in Capital Blue Cross v.
Koken, No. 172 MD 2004 (Pa. Commw. Ct.), the Department admitted that its Notice did
not accurately reflect the Department’s actual requirements and processes. For
example, the Department’s witness testified and admitted that CBC is free to provide a
target RBC ratio outside of the 350%-650% RBC range that is mandated by item (b) of
the Notice. See N.T. 50, 105-108. The Department’s witness further testified that CBC
is free to adopt another methodology, not based on RBC, to evaluate its capital needs.
See N.T. 50-52. The Notice affords no such discretion in adopting a methodology
outside of RBC. See item (b} of the Notice.

The Department's own material modifications fo the Notice are not in the Notice itself. If
CBC includes an RBC target ouiside the 350%-650% range, or uses a non-RBC
methodology, any reasonable person who reads the Notice and compares it to CBC’s
Application will conclude that CBC has failed to comply with the four corners of the
Notice. In short, the Notice does not do what it is meant to do — accurately advise the
public of a proceeding before the Department so that they can provide informed
commentary. The function of a “[n]otice should be reasonably calculated to inform the
parties of the pending action, and the information necessary to provide an opportunity to
present objections.” Pennsylvania Coal Mining Ass'n v. Insurance Dept., 471 Pa. 437,
452, 370 A.2d 685, 692-93 (Pa. 1977). The Department's Notice is, therefore,
inadequate as a matter of law.
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The Health RBC Act Prohibits The Department From Using RBC To Regulate
Excess Surplus

The Health RBC Act, 40 P.S. §§ 221.1-B to 221.15-B, prohibits the Department from
using RBC to regulate “excess” surplus. Under the Health RBC Act, the Department has
authority to take certain actions and/or impose certain requirements on an insurer
relating to its RBC report only if the insurer's RBG report is inaccurate or its RBC level is
too low (i.e., surplus is inadequate), neither of which is implicated by the Notice and
application process. The Department is not authorized to make a determination that any
insurer's RBC level is “excessive” or to take actions or impose requirements based upon
a determination by the Department that the RBC level is “excessive.” The legislative
history and Model RBC Act establish that RBC was never intended to be used for any
purpose other than solvency monitoring.® The only authorized purpose for which RBC
information may be used is as a solvency monitoring tool so that the Department may
take action in the event that an insurer's RBC level falls below a certain level. See 40
P.S. §§ 221.5-B to 221.8-B. RBC information provided by health insurers is “infended
solely” for use by the department to monitor the solvency® of health organizations
and to determine the need for corrective action .. .." 40 P.S. § 221.11-B(d)
(emphasis added). Corrective action relates solely to action ordered by the
Commissioner when RBC levels fall below certain prescribed levels. See 40 P.S. §§
221.1-B (definitions of “Authorized Control Event,” “Company Action Level Event,”

“Mandatory Control Level Event,” “Regulatory Action Level Event”), 221 5-B, 221.6-B,
221.7-B, 221.8-B.

The Notice, however, proposes a surplus ceiling using RBC as a measure. The Notice
states that in its “application . . . [CBC] must, in a manner the Department deems
necessary and proper: ... (b) state the maximum RBC ratio within the 350% to 650%
range that is appropriate and; . . . {d) provide a proposed business plan explaining how
any maintained surplus that resuits in an RBC ratio that is in excess of the maximum
RBC ratio wilt be fairly and equitably distributed to benefit Plan participants and . . .
[others]." Notice at 2.

Using RBC as a measure to establish a maximurm amount of surplus, rather than a tool
to detect, monitor and select corrective action for financially troubled insurance
companies whose surplus level falls below required minimum RBC levels, is unlawful
because it violates the express limitations of the RBC Act. 40 P.S. § 221.11-B(d). See
Commonwealth of Pa., Dep't. of Military Affairs v. Greenwood, 510 Pa. 348, 354-355,
508 A.2d 292, 296 (1986) (reasoning that a Court must give meaning to a “word of
limitation" in a statute that “evinces a restrictive legislative intention™); Northampion,

Bucks County Mun. Auth. v. Commonwealth of Pa., Dep't. of Envil. Res., 521 Pa. 253,

? See Exhibit (b)-2 for a discussion of legislative history of the RBC Act.
‘ “Solely” is defined as “alone; singly” and “entirely; exclusively.” American Heritage Dictionary
1163 (2d College Ed. 1991).

° “Solvency” in the insurance context means “minimum standard of financial health for an
insurance company, where assets exceed liabilities. State laws require insurance regulators to
step in when solvency of an msurer is threatened and proceed with rehabilitation or liguidation,"

Dictionary of Insurance Terms (4 edition).
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260, 555 A.2d 878, 881-82 (1989) (stating that Courts must honor statutory “words of
[imitation” that restrict the application of a statute).

The Application Process Does Not Adequately Protect CBC’s Confidential And
Sensitive Information

The Health RBC Act prohibits the publication or circulation by any person, including the
Depariment, of any statements or representations regarding RBC levels of an insurer.
40 P.S. §221.11-B(c)(1). In addition, hearings under the RBC Act are to be confidential
to ensure that the strict confidentiality provisions of §221.11-B are observed. 40 P.S.

§ 221.9-B.

[n order {o be responsive to the requests for information contained in the Notice, CBC
would have to include highly confidential and competitively sensitive information. CBC
has no issue with disclosing that information to the Department to the extent the
confidentiality of its competitively sensitive information can be guaranteed. However, to
the extent such information were to be made public, it would cause irreparable harm to
CBC’s competitive position. That is why the Commonwealth Court ordered such
information be kept confidential in its preliminary injunction decision on March 23, 2004
in CBC Blue Cross v. Koken, No. 172 MD 2004 (Pa. Commw. Ct.) (the “Preliminary
Injunction Opinion & Order”). The application process, however, does not adequately
protect CBC's confidential and competitively proprietary information since, but for the
Preliminary Injunction Opinion & Order, the Department could potentially overrule CBC's
assertion of confidentiality without any further notice to, or opportunity to be heard by,
CBC.

The Notice And January 5, 2004 Letter Constitute An Improperly Promulgated
Regulation

The Notice and Letter establish a binding norm and, therefore, constitute a new
regulation. Regulations must be promulgated in accordance with the requirements of
the Commonwealth Documents Law which requires notice and an opportunity to
comment. Administrative pronouncements that rise to the level of an improperly
propounded regulation may be declared unenforceable. Physicians Ins. Co. v. Callahan,
167 Pa. Commw. 485, 648 A.2d 608 (1994) (finding a MedCAT bulletin providing
procedures for primary carrier to follow if it thought that a claim might exceed policy
limits was an improperly promulgated regulation}; Giant Food Stores, Inc. v.
Commonwealth of Pa., Dep't. of Health, 713 A.2d 177, 180 (1998) (a handbook issued
by the Depariment of Health for determining whether grocery stores were in compliance
with a federally-mandated program invalidated as a disguised regulation); Orbera v.
Commonwealth Unemployment Comp. Bd. of Review, 91 Pa. Commw. 438, 442, 467
A.2d 693, 696 (1935) (an agency bulletin announcing when unemployment benefits
would be terminated was an invalid regulation); Elkin v. Commonwealth of Pa., Dep't. of
Pub. Welfare, 53 Pa. Commw. 554, 557-558, 419 A.2d 202, 204 (1980) (an agency
counsel’s legal opinion, which limited the payment of reimbursements for day care
services, was an invalid regulation). The Notice rises to the level of an improperly
promulgated regulation and is therefore unenforceable.

The Notice and Letter improperly institute an entirely new process through which the
Department purports to regulate and spend CBC's “excess” surplus. They improperly

9
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establish binding standards for “properly stated reserve levels” and “appropriate but not
excessive surplus levels® not heretofore employed by the Department. These standards
are different from the statutory actuarial certification standards used in the preparation
and filing of annual financial statements.

Pennsylvania law requires that an insurance company “adhere to the annual or quarterly
statement instructions and the accounting practices and procedures manuals prescribed
by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.” 40 P.S. § 443(a)(2). The
statute provides further that companies which, either intentionally or unintentionally, fail
to file an annual statement “in the form . . . provided™ are subject to fines and other
penalties, including the risk of being ordered to cease doing business, and that persons
who knowingly sign a “false” statement shall be guilty of perjury. 40 P.S.§ 443(e).

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ (*“NAIC") annual statement
instructions provide that annuai financial statements shall be supported by “the
staternent of a qualified health actuary setting forth his or her opinion relating to loss
reserves” in the following form:

In my opinion, the amounts carried in the balance sheet on
account of the items identified above: (A} Are in
accordance with accepted actuarial standards consistently
applied and are fairly stated in accordance with sound
actuaral principles, . . . {D) Make a good and sufficient
provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial liabilities
of the organization under the terms of its contracts and
agreements. . .

In contrast, the Letter directs CBC, at subsection (a), {o provide an independent actuarial
certification of a "point estimate” for reserves and provides further that “[t]he point
estimate shall be a 'best’ estimate. As such, the point estimate is to be neither
excessive nor deficient.” The Department further purports to require that, “[ilf the resuits
from (a) above require amendment of an annual statement blank filed by CBC or any of
its insurance subsidiaries on or around March 1, 2004, an amended annual statement
blank(s) shail be filed within 15 business days of submission of the information herein
requested.” Thus, the Department is attempting to impose a new and materially different
standard for actuarial certification of reserves (“best estimate” that is “neither excessive
nor deficient™) from that required by existing Pennsylvania [aw ("good or sufficient
provision for all unpaid claims” “in accordance with accepted actuarial standards”).
Therefore, the Notice and Letter in fact are new improperly promulgated regulations.

The Notice is also a regulation because it:

1. Establishes a maximum allowable range for surplus;

2, Requires CBC to state a target RBC ratio within that range;

3. Creates a non-statutory remedy; and

4. Compels the filing of a business plan to distribute any allegedly “excess”

surplus to benefit plan participants and the Commonwealth’s
underinsured and uninsured citizens.

10
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The Commissioner And Her Senior Staff Should Consider Recusing Themselves

The Commissioner and/or certain members of her senior staff should recuse themselves
if there is any commingling of enforcement and adjudicatory responsibilities. The
Commissioner and/or certain members of her senior staff should recuse themselves if
they have already determined that CBC has “excess” surplus, or how any allegedly
“excess” surplus should be distributed. Finally, the Commissioner and/or certain
members of her senior staff should recuse themselves if they have been influenced or
directed to promulgate the Notice or Letter or to reach a certain result in this matter.

11
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Tab (a)

The information in this Tab (&) responds to ltem (a) of the Notice:

“In the application, each Blues Plan must, in a manner the Department deems
necessary and proper:

{(a) state what reserve levels it [Capital BlueCross] and all if its insurance
subsidiaries are holding and what surplus levels it [Capital BlueCross] and all of
its insurance subsidiaries are currently maintaining;”

12
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Reserve and Surplus Levels

The Department has not specified a definition of “reserves” or “surplus” in the Notice
requesting CBC and the other Blue Plans in the Cornmonwealth of Pennsylvania to
submit this Application.

The terms “reserves” and “surpius” are not specified accounting terms and, as the
Insurance Commissioner noted in her testimony opening the Blue Cross/Blue Shield
Reserves and Surplus Public Hearing on September 4, 2002, these terms have been
erroneously used interchangeably from time to time. As explained by the Commissioner:

“Reserves,’ specifically [oss reserves, also referred to as ‘claims unpaid,’
represent a plan’s best estimate of what it needs to have to pay for claims.
'Surplus,” however, represents what a plan has in capital after all liabilities have
been deducted from assets.”

Accordingly, for purposes of this response, we understand the Department is requesting
a schedule of assets, liabilities, capital and surplus, including the specific items to be
addressed in the independent actuarial opinion and the report of independent public
accountants requested by the Department.

Attached as Exhibit (a)-1 are the opinions of John Stenson, a Principal with Deloitte
Consulting LLP, addressing the following balances contained in the December 31, 2003
Annual Statement for CBC, Capital Advantage Insurance Company (CAIC), and
Keystone Health Plan Central (KHPC): Claims Unpaid; Unpaid Claims Adjustment
Expenses and Aggregate Health Policy Reserves.® Attached as Exhibit (g)-2 are
“agreed uponh procedures” reports prepared by Emst & Young LLP addressing the
following items included in the December 31, 2003 Annual Statement of each such
entity: Accident and Health Premiums Due and Unpaid and Premiums Received in
Advance.”

The actuarial opinions and accountants’ reports do not differ from the financial
information included in our Annual Statements. Accordingly, as indicated in our prior
response to the Department'’s request for information, there is no need to file amended
Annual Statements.

As reflected in Exhibits (2)-1 and (a)-2, at December 31, 2003, CBC and its insurance
subsidiaries reported the following liabilities, capital and surplus (in thousands):

® Includes Unearned Premium Reserves.
7 Please note (hat none of the companies carry a balance for the following Annual Statement captions:
Accrued Medical Incentive Pool and Bonus Payments and Apgregate Claim Reserves.
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Consolldated

Total Admifted Assets $1,214,896
Lass:

Clatms Unpald 311,998

Unpaid Clalms Adjustment Expense 10,164

Aggragate Health Pollcy Reserves 41,980

Premlums Racalved in Advance 88,217

Other Llabllitles 247,050
Total Liabilitles 699,419
Total Capital and Surplus: 515477

While we believe a consolidated presentation presents the most accurate picture of the
company's financial position, as requested by the Department, attached as Exhibit (a)-3
is a chart setting forth the above information for CBC and each of its insurance
subsidiaries.

For the reasons noted in the Introduction to this Application and more particularly
discussed in our response to Item (b) below, CBC believes the use of RBC to determine
maximum surplus levels is inappropriate.

14
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Exhibit (a)-1

Actuarial Opinions of John Stenson of Deloitte Consuiting LLP®

% Note that no report for Avalon Health Ltd., an inactive HMO, is included since that entity does not carmy
any balances pertinent to the Department’s request.
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STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
CAPITAL BLUE CROSS

I, John Stenson, am associated with the firm of Deloitte Consulting LLP. I am a Fellow
of the Society of Actuaries, a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and I
meet the Academy’s Qualification Standards for rendering the following opinion. I have
been retained by Capital Blue Cross (“CBC™) to review its unpaid claims liabilities,
unpaid claims adjusiment expense habilities, and its aggregate health policy reserves as
of December 31, 2003.

I have examined the assumptions, methods and calculations used in determining the
liabilities listed below, as shown in the Anmnal Statement of CBC and as prepared for
filing with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as of December 31, 2003.

(1)  Claims Unpaid $ 73,597,432
(Page 3, Line 1)
(2)  Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses $ 2,206,041

(Page 3, Line 3)

(3)  Aggregate Health Policy Reserves $ 10,036,906
(Page 3, Line 4)

I have relied upon information supplied by responsible officers or employees of CBC, as
audited and reported upon by Ernst & Young, LLP, as to accuracy and completeness of
listings and summaries of polictes and contracts in force, and other information
underlying the loss reserves. In other respects, my examination included such review of
the actuarial assumptions and actuarial methods and such test of actuarial calculations as
I considered necessary in the circumstances. My examination considered the need for
cash flow testing, but none was performed because such tests were determined to be
unnecessary. The cash flows associated with CBC’s products and investments are
believed 1o be relatively insensitive to influences such as changes in economic
conditions,

In my opinion, the amounts carried on the balance sheet on account of the items
identified above:

s Are computed in accordance with presently accepted actuarial standards
consistently applied and are fairly stated in accordance with sound
actuanal principles, except that consideration of the adequacy of CBC’s
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reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which !
support them has not been performed,

e Are based on actuarial assumptions which are in accordance with or
stronger than those called for in related contract provistons and are
appropriate to the purpose for which the Annual Statement was prepared;

¢ Meet the requirements of the insurance laws and regulations of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania;

e Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other
actuarial liabilities of CBC under the terms of its contracts and
agreements, by which I mean that the estimated liabilities are an
appropriate measure of reasonably anticipated payments on incurred
claims under potentially moderately adverse development, although,
consistent with the scope of my review, the adequacy of CBC’s reserves
and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which support
them has not been considered;

e Are computed on the basis of actuarial assumptions and methods
consistent in all material respects with those used in computing the
corresponding items in the Annual Statement of the preceding year-end;
and

e Include provision, in the aggregate, for all actuarial reserves and related
statement items which ought to be established.

The actuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in forming my opinion conform
to the appropriate Standards of Practice as promuigated by the Actuarial Standards
Board, which standards form the basis of this statement of opinion. .
This statement has been prepared for filing with regulatory authorities of the
Commonweaith of Pennsylvania and for is intended for no other purpose.

April 15, 2004

W\WW

Jokn Stenson Deloitte Consulting LLP
ellow, Society of Actuaries 400 One Financial Plaza
Member, American Academy of Actuaries Minneapolis, Minnesota 55412

(612) 397- 4369
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STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
CAPITAL ADVANTAGE INSURANCE COMPANY

I, John Stenson, am associated with the firm of Deloitte Consulting LLP. 1am a Fellow
of the Society of Actuaries, a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and I
meet the Academy’s Qualification Standards for rendering the following opinion. I have
been retained by Capital Advantage Insurance Company (“CAIC”) to review its unpaid
claims liabilities, unpaid claims adjustment expense liabilities, and aggregate health
policy reserves as of December 31, 2003.

I have examined the assumptions, methods and calculations used in determining the
liabilities listed below, as shown in the Annual Statement of CAIC and as prepared for
filing with the Commonweaith of Pennsylvania as of December 31, 2003.

(1)  Claims Unpaid $ 188,453,689
(Page 3, Line 1)

(2)  Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses $ 6,216,742
(Page 3, Line 3)
(3)  Aggregate Health Policy Reserves - § 31,671,039

(Page 3, Line 4)

Y have relied upon information supplied by responsible officers or employees of CAIC as
audited and reported upon by Ernst & Young, LLP, as to accuracy and completeness of
listings and summaries of policies and contracts in force, and other information
undeslying the loss reserves. In other respects, my examination included such review of
the actuarial assumptions and actuarial methods and such test of actuarial calculations as
I considered necessary in the circumstances. My examination considered the need for
cash flow testing, but none was performed because such tests were determined to be
unnecessary. The cash flows associated with CAIC’s products and investments are
believed to be relatively insensitive to influences such as changes in economic
conditions.

In my opinion, the amounts carried on the balance sheet on account of the items
identified above:

e Are computed in accordance with presently accepted actuarial standards
consistently applied and are fairly stated in accordance with sound
actuarial principles, except that consideration of the adequacy of CAIC’s
reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which
support them has not been performed;
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» Are based on actuarial assumptions which are in accordance withor
stronger than those called for in related contract provisions and are
appropriate to the purpose for which the Annual Statement was prepared;

e Meet the requirements of the insurance laws and regulations of the !

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,

e Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other
actuarial liabilities of CAIC under the terms of its contracts and
agreements, by which I mean that the estimated liabilities are an
appropriate measure of reasonably anticipated payments on incurred
claims under potentially moderately adverse development, although,
consistent with the scope of my review, the adequacy of CAIC’s reserves
and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which support
them has not been considered;

e Are computed on the basis of actuarial assumptions and methods 1
consistent in all material respects with those used in computing the
corresponding items in the Annual Statement of the preceding year-end,
and

¢ Include provision, in the aggregate, for all actuarial reserves and related
statement 1tems which ought to be established.

The actuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in forming my opinion conform
to the appropriate Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial Standards
Board, which standards form the basis of this statement of opinion.

This statement has been prepared for filing with regulatory authorities of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is intended for no other purpose.

April 15, 2004

MW

. _J¥ohn Stenson Deloitte Consulting LLP
Fellow, Society of Actuaries 400 One Financial Plaza
Member, American Academy of Actuaries Minneapolis, Minnesota 55412

(612) 397- 4369
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STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.

I, John Stenson, am associated with the firm of Deloitte Consulting LLP. I am a Fellow
of the Society of Actuaries, a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and I
meet the Academy’s Qualification Standards for rendering the following opinion. I have
been retained by Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (“Keystone™) to review its unpaid
claims liabilities, unpaid claims adjustment expense liabilities, and its aggregate health
policy reserves as of December 31, 2003.

I have examined the assumptions, methods and calculations used in determining the
liabilities listed below, as shown in the Annual Statement of Keystone and as prepared
for filing with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as of December 31, 2003,

(1)  Claims Unpaid $ 49,946,687
(Page 3, Item 1)

(2)  Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses $ 1,741,038
(Page 3, Item 3)

(3)  Aggregate Health Policy Reserves $ 282,629
(Page 3, Item 4)

I have relied upon information supplied by responsible officers or employees of Keystone
as audited and reported upon by Emst & Young, LLP, as to accuracy and completeness

of listings and summaries of policies and contracts in force, and other information
underlying the loss reserves. In other respects, my examination included such review of
the actuarial assumptions and actuarial methods and such test of actuarial calculations as

I considered necessary in the circumstances. My examination considered the need for

cash flow testing, but none was performed because such tests were determined to be
unnecessary. The cash flows associated with Keystone’s products and investments are
believed to be relatively insemnsitive to influences such as changes in economic

conditions.

In my opinion, the amounts carried on the balance sheet on account of the items
identified above:

¢ Are computed in accordance with presently accepted actuanial standards
consistently applied and are fairly stated in accordance with sound
actuarial principles, except that consideration of the adequacy of
Keystone’s reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the
assets which support them has not been performed;
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¢ Are based on actvarial assumptions which are in accordance with or ]
stronger than those called for in related contract provisions and are
appropriate to the purpose for which the Annual Statement was prepared,

* Meet the requirements of the insurance laws and regulations of the i
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania;

e Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other
actuarial liabilities of Keystone under the terms of its contracts and
agreements, by which I mean that the estimated liabilities are an
appropriate measure of reasonably anticipated payments on incurred
claims under potentially moderately adverse development, although,
consistent with the scope of my review, the adequacy of Keystone’s
reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which
support them has not been considered;

o Are computed on the basis of actuarial assumptions and methods !
consistent in all material respects with those used in computing the
comresponding items in the Annual Statement of the preceding year-end;

o Include provision, in the aggregate, for all actuarial reserves and related
statement items which ocught to be established; and

o Appropnrately consider the impact of a reinsurance arrangement with
Highmark Life and Casualty Group. This reinsurance arrangement
transfers appropriate risk at a reasonable premium rate.

The actuarial methods, considerations and analyses used in forming my opinion conform
to the appropriate Standards of Practice as promulgated by the Actuarial Standards
Board, which standards form the basis of this statement of opinion. '
This statement has been prepared for filing with regulatory authorities of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is intended for no other purpose.

April 15, 2004

e

\ jc;hn Stenson Deloitte Consuiting LLP
Fellow, Society of Actuaries 400 One Financial Plaza
Member, American Academy of Actuanies Minneapolis, Minnesota 55412

(612) 397- 4369
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Exhibit (a)-2

“Agreed Upon Procedures” Reports of Ernst & Young LLP?

® Note that no report for Avalon Health Ltd., an inactive HMO, is included since that entity does not carry
any balances pertinent to the Department’s request.

22
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E_’I ERNST& YOUNG & Ernst & Youny LLP & Phone: (410) 539-7940

621 East Pratl Street WWW.BY_ COm
Ballimore, Maryland 21202

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON APPLYING
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

To the Board of Directors of
Capital BlueCross

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by management of
Capital BlueCross (the Company) and the Pennsylvania Insurance Department (PID), solely to
assist the Company in complying with certain aspects of the Health Plan Corporations Act, 40
P.S. 6101 et seq. requirements of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Insurance Law which
addresses the assessment of surplus levels maintained by the Company as of December 31, 2003,
as communicated to the Company in the January 5, 2004 letter received from the PID (the
Requirements). The Company’s management is responsible for compliance with the
Requirements. This agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with
attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of those parties specified in this
report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures
described below either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other

pUIpose.

The procedures that we performed for the Company are as follows:
A. Accident and Health Premiums Due and Unpaid
1. We obtained a summary from the Company of the components of the accounts receivable

balance that comprise the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line in the
Annual Statement. The summary is as follows:

Gross accounts receivable $2,811,097
Less: unapplied cash (146,551)
Less: non-admitted balances (919,300}
Plus/Less: any other miscellaneous debits or credits

(see step 3) 405,430
Net accounts receivable recorded in the Annual

Statement $2,150,676

2. We obtained a summary from the Company of the general ledger accounts that comprise
the pross accounts receivable balance. We noted that fourteen general ledger accounts
comprise the gross accounts receivable balance of $2,811,097.
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Board of Directors of
Capital BlueCross Page 2

3. For the gross accounts receivable accounts included in the accident and health premiums
due and unpaid line item that are supported by one or more detailed aging reports, we
compared the balance, per the general ledger, to the aging reports. We 1dentified a
reconciling item of $6,820,346 between one general ledger account and the related aging
reports. We verified through review of the Company’s reconciliation and discussion with
management that this item related to misapplication of cash receipts for two of the
Company’s subscriber groups between the detailed aging reports of the Company and
such aging reports of Capital Advantage Insurance Company, the Company’s subsidiary.
This reconciling item also exists with offsetting impact on Capital Advantage Insurance
Company'’s reconciliation at December 31, 2003.

4. We summarized the aging by category (e.g., 0-30 days/ 30-60 days/ 60-90 days/ 90+
days) for each of the aging reports obtained in step 3 and noted that the amounts agreed
to the aging reports per the reconciliation noted in step 3. We noted that the total amount
in the “90+" aging category per the summary was non-admitted by the Company.

5. For accounts receivable accounts included in the accident and health premiums due and
unpaid line item that are not supported by a detailed aging report, which totaled $405,430
as of December 31, 2003, we agreed the account balance per the general ledger to a
supporting schedule or reconciliation prepared by the Company. These amounts included
accounts used to record premium overpayments and underpayments under the
Company’s CMBS premium billing system and an account nsed to record claims paid by
the Company to be billed to the federal government for the Federal Employees Program.
Based on the information reviewed, we verified that none of the accounts receivable
amounts were 90 or more days past due.

6. We obtained a detailed listing from the Company of all credit balances for the Company
and Capital Advantage Insurance Company recorded in each accounts receivable
account. The total of all such credit balances for the Company and Capital Advantage
Insurance Company was $34,574 as of December 31, 2003.

7. We obtained a listing from the Company of all unapplied cash account balances included
in the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line. We verified that the listing
consisted of one account with a balance of $146,551 as of December 31, 2003 that is used
to record unapplied cash from the Company’s CMBS premium billing system.

8. We agreed the unapplied cash account balance noted in step 7 to a detailed unapplied

cash listing that supported the balance recorded in the general ledger. We did not identify
any reconciling items between the detailed listing and the general ledger balance.
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Board of Directors of
Capital BlueCross Page 3

9, We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that the Company did not have any debit balances recorded in its
unapplied cash account identified in step 7.

10. We obtained a listing from the Company of all non-admitted accounts receivable
balances included in the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line. These
balances consisted of all accounts that the Company believes are not collectible. We
agreed the non-admitted accounts receivable balances >90 days to the over 90 day
amounts on the aging reports obtained in step 3 without exception. We verified through
review of the listing referenced above and discussions with management that the
Company has further non-admitted receivable balances <90 days that it believes are not
collectible based on the subscriber group’s past history and other factors. Such additional
non-admitted amounts were $729,616 as of December 31, 2003. We also agreed these
balances to aging reports obtained in step 3 without exception.

11. We selected, on a haphazard basis, a sample of 20 individual accounts receivable
balances from each system that generates an aging report. We agreed these balances to
supporting documentation and agreed the invoice date to a supporting invoice. We noted
no exceptions as a result of these procedures. We also performed a recalculation of the
aging of each of the individual accounts receivable balances based on the invoice date
and noted no exceptions.

12.-15. As noted in step 10, the Company non-admits all accounts receivable balances that it
believes are not collectible. Therefore, the Company does not record a bad debt reserve
for statutory accounting purposes.

B. Accident and Health Premiums Received in Advance

1. We obtained a summary from the Company of the components that comprise the accident
and health premiums received in advance line in the Annual Statement. The balance is
comprised of one component with a balance of $25,533,021 as of December 31, 2003
that relates to two groups that had prepaid their premiums.

2. We obtained a summary from the Company of the general ledger accounts that are
included in the accident and health premiums received in advance line in the Annual
Statement. This included two accounts totaling $25,533,021 as of December 31, 2003.

3. We agreed the individual account balances to detailed schedules that support the balance

recorded in the general ledger without exception and poted no reconciling items between
the detailed schedules and the general ledger.
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Board of Directors of
Capital BlueCross Page 4

4. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that there are no accounts receivable that relate to premiums received
in advance.

5. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that the Company did not have any debit balances recorded in the
premiums received in advance line.

6. For both of the specific customers identified in step B.1. above who had prepaid their
premiums, we recalculated the premiums received in advance as of December 31, 2003 to
ensure that the amounts related to service after December 31, 2003 were based on the
remittance advices. We noted no exceptions.

We were not engaged to, and did not, conduct an examination, the objective of which would be
the expression of an opinion on compliance with the Requirements. Accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have
come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the PID and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Gt ¥ MLLP |

April 7, 2004
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i” ERNST& YOUNG & Ernst & Young LLP & Phone: {410} 539-7940

621 East Pralt Streat WWW.EY.Com
Baltimore. Maryland 21202

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON APPLYING
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

To the Board of Directors of
Capital Advantage Insurance Company

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by management of
Capital Advantage Insurance Company (the Company) and the Pennsylvania Insurance
Department (PID), solely to assist the Company in complying with certain aspects of the Health
Plan Corporations Act, 40 P.S. 6101 ef seq. requirements of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Insurance Law, which addresses the assessment of surplus levels maintained by Capital
BlueCross (CBC), the Company’s parent, as of December 31, 2003, as communicated to CBC in
the January 5, 2004 letter received from the PID (the Requirements). The Company’s
management is responsible for compliance with the Requirements. This agreed-upon procedures
engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the
responsibility of those parties specified in this report. Consequently, we make no representation
regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for which this
report has been requested or for any other purpose.

The procedures that we performed are as follows:
A. Accident and Health Premiums Due and Unpaid
1. We obtained a summary from the Company of the components of the accounts receivable

balance that comprise the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line in the
Annual Statement. The summary is as follows:

Gross accounts receivable $£8,695,321

Less: unapplied cash (34,327)
Less: non-admitted balances (469,150)
Plus/Less: any other miscellangous debits or credits

(see step 5) (734,234)
Net accounts receivable recorded in the Annual Statement $7,457,610

2. We obtained a summary from the Company of the general ledger accounts that comprise
the gross accounts receivable balance. We noted that eighteen general ledger accounts
comprise the gross accounts receivable balance of $8,695,321.
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Board of Directors
Capital Advantage Insurance Company Page 2

3. For the gross accounts receivable accounts included in the accident and health premiums
due and unpaid line item that are supported by one or more detailed aging reports, we
compared the balance, per the general ledger, to the aging reports. We identified a
reconciling item of $6,820,346 between one general ledger account and the related aging
reports. We verified through a review of the Company’s reconciliation and discussion
with management that this item related to misapplication of cash receipts for two of the
Company’s subscriber groups between the detailed aging reports of the Company and
CBC. This reconciling item also exists with offsetting impact on CBC’s reconciliation at
December 31, 2003.

4. We summarized the aging by category (e.g., 0-30 days/ 30-60 days/ 60-90 days/ 50+
days) for each of the aging reports obtained in step 3 and verified that the amounts agreed
to the aging per the reconciliation noted in step 3. We noted that the total amount in the
“90+ aging category per the summary was non-admitted by the Company.

5. For accounts receivable accounts included in the accident and health premiums due and
unpaid line itern that are not supported by a detailed aging report, which totaled $734,234
as of December 31, 2003, we agreed the account balance, per the general ledger, to a
supporting schedule or reconciliation prepared by the Company. From our review of the
documentation and discussions with management, we determined that these amounts
included accounts used to record certain adjustments due to and from providers.

6. We obtained a detailed listing from the Company of all credit balances recorded for the
Company and CBC in each accounts receivable account. The total of all such credit
balances for the Company and CBC was $34,574 as of December 31, 2003.

7. We obtained a listing from the Company of all unapplied cash account balances included
in the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line. We verified that the listing
consisted of one account with a balance of $34,327 as of December 31, 2003 that is used
to record unapplied cash from the Company’s CMBS premium billing system.

8. We agreed the unapplied cash account balance noted in step 7 to a detailed listing that
supported the balance recorded in the general ledger. We did not identify any reconciling
items between the detailed listing and the general ledger balance.

9. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation ang discussions

with management that the Company did not have any debit balances recorded in its
unapplied cash account identified in step 7.
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10. We obtained a listing from the Company of all non-admitted accounts receivable
balances included in the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line. These
balances consisted of all accounts that the Company believes are not collectible. We
agreed the non-admitted accounts receivable balances > 90 days to the over 90 day
amounts on the aging reports obtained in step 3 without exception. We verified through
review of the listing referenced above and discussions with management that the
Company has further non-admitted receivable balances < 90 days that it believes are not
collectible based on the subscriber group’s past history and other factors. Such additional
non-admitted amounts were $341,904 as of December 31, 2003. We also agreed these
balances to aging reports obtained in step 3 without exception.

11. We selected, on a haphazard basis, a sample of 20 individual accounts receivable
balances from each system that generates an aging report. We agreed these balances to
supporting documentation and agreed the invoice date to a supporting invoice. We noted
no exceptions as a result of these procedures. We also performed a recalculation of the
aging of each of the individual accounts receivable balances based on the invoice date
and noted no exceptions.

12.-15. As noted in step 10, the Company non-admits all accounts receivable balances that it
believes are not-collectible. Therefore, the Company does not record a bad debt reserve
for statutory accounting purposes.

B. Accident and Health Premiums Received in Advance

1. We obtained a summary from the Company of the components that comprise the accident
and health premiums received in advance line in the Annual Statement. The balance is
comprised of two components with a total balance of $21,582,018 as of December 31,
2003. The components included customer prepayments of $21,376,464 and unapplied
cash related to the FACETS billing system of $205,554.

2. We obtained a summary from the Company of the general ledger accounts that are
included in the accident and health premiums received in advance line in the Annual
Statement. This included two accounts totaling $21,582,018 as of December 31, 2003.

3. We agreed the individual account balances to detailed schedules that support the balance
recorded in the general ledger without exception and noted no reconciling items between
the detailed schedules and the general ledger.

4. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions

with management that accounts receivable of $205,554 relates to premiums received in
advance for which there is unapplied cash, as noted in step B.1. above. The remainder of
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the premiums received in advance relate to various subscriber groups that had prepaid
their premiums.

5. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that the Company did not have any debit balances recorded m the
accident and health premiums received in advance line.

6. For 20 individual subscriber groups selected haphazardly, we recalculated the premiums
received in advance as of December 31, 2003 and verified, based on the remittance
advices, that the amounts related to service provided after December 31, 2003. We noted
no exceptions.

We were not engaged to, and did not, conduct an examination, the objective of which would be
the expression of an opinion on compliance with the Requirements. Accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have
come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the PID and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

ézvmt + MLLP

April 7, 2004
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i” ERNST& YOUNG & Ernst & Young LLP & Phone: {215} 448-5000

Two Commerce Square Fax: {215) 448-4068
Suite 4000 www,ey.com

2001 Market Slreel

Philadelphia

Pennsylvania 19103-7096

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON APPLYING
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

To the Board of Directors of
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by management of
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (the Company) and the Pennsylvania Insurance Department
(PID), solely to assist the Company in complying with certain aspects of the Health Plan
Corporations Act, 40 P.S. 6101 ef seq. requirements of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Insurance Law, which addresses the assessment of surplus levels maintained by Capital
BlueCross, the Company’s parent, as of December 31, 2003, as communicated to CBC in the
January 5, 2004 letter received from the PID (the Requirements). The Company’s management
is responsible for compliance with those requirements. This agreed-upon procedures
engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the
responsibility of those parties specified in this report. Consequently, we make no representation
regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpese for which this
report has been requested or for any other purpose.

The procedures that we performed are as follows:
A. Accident and Health Premiums Due and Unpaid
1. We obtained a summary from the Company of the components of the accounts receivable

balance that comprise the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line in the
Annual Statement. The summary is as follows:

Gross accounts receivable $26,476,632
Less: non-admitted balances > 90 days (18,376)
Less: other allowances for doubtful accounts in addition to

90 days non-admitted balances (628,224)
Net accounts receivable recorded in the Annnal Statement $25,830,032

2. We obtained a summary from the Company of the general ledger accounts that comprise
the gross accounts receivable balance. We noted three general ledger accounts that
comprise the gross accounts receivable balance of $26,476,632.
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3. For the gross accounts receivable accounts included in the accident and health premiums
due and unpaid line item that are supported by one or more detailed aging reports, we
compared the balance, per the general ledger, to the aging report. We identified a
reconciling item of $29,363,412 between one general ledger account and the related
aging reports. We verified through review of the Company’s reconciliation and
discussion with management that this item was for February 2004 premiums for
subscriber groups that were billed in December 2003 and had a due date in January 2004.

4. We summarized the aging by category (e.g., 0-30 days/ 30-60 days/ 60-90 days/ 90+
days) for each of the aging reports obtained in step 3 and noted that the amounts agreed
to the aging reports per the reconciliation noted in step 3 to the general ledger accounts.

5. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that all balances included in the accident and health premiums due and
unpaid line were supported by aging reports.

6. We obtained a detailed listing from the Company of all credit balances recorded in each
accounts receivable account. The total of all such credit balances was $15,090 as of
December 31, 2003.

7.-9. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and
discussions with management that the Company did not have any unapplied cash account
balances included in the accident and health premiums due and unpaid line.

10. We obtained a listing from the Company of all non-admitted accounts receivable
balances included in the accident and health premium due and unpaid line. We compared
the non-admitted accounts receivable balances to the over 90 day amounts on the aging
reports obtained in step 3 and verified that $630,510 of the over 90 day amounts per the
aging related to receivables from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for the adult Basic
CHIP program that are admissible in accordance with Statement of Statutory Accounting
Principles No. 84, Certain Health Care Receivables and Receivables under Government
Insured Plans. No exceptions were noted.

11. We selected, on a haphazard basis, a sample of 20 individual accounts receivable
balances from each sysiem that generates an aging report. We agreed these balances to
supporting documentation and agreed the invoice date to a supporting invoice. We noted
no exceptions as a result of these procedures. We also performed a recalculation of the
aging of the individual receivable balances based on their invoice dates and noted no
exceptions.
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12.

13.

14.

I5.

The Company has five general ledger accounts which total the bad debt reserve balance
of $628,224 as of December 31, 2003. We verified through review of the Company’s
supporting documentation and discussions with management that the bad debt reserve
balance included a provision for specific accounts receivable less than 90 days old that
the Company believes may be uncollectible. The bad debt reserve included an amount of
$283,194 of specific receivables from the Commonwealth for the adult Basic CHIP
program, and is necessary mostly due to membership retroactivity changes.

Through discussions with management, we verified that the Company calculated the
portion of its bad debt reserve ($345,030) not related to specific receivables based upon a
review of its prior years’ write-off history and the current aging of its accounts
receivable. The following is a schedule of this portion of bad debt reserve as a
percentage of each aging category, excluding the receivables of $630,510 from the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania that related to adult Basic CHIP as noted in step 10, as
of December 31, 2003:

Description 0-60 Days 61-90 Days Total
Bad debt reserve as % of the
aging category 1.78% 100% 2.1%
Bad debt reserve allocated to
the aging category $ 292,285 $52,745 | § 345,030
Accounts receivable aging
balance $16,474,769 $52,745 $16,527,514

We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that all of the Company’s accounts receivable reported in accident and
health premiums due and unpaid are supported by aging reports.

We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that the Company’s write-offs of accounts receivable for the year
ended December 31, 2003 totaled $303,093 which was 1.1% of gross accounts
receivable.
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B. Accident and Health Premiums Received in Advance

1. We obtained a summary from the Company of the components that comprise the accident
and health premiums received in advance line in the Annual Statement. The balance 1s
comprised of unearned premiums of $42,102,040 as of December 31, 2003.

2. We obtained a summary from the Company of the general ledger accounts that are
included in the accident and health premiums received in advance line in the Annual
Statement. This included ten accounts totaling $42,102,040 as of December 31, 2003.

3. We compared the individual account balances to detailed Company prepared schedules
that support the balance recorded on the general ledger without exception and noted no
reconciling items between the detailed schedules and the general ledger.

4. We verified through review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions
with management that the Company had accounts receivable totaling $17,461,640 as of
December 31, 2003 related to unearned premiums.

5. Based on our review of the Company’s supporting documentation and discussions with
management, the Company did not have any debit balances recorded in the premiums
recetved in advance line.

6. We selected, on a haphazard basis, a sample of 20 items from the system that generates a
detailed listing of premiums received in advance and we verified, based on remittance
advices, that the service period on the invoice was subsequent to December 31, 2003. We
noted no exceptions as a result of these procedures.

We were not engaged to, and did not, conduct an examination, the objective of which would be
the expression of an opinion on compliance with the Requirements. Accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have
come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the PID and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

St ¥ MLLP

April 7, 2004
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Exhibit (a)-3

At December 31, 2003 CBC and its insurance subsidiaries (that is, Capital Advantage Insurance Company ("CAIC"),
Keystone Health Plan Central ("KHPC"}, and Avalon Health, Ltd. ("Avalon™)), reported the following admitted assets,
liabilities, and capital and surplus (in thousands):

CBC CAIC KHPC | Avalon Eliminations  Consoclidated

Total Admitted Assets $ 890,661 $ 494247 $ 199,072 § 7.760 $ (376,844) 5 1,214,896
Claims Unpaid $ 73597 $ 188454 § 49,947 $ 311,998
Unpaid Claims Adj. Exp. 2,206 6,217 1,741 10,164
Aggregate Health Policy

Res. 10,037 31,671 282 41,880
Premiums Received in Adv. 24,533 21,682 42,102 88,217
Other Liabilities 264,811 49,587 34,164 2,234 (103.,746) 247,050
Total Liabilities 375,184 297,511 128,236 2,234 (103,746) 699,419

Total Capital and Sumplus $ 515477 § 196736 % 70,836 % 5526 § {273,098) $ 515477
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Tab (b)

The information in this Tab (b} responds to item (b} of the Notice:

“(b) state the maximum RBC ratio within the 350% to 650% range that is appropriate,
and explain the rationale for that maximum ratio.”
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Current RBC Levels

The RBC levels for CBC and each of its insurance subsidiaries at December 31, 2003
are set forth in Exhibit {b)-1 of our response to liem (b).

Based upon the terms of the Notice as modified by the Department and as documented
in the recent opinion of Judge Pellegrini, CBC is not obligated to provide the Department
with a maximum RBC ratio within the range suggested by the Department or to provide a
rationale for the use of that maximum ratio.

For the reasons indicated in the Introduction and set forth below, CBC believes the use
of RBC is an inappropriate measure to determine whether surplus is excessive. As the
Depariment itself conceded in the course of testimony at the hearing before Judge
Pellegrini, the Notice was never intended to preclude other methods of determining an
appropriate surplus. Therefore, in accordance with the Department's revised
instructions and Judge Pellegini’s opinion and order, CBC is providing an alternative
approach for determining reserves and surplus without specifying any particular RBC
level.

An_Alternative Approach

CBC's current levels of reserves and surplus are not excessive by any measure in light
of the dynamic marketplace in which CBC now competes and its plans to draw upon the
company's capital for a number of critical strategic purposes over the next few years.
CBC's Board of Directors strongly believes that it cannot continue to be an effective
steward of the company’s business, nor can the company continue to serve its
customers, members and participating providers without access to funds that the
company has built-up over time.

It is the unique role of a company's Board of Directors to determine targeted or
appropriate surplus levels and to direct the strategic use of those funds. This is
particularly important in the case of Blue plans like CBC. Among other things, CBC’s
reserves and surplus are the sole source of satisfying member and provider claims; they
serve as the ultimate “backstop” to protect against unforeseen contingencies; and if
surplus is depleted, the ability of a Blue plan such as CBC to rebuild surplus levels by
raising funds in the capital markets is quite limited.

Set forth below is a discussion explaining in more detail (i) why CBC requires its current
reserves and surplus; (i) why RBC is not an appropriate measure of excess surplus; and
(iii) what measures are more appropriate for evaluating surplus levels for a company like
CBC.
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Why CBC Requires its Current Reserves and Surplus

As a threshold matter, it is important to consider the various reasons why a company like
CBC needs reserves and surplus:

CBC requires reserves and surplus in order to ensure that claims of
members are timely paid; that participating providers are promptly
reimbursed for health care services, and that the company’s various
vendors are paid in accordance with the terms of the company's
contractual obligations to them.

CBC and the other Blue plans are not permitied to participate in the
Pennsylvania Guarantee Fund. Consequently, the sole source of
payment for member and provider claims is CBC's reserves and surplus.
It is also the sole source of payment for our vendors .

CBC's reserves and surplus also serve as a “backstop” for unforeseen
contingencies such as large, unanticipated increases in utilization of
health services arising out of epidemics {(such as the outbreak of the
SARS in Asia and in Canada), the AIDS crisis, and other catastrophes
such as terrorist attacks. Further, unforeseen government mandates,
such as proposed legislation mandating certain rating methodologies for
small groups, negatively impact surplus.

CBC requires reserves and surplus to absorb operating losses caused by
competition in Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley. CBC was
one of only two members of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield system that
suffered a net loss in calendar 2003, in large part resulting from its
transition to a full service health insurance carrier and its participation in a
competitive market.

Unlike for-profit commercial insurers, which have ready access to lower
cost capital through the sale of equity securities, CBC must look solely to
its surplus in order to fund the growth and development of new
infrasfructure (such as investment in new claims processing, data and
telephonic systems and in operating facilities) or rely on high cost debt.

Surplus is the principal source of funding for development of new
products and services for CBC's members. Such products and services
include, but are not limited to, consumer-driven and e-commerce products
and many other new products and services stemming from the recently
passed Medicare Modemization Act covering Health Savings Accounts
{(HSAs), prescription drug benefits and Medicare itself. While itis true
that other sources of funds, such as debt, are available, these would add
higher costs that would have to be borne and repaid by policyholders.
Since CBC and other non-profit plans can only look intermally to meet
their capital needs, CBC is at a competitive disadvantage with for-profit
insurers.
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Historically, CBC has not generated an underwriting gain. As indicated in our March 22,
2004 filing with the Department, CBC and its insurance subsidiary CAIC have not
generated a profit on any underwritten business (i.e., non-group, community rated and
experience rated) for over seven years. Recently, there has been an unprecedented
escalation of health care costs nationwide and in Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh
Valley; and competition among payors has intensified. Particularly under these
circumstances, CBC felt it was necessary to draw upon its investment income and
surplus in an attempt to hold down the level of heath care premiums for its subscribers.

(ii) Why RBC is Not an Appropriate Measure of Excess Surplus

Attached as Exhibit (b)-2 is a copy of a Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association
(“BCBSA") position paper and an amicus brief filed by the BCBSA in the recent
proceeding in Commonwealth Court before Judge Pellegrini. Exhibit (b)-2 discusses the
history of RBC in some detail, focusing on both appropriate and inappropriate uses of
RBC levels.

As noted in the aitached BCBSA materials, the RBC formula was developed by a
Committee of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) that in turn
commissioned an Advisory Committee of insurance industry experts to prepare a
recommendation. The RBC formula was then developed to represent a minimum
acceptable level of capital — not a maximum level. The Advisory Committee was
concerned about the potential that some parties might fail to appreciate the implications
of its conclusion and might attempt to invoke the NAIC RBC formula for non-diagnostic
purposes. In fact, the Advisory Commitiee cautioned:

“We believe that every effort must be made, by industry and the NAIC, to prevent
abuse and misrepresentation of company RBC ratios. In particular, we

encourage the NAIC to publicly state that the formula was designed solelyasa |
filter to distinguish between weakly and strongly capitalized companies, and was
not designed for, is not validated for, and should not be used for ranking or rating
companies.”'® '

In debating and ultimately accepting the Advisory Committee’s recommendation, and in
developing a Model Act encompassing the use of these RBC formulas, the NAIC made
repeated statements affirming the positions stated above:

“The Working Group] discussed problems associated with using RBC results for
other purposes... Tying other regulatory provisions to surplus amounts above the
RBC thresholds is problematic in that the formula was not developed to
measure financial strength or capital adequacy beyond a minimum
regulatory requirement (emphasis added).”"

The NAIC adopted the Advisory Committee’s recommendation in developing a model act
encompassing the use of the RBC formula:

19 Report of the Advisory Committee to the NAIC Working Group, November 7, 1991. Reproduced in
Bernard L. Webb and Claude C. Lilly III, Raising The Safety Net: Risk-Based Capital for Life Insurance
Companies, NAIC, 1994 (hereafter, “Webb & Lilly”), page 115.

'' NAIC Proceedings 1993 3™ Quarter, page 228.
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“Section 8 [of the draft NAIC RBC Model Act] has been amended to include a
prohibition on the use of the RBC Instructions, RBC Reports, Adjusted RBC
Reports, RBC Plans and Revised RBC Plans as evidence in rate proceedings or
to calculate or derive any element of an appropriate premium leve! or rate of
retumn. As noted in earlier reports, the [Model Law Resource Group] believes
that unless such a provision is include[d], commissioners in some states
adopting the model will make the ‘floor’ capital established by the model
into a ‘ceiling’ for rate making and rate [of] return purposes.” [Emphasis
supplied.]*?

The Department appears to be following the very path that prompted the
articulation of these concerns by the NAIC.

Further, at the time of the implementation of its RBC formula, the NAIC commissioned a
book, in order to articulate and to document the principles underiying the NAIC's
approach to developing risk-based capital standards. In that book the NAIC emphasized
that its RBC formula was not intended to measure a company’s target level of capital, or
to suggest that levels of capital above the regulatory minimums were unwarranted:

*Just as the current state-by-state fixed minimum capital and surplus levels are
by no means a "target” level of capitalization, neither is the RBC generated by
the NAIC formula...Companies are still free to make their own capitalization
decisions above the regulatory minimum RBC thresholds... The NAIC
formula...allows companies to operate freely at any given level above the
minimum threshold. Companies that fall beneath those thresholds are subject
to regulatory action; companies above the threshold are not... [A] company's
optimal or target level of capitalization may be well above the minimum threshold
set by the NAIC formula...” [Emphasis supplied.]

A contemporaneous article in an NAIC published joumnal, co-authored by the NAIC's
then-director of research, reinforces the fact that the NAIC's RBC formula is wholly
unrelated to appropriate target levels of capital for an insurance company: ’

“These new risk-based capital standards do not set a target capital level or even
an optimal capital level... Companies are free to hold capital above and beyond
the minimum level established by the RBC formula, and virtually all companies
do, but the exact level of capital is an internal business decision outside the
scope of regulatory monitoring. That optimum capital level chosen by the
company can be well outside the company action level RBC determined by the
NAIC formula...[l]t is important to appreciate that the RBC formula should not
bind an adequately capitalized fim.”'* [Emphasis supplied.]

Since the RBC formula was developed specifically for determining @ minimum
acceptable level of surplus (and not a maximumy, its use for other purposes presents a
number of inherent difficulties:

"2 NAIC Proceedings 1993 3™ Quarter, page 290.

13 Webb and Lilly, page 13.

14 Robert W. Klein and Michael M. Barth, “Solvency Monitoring in the Twenty-First Century,” NAIC
Journal of Insurance Regulation, Vol. 13., No. 3, 1995, page 274.
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o RBC levels are not designed to differentiate among adequately
capitalized companies.

¢ ltis not possible to conclude, based solely on RBC calculations, that a
company with a higher RBC level {such as 500%) is necessarily
financially stronger than a company with a lower RBC level (such as
400%). RBC measures solvency (not financial strength).

e RBC levels do not take company size into account. So, although one
company may have a higher RBC level (over 650%), this does not
necessarily mean that it has greater "excess” capital than a bigger
company with an RBC level lower than 650%. This is because the
bigger company is better able to cope with unforeseen contingencies —
simply said, bigger companies can absorb bigger unforeseen losses.

(a) A Departure from Historical Practice

Historically, the Department has rightly been concerned with minimum levels of
reserves and surplus. As such, the Department’s request for an application to approve
maximum surplus levels is novel -- this is the first such request in the history of the
Department's regulation of Blue plans and other insurers — and reflects a dramatic
departure from historical practice.

The Department has only recently also changed its views on the adequacy of CBC’s
capital and surplus. [n the fall of 2001, when CBC was forced to evolve from a hospital
plan corporation into a full service health plan (that is, a health plan that could offer both
hospital benefits as well as benefits for professional provider services), the Department
sought and obtained a confidential business plan from CBC. That confidential business
plan contained five year projections which among other things reflected RBC levels
higher than those in effect today. The Departrment was not concerned at that time
whether surplus levels were too high — rather the concern repeatedly expressed by the
senior members of the Department was whether projected surplus levels would be
sufficient for CBC to compete against its former business partner and others in Central
Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley. Indeed, CBC relied upon that business plan (as
well as the Department’s understanding of our future business needs) in moving forward,
and as a result, the company subsequently made a number of substantial investments
(such as the purchase of a new claims processing system and other infrastructure
improvements, the acquisition of Keystone Health Plan Central as well as the purchase
of an office building intended to lower long-term leasing cosis) — all premised upon the
continued availability of significant surplus to enable us to meet the demands of a
fiercely competitive marketplace.

(b) RBC Levels are Static, Not Dynamic

Most importantly, RBC levels are not dynamic -- they only provide a “snapshof”
calculated at year end — a static test that can rapidly become outdated in a fast-
changing environment. RBC levels certainly do not take into account future events and
economic forces affecting the company’s operations. As a result, we do not believe a
static calculation of CBC's RBC level is adequate to reflect CBC's plans with respect to
capital investments, or targeted marketing decisions, or substantially increased
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competition for customers in CBC’s market, or provider expectations as to increased
reimbursement, or new product development needs or industry claim cycles.

To illustrate this point, CBC has attached as Exhibit (b)-3 a confidential comparison of
those underwriting gains and losses projected in a confidential business plan for CBC
and CAIC filed with the Department in the fall of 2001'® with the actual underwriting
gains and losses during calendar years 2002 and 2003. We believe it is important to
point out that while our initial estimates regarding enrollment, product pricing, and
allocation of business between our two insurance entities were, not surprisingly, different
than those projected in 2001, our cumulative underwriting resuit was within 2.4% of our
projections. This also demonstrates that we fulfilled our pledge, made to the public and
to the Department, that we would not ask our members to fund our transition costs fo a
full service health plan.

We note that in large part due to CBC'’s launch of its new business initiatives and its
transition to a full-service health insurance carrier, thereby further contributing to the
competitive environment, CBC was only one of two plans in the Blue Cross Blue Shield
System that suffered a net loss in fiscal 2003.

In other words, RBC can only measure results after the fact — it looks backwards and is
not a suitable or accurate tool for planning or projecting reserve and surplus levels going
forward.

{c) Statutory Standards in Other States

In some states, the legislatures have adopted statutes setting forth the procedures
and standards for the Department’s review of the appropriate levels of reserves
and surplus. No other state has adopted the novel procedure followed by the
Depariment, which seeks fo impose standards without benefit of the authority conferred
by a statute or any formally adopted regulation.

As an example, the state of Minnesota employs a benchmark of 33 1/3% of incurred
claims plus administrative expenses.’® The state of North Carolina employs a
benchmark of average month claims plus administrative expenses plus selling expenses
times six."”” The state of Michigan, pursuant to specific statutory authority, does in fact
use an RBC standard, but establishes an RBC level of 200% times 5 {or 1000%).”® If
any of these tests in any of these states were to be applied to CBC, CBC's existing
surplus would fall within the permissible statutorily established range. So, using the
statutory standards adopted by these stafes, CBC's surplus levels are not excessive.

5 The confidential business plan has been included as Exhibit {d)-2 to this Application.
16 Minn. Stat. §62C.09(4).

'N.C. Gen. Stat. §58-65-95(d).

' Mich. Comp. Laws §550.1204a(5).
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Moreover, a noted rating agency, A.M. Best, believes: *...all minimum state regulatory
requirements for capital and surplus are too low.”*®

(d) The Need for Quantitative and Qualitative Measures

Only a mix of quantitative and qualitative measures must be considered in connection
with any legitimate atternpt to determine what constitutes a strong and sufficient
surplus.”® For example, in its methodology for rating health insurance companies (see
Exhibit {b}-4), A.M. Best emphasizes that a mix of quantitative and qualitative measures
is required to analyze capital adequacy:

“While A.M. Best's analysis of capital adequacy begins with a BCAR assessment
at each operating insurer, several other quantitative factors play significant roles
in the rating, including:

MCORBC when available.
Underwriting leverage (net premiums written to capital and surplus).
Equity per member per month (capital and surplus to member
months). This measures the amount of capital and surplus spread
over the membership base.

e Asset leverage (total liabilities to total assets).
Premium leverage (level of premiums to capital and surplus).

e Months reserves (capital and surplus to monthly average expenses).

Quantitative models for capital measurement, however, are essentially static.
They indicate capital adequacy at a fixed point in time, given the business risk
typical for the lines of business offered that year. For this reason, A.M. Best
makes a qualitative assessment of the risks related to local market and
regulatory conditions, risks unique to the company, or future risks that could
develop as various conditions change.”™

(iii)  Alfernative Measurements: The Need for a Dynamic Approach .

Given all the issues we have cited with static approaches to surplus evaluation, we
recommend that for purposes of evaluating surplus, the Department adopt a muiti-
variable dynamic approach to surplus evaluation. Such a multi-variable dynamic mode!
may incorporate several static measures, as well as projections that take into account
the long-term future environment within which our company will operate. Central
Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley are highly competitive marketplaces. Our
customers and providers have strong expectations and we will need to be operationally
efficient and financially strong to meet those expectations.

An appropriate multi-variable dynamic approach must include both quantitative and
qualitative elements requiring both objective and subjective evaluations. Current and
expected future conditions must be evaluated in order to determine an appropriate level
of surplus. The approach applied to CBC must be especially prudent and conservative

1% A.M. Best Co. Methodology, October 27, 2003, “Rating Health Insurance Companies,” © 2003 by A.M.
Best Company, Inc. (hereafter “A M. Best Methodology™). See Exhibit (b)-4, page 1.
22 See Report of Douglas B. Sherlock, CFA of Sherlock Company at Exhibit (d)-1.

%! See Exhibit (b)-4, pages 1 and 2.
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since CBC must be prepared fo meet minimum financial requirements under the most
negative scenarios because:

¢ Competitive losses could be incurred.

e CBC is not a publicly traded company.

e All of our capital has to be internally generated.

e CBC s not permitted to participate in the Pennsylvania Guarantee Fund.

+ Because of the highly competitive and negative regulatory environment which
exists in Pennsyivania, credit analysts would consider CBC a high risk debtor
and not offer us timely, liquid, or affordable relief in the event of severe
financial need.

+ Our customers demand that their partners be financially strong and stable.
This is certainly the case with employer groups that provide benefits to their
employees. We have always been and we will always want to be in the
position of meeting our customers’ expectations.

A multi-variable, dynamic approach to surplus evaluation necessarily precludes the use
of any one formula. Rather, it requires a case-by-case analysis of both qualitative and
quantitative factors coupled with scenario testing to assess the sensitivity and
rabustness of capital such as forecasting risks and assessing the amount of capital
needed to survive 99% of economic scenarios considered possible to occur over the
course of the next five years. The establishment of any formal regulatory standards
requires detailed completion of such an analysis.

s To use a single “bright line” quantitative measure such as RBC to determine
appropriate surplus in today's dramatically changing health care environment
would be as foolish as trying to fly an airplane looking only at its altimeter without
regard to weather conditions, wind speed, wind direction, terrain, location or
other air traffic in the area. In short, the probability of a disaster would be too
high to be acceptable.

For all of the foregoing reasons, and taking into account our recent financiat
performance, economic and other variables, CBC believes its existing reserves and
surplus are at an appropriate, but not excessive level to support our current business
needs and our future plans.
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Exhibit (b)-1

RBC Levels
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Exhibit (b)-1
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Exhibit (b)-2

Issue Brief of the Blue Cross Blue Shileld Association:
History of RBC in Relation to Target Capital Levels
And
Amicus Curiae Brief of Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association
In Support of Petitioner Capital BlueCross

47
CBC 00048



Iﬂ
BlueCross BlueShield
Association

An Assocdation of Independent
Bhe Gross ard Blue Shield Plans

1 C=1 [1
bl d
RIS e

Blue Cross and Blue Shield

®
Assedalion
225 North Michlgan Avenua
Chlcago, Mlinols 60601-7680
312.297 6000

Fax 312287.5904

Subject: History of RBC in Relation to Target Capital Levels
Date: March 29, 2004
Author: Rowen B. Bell, Assaciate Actuary

(312.297.6093 { rowen.bell@bcbsa.com)

This Issue Brief provides Blue Plans with historical context relative to the NAIC Risk-Based
Capital (“RBC") formula’s specific purpose as a tool for assessing insurer solvency rather than
as a metric for determining an insurer's target capital level or maximum capital level. This
subject has recently taken on greater pertinence in light of regulatory initiatives in severai
states that would impose RBC-based maximum capital levels or excess reserve give-backs.

L EE R E R EREEREREREEENEREESERENRESRHE.]

In January 2004, the Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“PID") issued Notice 2004-01,
“Reserve and Surplus Levels of Hospital Plan and Professional Services Health Plan
Corporations”, which instructed each of the four Pennsylvania-based Blue Plans to submit an
application to PID for approval of its reserve and surplus. As part of this application, each Blue
Plan was instructed to “state the maximum RBC ratio within the 350% to 650% range that is
appropriate, and explain the rationale for that maximum RBC ratio,” and also to “provide a
proposed business plan explaining how any maintained surplus that results in an RBC ratio
that is in excess of the maximum RBC ratio will be fairly and equitably distributed...”

In February 2004, Capital Blue Cross (“CBC") filed a Petition for Review with the
Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania, requesting preliminary injunctive relief from the
requirements of Notice 2004-01. In its petition, CBC stated that “the NAIC's intent in creating
the RBC Model Act was to establish minimum capital standards for insurance companies” and
also that “the sole purpose of fthe] RBC Report is to enable [PID] to monitor the financial
position of those companies to ensure solvency”. As such, CBC argued that PID lacked the
statutory authority “to use RBC information for any purpose other than as a solvency
monitoring tool” or “to establish a surplus ‘range’ using RBC as a measure”.

Brand Protectlon
and Financial Services

 ——
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BCBSA Issue Brief — History of RBC and Target Capital 3/29/04

In March 2004, with the consent of CBC as well as the other three Pennsylvania-based Blue
Plans, BCBSA filed an amicus curiae brief in support of CBC's petition.'

The remainder of this Issue Brief consists of a research paper that formed the basis for the
BCBSA amicus brief. This paper provides background and references by drawing extensively
from the documentary record surrounding the initial development of NAIC RBC one decade
ago, and it argues that making use of the RBC formula to establish maximum capilal levels is
contrary {o the NAIC’s infent in developing the RBC formula and Model Act.

LE R SR RN ERSENSEEERNENSEIEIESIHE:;.S,;

The RBC formula for health organizations, and the RBC Model Act related to that formula, are
derivatives of the NAIC's earlier RBC formula and related Model Act for life and accident and
health (“life/ A&H") insurers. Thus, to place the NAIC's approach to RBC for health
organizations into proper perspective, it is appropriate to delve into the historical record
regarding the development of the NAIC's approach to RBC for life/ A&H insurers, since the
principles underlying NAIC RBC for life/ A&H insurers apply equally to NAIC RBC for health
organizations.

In 1990, the NAIC embarked on a project to explore the development of a risk-based capital
standard for life/ A&H insurers. To carry out this project, the NAIC formed a Life Risk-Based
Capital Working Group (“Working Group”), which in turn commissioned an Advisory
Committee of insurance industry experts to prepare a recommendation. One of the key aspects
addressed in the Advisory Comumittee’s 1991 report to the Working Group is that the nature of
a risk-based capital formula is indelibly connected to the intended purpose of that formula:

“Depending on their intended use, RBC formulas vary widely in...the relative leve] of
capital developed by the formula.... In general, formulas can be designed that develop:
(1) Capital levels that represent minimum acceptable operating amounts; (2) Higher
levels consistent with the capital needs of a well-managed going concern; or (3) Still
higher levels allowing for a company’s plans for future growth or diversification. The
target level chosen depends greatly on the intended use of the formula...”2

The Advisory Committee concluded that it was both necessary and appropriate to focus its
efforts on developing a formula whose output represented a minimum acceptable level of
capital rather than a maximum level of capital:

“RBC can be developed as a high, “AAA" target for a company to strive for, oras a
diagnostic tool for use by regulators in discriminating between strongly and weakly
capitalized companies. Both the nature of the development process and the formula
itself will differ depending on whether we seek a high standard or a diagnostic

1 Last week, CBC's request for an injunction was denied by the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania. However, a
prellminary injunction was granled “lo the extent that all [business] plans submitied {to PID] will be kept confidential
until further order of the Court.”

2 Report of the Advisory Committes lo the NAIC Life Risk-Basad Capital Working Group, November 27, 1991.

Reproduced in Bemard L. Webb and Claude C. Lilly lll, Ralsing the Sefety Net: Risk-Basaed Capital for Life
Insurance Companies, NAIC, 1994 (hereafter, "Webb & Llily’), page 115.
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BCBSA Issue Brief — History of RBC and Target Capital 3/29/04

standard. The Committee concluded that a single formula could not serve both

purposes and focused its attention on the development of a sound diagnostic
standard.”3

However, the Advisory Committee was concerned about the potential that some parties might
fail to appreciate the implications of its conclusion and might attempt to invoke the NAIC RBC
formula for non-diagnostic purposes:

“We believe that every effort must be made, by industry and the NAIC, to prevent abuse
and misrepresentation of company RBC ratios. In particular, we encourage the NAIC to
publicly state that the formula was designed solely as a filter to distinguish between
weakly and strongly capitalized companies, and was not designed for, is not validated
for, and should not be used for ranking or rating companies.”4

In debating and ultimately accepting the Advisory Committee’s recommendation of a risk-
based capital formula for life/ A&H insurers, and in developing a Model Act encompassing the
use of that RBC formula, the NAIC made repeated statements affirming the positions
articulated above:

“The [Working Group] discussed problems associated with using RBC results for other
purposes.... Tying other regulatory provisions to surplus amounts above the RBC
thresholds is problematic in that the formula was not developed to measure financial
strength or capital adequacy beyond a minimum regulatory requirement.”s

“The formula that is proposed is a threshold capital formula rather than a target capital
formula. It has been designed to identify companies with capital levels that require
regulatory attention. The formula has not been designed to differentiate among
adequately capitalized companies. Therefore, it would be entirely inappropriate to use
this formula to rate or rank adequately capitalized companies.”é

“Section 8 [of the draft NAIC RBC Model Act] has been amended to include a
prohibition on the use of the RBC Instructions, RBC Reports, Adjusted RBC Reports,
RBC Plans and Revised RBC Plans as evidence in rate proceedings or to calculate or
derive any element of an appropriate premium level or rate of return. As noted in
earlier reports, the [Model Law Resource Group] believes that unless such a provision is
included|,] commissioners in some states adopting the model will make the ‘floor’
capital established by the model into a “ceiling’ for rate making and rate [of} return

purposes.”’

3 Report of the Advisory Committas to the NAIC Life Risk-Based Capital Working Group, Novamber 27, 1991.
Repreduced in Webb & Lllly, page 119.

1 Raport of the Advisory Committes to the NAIC Life Risk-Based Capital Working Group, November 27, 1991,
Reproduced in Webb & Lilly, page 122.

5 NAIC Proceedings 1893 3™ Quarter, page 228.
% NAIG Proceedings 1892 4" Quarter, page 557.
7 NAIC Proceedings 1993 3™ Quarter, page 290.
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BCBSA Issue Brief — History of RBC and Target Capital 3/29/04

At the time of the implementation of its RBC formula for life/ A&H insurers, the NAIC
cormumissioned a book, Raising the Safety Net: Risk-Based Capital for Life Insurance
Companies by Bernard L. Webb and Claude C. Lilly II, in order to articulate and document
the principles underlying the NAIC's approach to developing risk-based capital standards. In
that book, the NAIC emphasized that its RBC formula was not intended to measure a
company’s target level of capital, or to suggest that levels of capital above the regulatory
minimums were unwarranted:

“Tust as the current state-by-state fixed minimum capital and surplus levels are by no
means a ‘target’ level of capitalization, neither is the RBC generated by the NAIC
formula. ... Companies are still free to make their own capitalization decisions above the
regulatory minimum RBC thresholds... The NAIC formula...allows companies to
operate freely at any given level above the minimum threshold. Companies that fall
beneath those thresholds are subject to regulatory action; companies above the threshold
are not. ... [A] company’s optimal or target level of capitalization may be well above the
minimum threshold set by the NAIC formula...”8

The NAIC book also contains a strong caution that, since the formula was designed as a
diagnostic tool, it is inappropriate to utilize it as a barometer of financial strength:

“The RBC levels determined under the NAIC formula are still minimurm capital levels.
The fact that a company’s RBC ratio is 500 percent does not mean that that company is in
strong financial condition, nor does an RBC ratio of 500 percent imply that that company
is financially stronger than an insurer with an RBC ratio of 400 percent. The RBC ratio
indicates whether or not a company is subject to regulatory action because it fell below
the minimum standards. Attempis to rank companies by their RBC levels are foolish
and indicate a serious lack of understanding of the NAIC's RBC system."?

A contemporaneous article in an NAIC-published journal, co-authored by the NAIC's then-
director of research, reinforces the fact that the NAIC RBC formula is wholly unrelated to the
issue of the appropriate target level of capital for an insurance company:

“The NAIC RBC formula was designed to establish a regulatory minimum level of
capital based on risk... These new risk-based capital standards do not set a target
capital level or even an optimal capital level... Companies are free to hold capital above
and beyond the minimum level established by the RBC formula, and virtually all
companies do, but the exact level of capital is an internal business decision outside the
scope of regulatory monitoring. That optimum capital level chosen by the company can
be well outside the company action level RBC determined by the NAIC formula... [IJtis
important to appreciate that the RBC formula should not bind an adequately capitalized
firm.”10

& Wabb & Lilly, page 13.
% webb & Lilly, page 55.

19 Robert W. Kiein and Michael M, Barth, “Solvency Monitaring in the Twenty-First Century”, Journal of insurance
Regulation, Vol. 13, No. 3, 1995, page 274,
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BCBSA Issue Brief — History of RBC and Target Capltal 3/29/04

More recent discussions by the NAIC Risk-Based Capital Task Force reaffirm that the NAIC's
position on the purpose and function of its RBC formula has not changed in the years since
that formula was initially developed:

“Mr. Gorski [of Illinois] stated that...the [RBC] formula was not designed to differentiate
between well-capitalized companies and extremely well capitalized companies as the
formula does not contain the precision required to accomplish that... Mr. Blumer [of
Wisconsin] stated that the purpose of risk-based capital was to establish a requirement
of regulatory capital and provide the regulator with the ability to take regulatory action
if a company’s capital is below that requirement. ... Mr. Blumer stated that there are
several examples of why a specified percentage above authorized control level does not
tell a regulator anything... Mr. Blumer reiterated that the purpose of risk-based capital
was not to determine who should or should not be afforded something based on a
specified risk-based capital ratio.”11

In conclusion, the documentary record sheds considerable light on the intent of the NAIC with
respect to its RBC formula and strongly indicates that the PID's proposed use of that RBC
formula, as articulated in Notice 2004-01, is inconsistent with that intent.

" Minutes of NAIC Risk-Based Capital Task Force meeting, September 12, 2000.

[
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IN THE COMMONWEALTH COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CAPITAL BLUE CROSS,
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DEPARTMENT,
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Interest of Blue Cross Blue Shield Assoclation

The Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (“BCBSA") , an lllinois non-profit corporation with
headquarters in Chicago, lllinois, is the trade association and licensor of the BLUE CROSS®
and BLUE SHIELD® marks and names for Capitai Blue Cross {"CBC") and 40 other
independent Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield health insurers (“Blue Plans”) throughout the United
Slales. BCBSA has a long history of participation in the process by which the National
Associalion of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC™) originally developed, and continues to
maintain, the risk-based capilal (“RBC") formula and model legislation applicable to health
insurers which has been enacted in Pennsylvania and at least 25 other states. As such,
BCBSA wishes lo provide the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania with additional background
and perspective in support of CBC's statements that “lhe NAIC's intent in creating the RBC
Model Act was to establish minimum capital standards for insurance companies™ and “the sole
purpose of this RBC Report is to enable the Department to monitor the financial position of
those companies to ensure solvency™.

. Argument
BCBSA is not asserting that a state insurance regulator cannot or should not regulate a health
insurer's capital (the term “capital” as used herein is synonymous with the term “surplus” as
used in the Department’s notice), coltect data from the insurer to ascertain its RBC level, or use
RBC to establish a minimum level of capital that an insurer should maintain. BCBSA's sole
concern is that evaluating a health insurer's capital needs in terms of a maximum surplus is a
complex assessment that needs 1o 1ake into account far more than the NAIC RBC formula is
designed to do. Establishing maximum capital levels based solely or substantially on the RBC
formula is, in violates the NAIC's intenl and the language of the RBC Model Act promulgated by
the NAIC.

The RBC formula for health oganizations, a term which includes Blue Plans, and the RBC
Model Act related to that formula, are derivatives of the NAIC's earlier RBC formula and related
Model Act for life and health insurers. (The Coammonwealth of Pennsylvania has enacted both
Model Acts.) Thus, to place the NAIC’s approach to RBC for health organizations into proper

perspective, it is appropriate to delve into the historical record regarding the development of the

' CBC's Petition for Review, paragraph 12.
2 CBC's Petition for Review, paragraph 14.
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NAIC's approach to RBC for life and health insurers, since the principles underlying NAIC RBC
for life and health insurers apply equally to NAIC RBC for health organizations. ‘

In 1990, the NAIC embarked on a project to explore the development of a risk-based capital
standard for life and health insurers. To carry out this project, the NAIC formed a Life Risk-
Based Capital Working Group (“Working Group”}, which in turn commissioned an Advisory
Committee of insurance industry experts to prepare a recommendation. One of the key aspects
addressed in the Advisory Committee’s 1991 report to the Working Group is that the nature of a
risk-based capital formula is indelibly connected to the intended purpose of that formula:

“Depending on their intended use, RBC formulas vary widely in...the relative level of
capital developed by the formula....In general, formulas can be designed that (lievelop:
(1) Capital levels that represent minimum acceptable operating amounts; (2) Higher
levels consistent with the capital needs of a well-managed going concerns; or (3) Still
higher levels allowing for a company's plans for future growth or diversification. The
target level chosen depends greatly on the intended use of the formula...”?

The Advisory Committee concluded that it was both necessary and aﬁpropn’ate to focus its
efforts on developing a formula whose output represented a minimum acceptable level of capital
rather than a maximum level of capital:

“RBC can be developed as a high, “AAA” targel for a company to strive for, or as a
diagnostic tool for use by regulators in discriminating between strongly and weakly
capitalized companies. Both the nature of the development process and the formula
itself will differ depending on whether we seek a high standard or a diagnostic standard.
The Committee concluded that a single formula could not serve both purposes and
focused its attention on the development of a sound diagnostic standard.™

3 Report of the Advisory Committee to the NAIC Working Group, November 27, 1991. Reproduced in
Bemard L. Webb and Claude C. Lilly lll, Raising The Safety Net: Risk-Based Capital for Life Insurance
Companies, NAIC, 1994 (hereafter, “Webb & Lilly"), page 115. '

* Report of the Advisory Committee to the NAIC Working Group, November 27, 1981. Reproduced in
Webb & Lilly, page 119.
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However, the Advisory Committee was concerned about the potential that some parties might
fail to appreciate the implications of its conclusion and might attempt to invoke the NAIC RBC

formula for non-diagnostic purposes:

“We believe that every effort must be made, by industry and the NAIC, to prevent abuse
and misrepresentation of company RBC ratios. In particular, we encourage the NAIC to .
publicly state that the formula was designed solely as a filter to distinguish between
weakly and strongly capitalized companies, and was not designed for, is not validated

for, and should not be used for ranking or rating companies.”

In debating and ultimately accepting the Advisory Committee’s recommendation of a risk-based
capital formula for life and health insurers, and in developing a Model Act encompassing the use
of these RBC formula (and ultimately, the RBC formula for health organizations), the NAIC
made repeated statements affirming the positions arliculated above:

“The [Working Group] discussed problems associated with using RBC results for other
purposes....Tying olher regulatory provisions lo surplus amounts above the RBC
thresholds is problemalic in that the formula was not developed to measure financial
strength or capital adequacy beyond a minimum regulatory requirement (emphasis
added).”

“The formula that is proposed is a threshold capital formula rather than a target cépita!
formula. It has been designed to identify companies with capital levels that require
regulatory attention. The formula has not been designed to differentiate among
-adequately capitalized companies. Therefore, it would be entirely inappropriate to use

this formula to rate or rank adequately capitalized companies.™

At the time of the implementalion of its RBC formula for life and health insurers, the NAIC
commissioned a book, Raising the Safety Net: Risk-Based Capital for Life Insurance
Companies by Bemnard L. Webb and Claude C. Lilly lli, in order to articulate and document the
principles underlying the NAIC's approach to developing risk-based capital standards. In that

> Report of the Advisory Committee to the NAIC Working Group, November 27, 1991. Reproduced in
Webb & Lilly, page 122. i

% NAIC Proceedings 1993 3™ Quarter, page 228.

"NAIC Proceedings 1993 4th Quarter

CBC 00057



book, the NAIC emphasized that its RBC formula was not intended to measure a company's

target level of capital, or to suggest that levels of capital above the regulatory minimuTs were

unwarranted:

“Just as the current state-by-state fixed minimum capital and surplus levels are by no
means a ‘target’ level of capitalization, neither is the RBC generated by the NP}IC
formula. ... Companies are still free to make their own capitalization decisions above the
regulatory minimum RBG thresholds... The NAIC formula...allows companies to
operate freely at any given level above the minimum threshold. Companies that fall
beneath those thresholds are subject to regulatory action; companies above the
threshold are not. ... [A] company's optimal or target level of capitalization may be well

1

above the minimum threshold set by the NAIC formula...™

The NAIC book also contains a strong caution that, since the formula was designed as a
diagnostic tool, it is inappropriate 1o utilize it as a barometer of financial strength:

“The RBC levels determined under the NAIC fermula are still minimum capital levels.
The faé:t that a company's RBC ratio is 500 percent does not mean that that company is
in strong financial condition, nor does an RBC ralio of 500 percent imply that that
company is financially stronger than an insurer with an RBC ratio of 400 percent. The
RBC ratio indica_ates whether or not a company is subject to regulatory action because it
fell below the minimum standards.™ '

A contemporaneous article in an NAIC-published journal, co-authored by the NAIC's then-
director of research, reinforces the fact that the NAIC RBC formula is wholly unrelated to the

issue of the appropriate target level of capital for an insurance company:

“The NAIC RBC formula was designed to eslablish a regulatory minimum level of capital
based onrisk... These new risk-based capital standards do not set a target capital level
or even an optimal capital level... Companies are free to hold capital above and beyond
the minimum level established by the RBC formula, and virtually all companies do, but

the exact level of capital is an internal business decision outside the scope of regulatory

®webb & Lilly, page 13.
*Webb & Lilly, page 55.
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monitoring. That optimum capital level chosen by the company can be well outside the
company action level RBC determined by the NAIC formula... (It is important to .

appreciale that the RBC formula should not bind an adequately capitalized firm."*°

More recent discussions by the NAIC RBC Task Force reaffirm that the NAIC's position on the
purpose and function of its RBC formula has not changed in the years since that formula was

initially developed:

“Mr. Gorski [of lllinois] stated that...the [RBC] formula was not designed to differentiate
between well-capitalized companies and exiremely well capitalized companies as the
formula does not contain the precision required to accomplish that... Mr. Biumer [of
Wisconsin] stated that the purpose of risk-based capital was to establish a requirement
of regulalory capital and provide the regulator with the ability to lake regulatary action if a
company's capital is below that requirement. ... Mr. Blumer stated that there are several
examples of why a specified percentage above authorized control level does not tell a
regulator anything... Mr. Blumer reiterated that the purpose of risk-based capital was
not to determine who should or should not be afforded something based on a specified

risk-based capital ratio.""

Furlher evidence ihat the sole and limited purpose for RBC ratios is minimum surplus and
solvency surveillance can be found in 40 P.S. § 221.11-B(c)(1) which is a part of Pennsylvania's
legislation regarding risk based capilal requirements for health organizations, which prov'ides as

follows:

“Except as required by this arlicle, the publication, disseminalion, circulation or
placement before the public, or directly or indirectly causing the publication,
dissemination, circulalion or placement before the public, of an assertion, representalion
or statement with regard the RBC levels or component derived in the calculation of RBC
levels of a health organization, including assertions, representations or statements
intended or used to rank health organizations, by an insurer, agent, broker or other

person in a ‘newspaper. magazine or other publication, notice, pamphlet, letter or other

19 Roberi W. Klein and Michael M. Barih, “Solvency Monitoring in the Twenty-First Century”, NAIC Joumal
of Insurance Reguilation, Vol. 13, No. 3, 1995, page 274.
Minutes of NAIC Risk-Based Capital Task Force meeting, September 12, 2000.

6
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printed matter or by broadcast or electronic transmission, is prohibited. (Emphasis
added)” |

The fact that any statement or assertion placed before the public regarding RBC levels,
including any statements intended or used to rank health organizations, is prohibited, clearly
reflects the legislative intent thal RBC levels are not {o be used to indicate levels or ﬁn'pncial
strength of health organizations; yet, the Pennsylvania Insurance Depariment's setting an RBC
for a health organization and declaring that the health organization is so capitalized at that level
that any additional capital above that level is unneeded and results in over capitalization, is
clearly the making of a statement of full financial health by the insurance department based on
an RBC level.

Conclusion |
In conclusion, BCBSA respectfully submits that the documentary record sheds considerable
light on the intent of the NAIC with respect to its RBC formula and strongly indicates that the
Pennsylvania Insurance Department's preposed use of that RBC formula, as articulated in

Notice 2004-01'%, is inconsistent with that intent.

Respectiully Submitted,

Roger G. Wilson, Esq.

Senior Vice President, General Counsel
Blue Cross Blue Shield Association
225 N. Michigan Avenue

Chicago, IL 60601

312.297.6439

Atlorney for Amicus
Blue Cross Blue Shield Association

DATED: March 16, 2004

2gee CBC's Petition for Review, paragraph 6.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

! hereby ceriify that | am this day serving the foregoing document in the manner indicated,

addressed to the following counse! of record:

By overntght mail delivery service (Federal Express)

Sandra L. Ykema, Esq. {1.D. #46746)
1341 Strawberry Square

Harristown State Office Building No. 1
Harrisburg, PA 17120

717-787-2567

Counsel for Respondents Insurance Commissioner M. Diane Koken and the Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania Insurance Depariment

Saul Ewing LLP

Penn National Insurance Tower

2 North Second Street

7" Floor

Harrisburg, PA 17101

717-257-7500

Counsel for Pelitioner Capital Blue Cross

DATED: March 15, 2004

Roger G. Wilson

Senior Vice President, General Counsel
Biue Cross Blue Shield Association

225 North Michigan Avenue

Chicago,IL 60601
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Exhibit (b}-3

Comparison of Projected versus Actual Underwriting Gain/Loss
For the Years 2002 and 2003
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Exhibit (b)-4

A.M. Best Methodology Report
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AM. BEST

Rating Health Insurance Companies

T he purpose of this report is to provide
transparency regarding A.M. Dest Col's
criteria for assigning financial strength
ratings (FSR) to health insurance carriers,
including traditional lifeshealth insurance
companies, health maintenance organizations
(HMOs) and Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans.
This methodology also updates A, M. Best’s pre-
viously published health-care rating methodol-
ogy to reflect changes in the marketplace.

The constantly changing operating environ-
ment and the unstable, escalating rate of infla-
ticn for heaith-care costs make it difficult for
carriers to anticipate the medical cost factor
in the pricing of policies that will be in effect
for 12 months. The resulting volatility of carn-
ings, combined with the thin capitalization
that is charcreristic of many health insurers,
creates a fertile environment for financial
impairment. More vulnerble are small health
carriers with product and geographic concen-
trations and a lack of resources necessary for
innovative responses to changes in the envi-
ronment. As a result of these facrors, the
demand for financial strength ratings on these
companies has increased.

Health Insurer Rating Criteria

An AM_ Best financial strength mting is an
opinion about an insurer's financial strength
and its ability t0 mect ongoing obligations to
policyholders. The assigned rating is derived
from an in-depth evaluation of a company's
balance.sheet strength, operating perfor-
mance and business profile, compared with
A M. Best's quantitative and qualitative stan-
dards. The required analysis reflects all
sources of risk to which the health insurer is
exposed. The entire group, including all of the
rated entity’s affiliates and their intecnal relz-
tionships, are considercd. For the neainsur-
ance subsidiaries, A.M. Best performs a
detailed, internal analysis of their risk profile
and the resulting effect on rated entitics with-
in the group.

This report was writien by Dana B. Mebia,
assistant vice president.

7 Copyright ¢ 2003 by A.M. Byl Company, Inc.

opying, feodimg oF mberene

An important component of the evaluation
process requires an interactive exchange of
information, both public and confidential,
with the insurer’s management. Once
assigned, ratings are reevaluated continually
for ¢changes that might arise during the year or
in conjunciion with A.M. Best’s ongoing dia-
logue with company management.

A_M. Best's criteria for analyzing health insur-
ance carriers are broadly similar to thar for life
insurcrs. Key differcnces are the focus on
benchmarks, mtios and qualitative factors rele-
vant to the health-care operating environment.
This report primarily details those elements of
the mting analysis that are different for health
insurers. For more detailed information on A.M.
Best's criteria for life/hrealth insurance compa-
nies, visit wvwambest.com/ralings.

Balance-Sheet Strenath

In determining a2 company's ability to mcet
its current and ongoing obligations to policy-
holders, the most impoctant area to evaluate is
its balance-sheet strength. A critical measure
of balance-sheet strength is the adequacy of a
health insurer's capital and surplus to support
its financial and operting practices. The net
required capital to support these practices
and the company's other risk exposures—pri-
marily related o product mix and undercwrit-
ing—is evaluated by Best's Capiral Adequacy
Ratio (BCAR). Other considerations in assess-
ing balance sheet strength are reserves, rein-
surance and asset quality.

Capital Adequacy

AM. Best believes all minimum state regula-
tory requirements for capital and surplus are
too low. An A.M. Best Secure rating—(Very
Good) B+ and higher—calls for substantially
higher amounts of capital than what is
assessed under the Managed Care Organiza-
tion Risk Based Capital (MCORBC) authorized
control level, as promulgated by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners,

While A.M. Best's analysis of capital adequa-
cy begins with a BCAR assessment at each
operating insurer, scveral other quantitative

J' AN rphis rescrvad, Mo pan of thit repan tary be reprodocal, dered in 2 retieval syaton of il in ey fomm or by oy mesm: cledrone, meehancl, pholo-
h ey
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Methodology

Ocrober 27, 2003

factors play significant roles in the rating,
including:

* MCORBC when awiilable.

« Underwriting leverage (net premiums
wrinen to capital and surplus).

« Equity per member per month (capital
and surplus to member months). This mea-
sures the amount of capital and sucplus spread
over the membership base.

« Asser leverage (total linbilities to total
ASSL1S).

« Premiom leverage (level of premiums to
capital and sucplus).

+ Months rescrves (capital and surplus to
monthly average expenses).

Quantitative models for capital measure-
ment, however, are essentially static. They indi-
cate capital adequacy at a fixed point in lime,
given the business risk typical for the lines of
business offered that yeac. For this reason, A M.
Best makes a qualitative assessment of the
risks refated to the local market and regulato-
ry conditions, risks unique to the company, or
future risks that could develop as various con-
ditions change.

Bxternal Capital Support

Another consideration in the assessment of
capital adegquacy is capital available from
external sources, such as borrowings from the
capital markets and private sources or contri-
butions from an affiliate. The amounts that
must be repaid to a lender—whether a parent
or 4 third-party—aren't automatically consid-
ered permanent capital, although a regulator's
permission might be required before pay-
ments are made. Capital composed of retained
earnings or paid-in amounts is considered
superior Lo capital that includes subsidiary
borrowings.

Although a health insurance carrier might
be thinly capitalized, it might be a subsidiary
of a well-capitalized, national or multiregional
holding company encompassing numerous
HMOs and insurance companies. Holding
companies and their associated capital struc-
tures can have a significant impact on the
overall financial strength of an insurance com-
pany subsidiary: They can provide subsidiaries
with various levels of financial flexibility,
including capital infusions. Conversely, debt
and other securities, typically obligaticns of a
holding company, can reduce a corporation’s
financial flexibility, depending on the magni-
tude of those obligations, and place significant

- dividend demands on a subsidiary, limiting

growth of its surplus.

AM. Best recognizes that efficient capital
management at such organizations calls for
maintaining most of the capital at the holding-
company level, from which support can be
disbursed downstream o an operating entity.
To determine whether a rating is secure, A.M.
Best measures both the willingness and the
ability of the parent to provide support. The
level of capital at the operating entity, howeyv-
€r, remains important.

A.M. Best prefers that the holding company
provide explicit support in the form of a mini-
mum amount of capital to be maintained at
the entity and the parent’s commitment to
provide cash infusions if the subsidiary gener-
ates losses. However, willingness to provide
support also may be indicated through discus-
sions with management, preferably backed
with evidence of a history of support.

A.M. Best assesses the parent's ability to
provide support based on its financial

A.M. Best Co.

Methodology

Ocrober 27,2003

PUAL ISHFR, PRESIDENT AND CHAIRMAN
Arthour Snyder
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT/ACHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
Arihur Snycor Il
EXECUTIVE VICE PAESIDEMTACHIEF RATING CFRACGER
Larry Q. Moyowakl
EXECUTIVE VICE PAESIDENT/CHEF RNFORMANION CFFRCER
Paul G. TinnlroTie
SENIOR \VICE PRESIDENT
Shaun Flynn, Intematona
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Methodology
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resources, such as the availability of cash and
liquid assets and the sources and uses of funds
at the holding company. To perform this
assessment, A.M. Best looks at the parent's
financial leverage and financial flexibility,
using the ratio of total debt to total capital and
coverage compared with the maximum for
rating category.

A.M. Best makes its evaluation of financial
leverage based on the level to which the com-
pany manages, mther than the level at the
time of the rating action. In addition, the level
of coverage is deemed important. Companies
in the Secure mting categories typically are
expected to have coverage in excess of three
times. Financial flexibility is evaluated based
on the availability of funds from external
sources, such as those obtained from the
issuance of public and private debt, equity, and
surplus notes and trust-preferred securitics.

Cash flow available to the holding compa-
ny from within the group depends primarily
on the dividend-paying capacity of, and cer-
tain corporate service fees from, regulated
and unregulated subsidiaries. Dividend capac-
ity, In turn, depends on the organizational
structure, recognizing that a generally flat
structure is preferable to a stacked structure.
The presence of profitable, nonregulated sub-
sidiaries is viewed positively, as there are no
limitations on the amount of dividends that
may be sent upstream.

Expected uscs of funds are for debt service,
corporate expenses, capital infusions to sub-
sidiaries and capital expenditures. A significant
excess of lunds may be channeled into a stock
repurchase program, A.M. Best views stock-
repurchase progmms cautiously. The volatility
of the health insurance industry requires hold-
ing a prudent guantity of funds for unexpect-
ed, adverse developments, although how
much isn’t easily determined and would be
based on each organization's risk characteris-
tics at the time of the rating.

Reserves

Reserve levels also are given considerable
attention as another risk exposure on the bal-
ance sheet. A.M. Best reviews historical
reserve development and current resecve nyar-
gin above any third-party estimate. A.M. Best
also evaluates & company’s policy for the
desired level of margin and premium stabiliza-
tion funds and whether these percentages are
maintained consistently.

Asset Quality and Reinsurance

Other considered balance-sheer exposures
are invesunent asset policy; actuzl asset guali-
ty measured by exposure of surplus to risky
assets; asset diversity; parent-company equity
exposure to intangibles; quality of intangibles
and offbalance-sheet exposures and commir-
ments such as guarantees; pending litigation;
and the funding status of a defined-benefit
plan. An important aspect of asset quality is
liquidity because of the short-tailed nature of
health liabilities. A.M. Best, therefore, takes a
negative view of investments in illiquid assets
such as investment real estate, mortgages, cer-
tain private placements and securities with
cerlain structures,

A.M. Best also examincs a company's rein-
surance program to determine whether its
retained risk is commensurate with the size of
its capital level.

Operating Performance

Operiting performance is a major contribu-
tor Lo capital growth or erosion. When evaluat-
ing operating performance, A.M. Best analyzes
the stability and sustainability of a company’s
sources of earnings in relation to its product
mix. The degree of volatility in a company’s
earnings and the impact this could have on
capitalization and balance-sheet strength is of
particular interest.

Operating performance is measured by the
trends in growth of earnings, return on rev-
enue and return on equity. Other considera-
tions are medical loss atios and administrative
cost ratios. A, M. Best examines the source and
sustainability of earnings from operations by
business segment. The mix is examined for
diversity by product, market segment and geo-
graphic region.

Eazrnings from the commercial segment
generally are considered the most stable
because of the company’s ability to control
pricing. Earnings from government sources
are deemed the most volatile: The govern-
ment imposes controls over premium [evels
and lengthy notification requirements for
exiting the business, rmising the potential for
greater losses. Eventually, exits [rom these
businessecs reduce membership, thereby
increasing unit administrative costs for the
remaining business.

The drivers of profitability in commercial
lines are premium growth in concert with
medical-cost inflation and growth of enroll-
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ment. Pricing is a significant area of concern.
Underestimating medical-cost trends can
prove costly, while appropriate pricing shel-
ters the company from adverse selection and
furthers earnings sustainability.

In the assessment of the sustainability of
earnings, A.M. Best examines the company’s
commitment to:

= Pricing discipline;

= Presence and power of compctitors;

= Regulatory mandates and price controls;

« Amount of product differentiation,

+ Effecriveness of the company's controls
over rising chims costs through cost shifting
and disease management;

* Persistency of the business; and

* Administrative cxpensc management,
although A.M. Best deems as necessary those
expenditures for technological development
that enhance administrative cfficicncy,
speed claims payment, improve service and
meet mandatory requirements. The unit
costs of these expenses, however, can be
greatly reduced by building economies of
scale.

A key aspect of an organization's opera-
tions is how effectively it manages and antici-
pates medical-cost trends. A.M. Best probes
into the various components of health-care
expenses that drive changes in the medical
loss ratio, including, but not limited to, inpa-
tient and outpatient utilization patterns, new
technologies; medical-cost inflation; trends in
provider reimbursement rates; and pharmacy
costs, recognizing that local marker conditions
affect these factors.

A.M, Best also examines earnings from
investments. A. M. Best expects a company’s
investment strategy to focus on liquidity and
asser quality, rather than on generating high
income, Greater reliance on operating earn-
ings, rather than investment income, is viewed
positively.

While earnings are important, the steength
of operating cash flow and its growth trend
are critical for timely payment of claims.These
are indicators of a company's claims-paying
ability, which depends on superior liquidity as
health-care claims are generally a short-tailed
liability. Generally, 1 company that is rated at A-
(Excellent) or above is expected to demon-
strate the ability to generate strong and
increasing operating cash flow. Strong earn-
ings and cash flow also support debt-service
coverage if there is debt.

Business Profile

Business profile is an important component
of A.M. Best’s rating evaluation, and the
strength of a company’s business profile
becomes an cven greater consideration at the
higher rating levels. The factors that comprise
an insurer's business profile drive current and
future operating performance and, in turn,
affect long-term financial strength and the
company's ability to meet its obligations to
policyholders.

Business profile is influenced by the degree
of risk inhercnt in the company's mix of busi-
ness, its competitive market position and the
depth and experience of its management. Lack
of size or growth aren't considered negative
rating factors unless A M. Best believes these
issues have a negative influence on the com-
pany's prospective operaling performance and
balance-sheet strength.

Operating Eavironment
and Marketplace

A M. Best evaluates the advantages and con-
straints of the company’s operating environ-
ment, such as the maturity or growth of the
marketplace, regulatory constraints and the
strength and number of competitors present
or that have exited the region.

A_M. Best acknowledges that insuring health
care is a [ocal business and that the carrier's
marker dominance in a state or even in part of
a state can be an advantage. In this respect, a
small, niche company can succeed by differen-
tiating its provider network and products or by
operaung in rural areas where managed care is
more accepted and where multiregional com-
panies typically don't operate.

A lack of geographic diversity, however, can
make a company's business vulnerable to the
regulatory constraints of the region; pressure
from local competitors with less stringent
pricing discipline; the local economy,; and
exclusion from growth opportunities else-
where in the country. A.M. Best assesses these
Factors to determine the strength of the rated
entity's market presence,

Growth Trends

A.M. Best examines the company's strategy
for growth and whether it focuses on acquisi-
tion or internal growth. The diversity and size
of a company's enrollment basc are important,
becausc these factors can provide carriers
with significant leverage when negotiating
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with providers for the discounts that can have
a positive impact on operating performance
and balance-sheet strength,

Growth is measured in terms of member-
ship and revenue. Because membership drives
premiums, a company’s growth trend in
enrollment, as compared with its competitors,
is important. Furthermore, the growth trend
must be sustainable. Below-average growth
indicates a loss of market share, while too-
rapid growth signals a potential for mispricing
and future impairment of capital adequacy.
Growth is deemed balanced when it mitigates
event risk and improves diversity of products,
in addition to raising earnings. A decline in
membership, especially when part of a
rerrenchment strategy to enhance profitability,
isn’t necessarily viewed as a negative, particu-
larly if a sound strategy for future geowth is in
place and growth can be expected to resume
within one or teo years.

In evaluating national and multiregional
companies, A.M. Best assesses the proportion
of arpganic growth to growth through acquisi-
tion. Organic growth genernlly is viewed as
superior. [lowever, a good track record of
acquisitions followed by successful integration
and strong organic growth at the acquired
entities is viewed positively. The strategic fit of
the acquisition is critical—particularly its con:
teibution to brand identity, product nd geo-
graphic diversity or distribution—not merely
its contribution to earnings.

Business aad Product Diversity

A.M. Best looks at whether the company is
an innovator of products or a follower and
how close it comes to mecting customers'
needs, as well as the strength of each busi-
ness segment and its contribution te the
enterprise.

The health insumnce business generally is
segmented berween commercial and govern-
mental payors. Within commercial lines are
managed care, preferred provider organiza-
tions (PPOs), fullrisk and administrative ser-
vices only (ASQ) plans, which are segmented
further as large and small groups and individ-
ual plans. Government payors include
Medicare and senior-population-related plans,
Medicaid and the military. The dominance of
large-group business over small-group and gov-
ernment premium payors is viewed positively,
bur profit margins are narrower. Individual,
small and midsize group businesses are con-

sidered more volatile, as they are subject to
greater regulatory oversight and restrictions
and lower retention rates but generally pro-
duce lower medical-cost ratios.

A.M. Best carefully examines a carrier's
management of any shifts in its mix of busi-
ness, such as from managed care to PPO or
full risk to ASO.The company’s position either
behind or ahead of any industrywide shifts
toward choice of products and flexibility in
payment of premiums can be a critical factor
driving future earnings.

Provider Relatdonships

Provider relationships often make the dif-
ference in whether or not a company
becomes a “carrier of choice” Important fac-
tors in A.M. Best’s assessment of provider rela-
tionships are the density of the nerwork, par-
ticularly the inclusion of major hospital
systems; the degree of risk sharing—full risk,
shared risk, capitated or mixed—and the bal-
ance of ncgouating power between the com-
pany and providers, as well as the stability of
the network.

AM. Best also assesses the impact of any
shift in risk sharing between the carrier and
providers, and the ability of the company to
sustain profitability during the shift through
monitoring of claims costs. The stability of the
provider network can be disrupted if carriers
overreach with their negotiating power or if
medicalmalpractice insurance costs are exces-
sive. An exodus of providers from a network
or state under these pressures could prompt
patients to seek out-of-network care, thereby
significantly mising claims costs above pricing
assumptions and reducing profits.

Distribution

Market presence can be influenced signifi-
cantly by the carrier's distribution channels.
A.M. Best evaluates how 1 company serves the
needs of its distribution system, especially if a
small company faces large, powerful, low-cost
competitors, A.M. Best evaluates the strength
of the carrier's distribution channels—inde-
pendent and/or career or employec distribu-
tion—and its use of group discretionary trusts
and affiliations with other insurers for market-
ing complementary products.

Not-for-Profit Organizations
The difference in the evaluation of not-
for-profit and for-profit entities isn't signifi-
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cant. Generally, not-for-profit companies
aren't acquisition oriented, which eliminates
one type of risk. Not-for-profit earnings
might be lower, although this isn't viewed as
2 negative as long as capital grows adeguate-
ly for the company's businesses. However,
regulatory pressures can be stronger on
these companies, limiting the prospects for

expanding their capital. A.M. Best recognizes
the recently improved financial flexibility of
small companies and not-for-profits as the
result of pooling, whereby separate entities
aggregate their debt issnances into a pool,
and the various "tranches”—or investment
classes—are sold to investors as surplus or
trust-preferred securities,
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GUIDE TO BEST’S FINANCIAL STRENGTH RATINGS

A Besl's Rating is an Independent opinion, based on a comprehensive quantitative and qualitative evaluation, of a company's bal-
ance shest strenglh, cperating performance and business profile. Best's Ratings are not a warranty of a company's financlal strength
and abillity to meet its obllgations to policyholders.

Financial Strength Ratings
A Best's Financial Strength Rating {FSR) is an oplnion of an Insurer's ability to meet its obllgallons to polleyholders.

Rating Dascriptor Dafinitlon
At+, At Superior Assigned to companies Lhat have, in our opinfon, a superior ability to meet thelr ongolng
® abligations to policyholders.
3 A, A- Excellant Assignad to companies that have, in our opinion, an excellent abllity to meet thslr ongoing
2 obligations to policyholders.
w B++, B+ Vary Good Asslgned to companies that have, in our opinion, a good ability to meet thelr cngoing
ohbligations to policyhalders.

B, B- Fair Assigned 1o companias that bave, in our opinion, a fair ability 1o mest their currant obliga-
tions to policyholders, but are financially vuinerable to adverse changes in underwriting
and economic condilions.

C++, C+ Marginal Assigned to companies that have, in our opinion, a marginal ability to meet thelr current
obligations to paolicyholders, but ara financially vulnerable to adverse changes In under-
writing and gconomic condilions.

C, G- Weak Assigned to companies \hat have, in our opinien, 2 weak ability to meat their current
obligations to policyholders, but are lnanclally very vulnerable to adverse changes In

o undsarwriting and economic conditions.

-g D Poor Assigned to companies lhat, in our opinion, may not have an ability lo meet their current

s obligations to policyhelders and ara financially extremely vulnerable to adverse changes in

i underwriling and ecanomic conditions.

g E Under Assigned to companies (and possibly their subsidiaries/affilates) that have been placed by an
Regulatory insuranca regulatory aulhority undear a significant form of supervision, control or restraint wherne-
Supervision by they are no longer alliowed o conduct normal ongoing insurance operalions. This would

include conservatorship or rehabilitation. but does not mclude Tiquidation. |t may also be assigned
to companies issued cease and desisl orders by requlators outsids their homa state or country.

F In Liquidation Assigned to companies that have been placed under an ordar of liquidalion by a court of
law or whose owners have voluntarily agreed 1o llquidate the company. Note: Companies
that voluntarily liquidate or dissolve thelr charters are generally not insolvent.

S Suspended Assignad to compantes that have experienced sudden and significant events affecting their
balance sheet strength or operating performance and whose rating implicalions cannot be
evalualed due 1o a lack of timely or adequata Information.

Rating Modifiers and Affiliation Codes

A rating modifier can be assigned to indicate that a Best's Raling may be subject to near-term change {under review), that a com-
pany did not subscribe to Besl's interaclive rating process (public data) and thal the rating is assigned to a syndicate operating at
Lloyd's. Affiliation codes (g, p, and r) are added 1o Besl's Ratings to identify companies whose assigned ralings are based on group,
pooling or reinsurance affilialion with other insurers,

Modifier Descriplor Definltion -
u Under Review A modifier that genarally is event-driven {positive, negative or developing) and Is assigned

o 4 to a company whose Best's Rating opinion is under review and may be subject o change
c é in the near-termn, generally defined as six months.
® O pd Public Data Assigned to insurers that do not subscribe to Best's interactiva rating process. Best's “pd”
1ot E‘:’ Ralings reflect qualitative and quantitative analyses using public data and information.

s Syndicate Assigned to syndicales operating at Lioyd's.

Affiliation Codes [ g | Group ['p | Pooled jr | Reinsured

Not Rated Categories {NR)

Assigned to companies reported on by A.M, Besl, but not assignaed a Best's Rating. The five calegories are:

NR-1: Insufficient Data. NR-2: Insufficient Size and/or Cparaling Experience. NR-3: Raling Procedure Inapplicable.
NR-4: Company Request. NR-5: Not Formally Followed.
Rating Cutlook

Best's interactive Ralings {A++ to D) are assigned a Rating Outlook that indicates the polential diraction of a company's raling for
an intermediale period, generally defined as iha next 12 to 36 months, Rating Oullooks, which appear in the raling rationala sec-
lion of the company's Best's Company Report, are as follows:

Positive Indicates a company's financial/market trends are favorable, relative to its current rating level and, If continued, the
company has a good possibility of having its raling upgraded.

Negalive Indicates a company is experiencing unfavorabls financial/market trends, relalive to lts cument rating level and, if
continued, the company has a good possibility of having its rating downgraded.

Stable Indicates a company is exparencing stable financial/markel trends and thera is a low likelihood that its rating wil

changes in the near term.

Best's Ratings are distributed via press release and/or the A.M. Best Web site at www.ambest.com, and ara published in the Rating
Monitor section of BestWeek®. Best's Ratings ara proprietary and may not be reproduced without permission.
Copyright @ 2003 by A.M. Best Company, Inc. Version 071503
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®
The Insurance Information Source

A.M. Best Co., established in 1899, is the world's oldest

and most authoritative source of insurance company rat-

ings. Best's Ratings are the definitive symbol signifying

the financial strength and operating performance of

insurance companies worldwide. For more information,

visit A.M. Best's Web site at bilp./Sunvw.ambest.com, or
contact one of our offices:

AM. Best Company
Ambest Road
Oldwick, New Jersey 08858
Phone: (908) 439-2200
Fax: (908) 439-3296
htep://wrerew. ambest.com

AM. Best Europe Ltd
1 Minster Court, 11th Floor
Mincing Lanc
London, England EC3R 7AA
Phone: 011-44-207-626-6264
Fax: 011-44-207-626-6265
www.ambest.com.uk

A.M. Best International Itd
A.M. Best House
264 Northficld Avenue
London, England W5 4UB
Phone: 011-44-208-579-1001
Fax: 011-44.208-566-1789
www.ambest.com.uk

AM. Best Asla-Pacific Lrd.
207, 9/F Shui On Centre
6-8 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Phone: 011-852-2824-1107
Fax: 011-852-2824-1833
www.ambest.com.hk
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Tab (c)

The information in this Tab (c) responds to Item (c) of the Notice:

“(c) identify the Plan’s [Capital BlueCross’] funds dedicated, allocated or expended
for charitable purposes in 2002 and 2003, and those planned for 2004 through
20086.”
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CBC’s Commitment to its Communities

in Item (c) of the Notice, the Department asks CBC to identify the amount expended for
“charitable purposes” in 2002 and 2003 as well as the amounts to be allocated for such
purposes in the next few years. And, in its prior information request on January 5, 2004,
the Department earlier sought a description of “social mission® activity in 2002 and 2003,
Since CBC is not a charity and the term “charitable” is subject to misinterpretation, and
since CBC's enabling act does not include a “social mission,” CBC believes the best and
most informative approach to these questions is to identify expenses incurred in
fulfilment of CBC’s statutory responsibilities under its enabling act, the Hospital Plan
Corporation Act (40 Pa. C.S.A. § 6101 et seq.).

As a threshold matter, it is important to note that CBC has traditionally and voluntarily
engaged in activities intended to benefit the residents of and the communities located
within its 21-county service area. As explained in more detail below, we serve as an
“‘insurer” of last resort, and we provide an individual (non-group) program that is not
medically underwritten, in a market where few other insurers are even willing to enter.
These activities are so much a fundamental part of what we do, that they are embedded
in our regular business costs. For this very reason, it is difficult to present a fully
comprehensive picture, and because these expenses are part of the fabric of our
company, they should be viewed in that broad context.

CBC's Mission: Operating a Nonprofit Hospital Plan

(i) Some Background

CBC, like other Blue Cross Plans, was bomn in the Depression. The Blue Cross
movement was grounded in the twin American principles of self-help and pragmatism.

Formed by local area hospitals (the founders included Carlisle Hospital, Harrisburg
Hospital and the Harrisburg Polyclinic Hospital), CBC was established as a hospital plan
corporation under the Hospital Plan Corporation Act. As such, CBC is engaged in the
business of maintaining and offering a “nonprofit hospital plan,” which is defined in the
Act as:

A plan whereby for prepayment, periodical or lump sum payment
hospitalization or related health benefits may be provided to subscribers
to such plan. § 6101.

The nonprofit hospital plan serves as a prepayment mechanism for hospital care to
mitigate the fear of unexpected hospital expenses for subscribers. Over the years, CBC
has successfully provided this service to its communities and fulfilled its statutory
purposes and responsibilities.
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(i} CBC’s Nonprofit Hospital Plan

CBC operates its nonprofit hospital plan in a 21 county service area in Central
Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley where it is licensed to operate as a Blue Cross plan
by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association.

In connection with the operation of its nonprofit hospital plan, CBC has voluntarily
undertaken activities intended to benefit the residents of its service area.

Among other things, CBC has historically and voluntarily assumed the role of “insurer of
last resort” for residents of its service area (well before the advent of HIPAA
requirements). That is, CBC has provided pre-paid access to hospitalization benefits
(regardless of health status) to the non-group market. Since we began operating as a
full-service health plan on April 1, 2002 — without our former business partner — CBC
has continued its tradition of serving as “insurer of last resort” in the non-group market in
conjunction with its wholly-owned subsidiary, CAIC.

Commercial health insurers have traditionally maintained the profitability of their health
insurance in the non-group market by either refusing coverage for those Pennsylvanians
with significant pre-existing health problems or charging significantly higher premiums;
they have often structured rates in a manner such that they are higher based upon
health status or age at the time of enroliment.?

CBC, on the other hand, has voluntarily offered coverage in the non-group market that is
community rated {(with no differential rating due to age or health status) and, through
continuous open enrollment, has served all Pennsylvanians in Central Pennsylvania and
the Lehigh Valley who desire such coverage.

In evaluating the expenses incurred by CBC in operating a nonprofit hospital plan and in
fulfilling its statutory responsibilities, it is important to note that CBC has not generated a
profit on any of its underwritten business (i.e., non-group, community rated, and
experience rated) for many years. As noted by the President and Chief Executive
Officer of CBC in his statement before the Insurance Commissioner on September 4,
2002:

Thus, all unassigned reserves growth can be attributed solely to the eamnings from our
investment portfolio. Not one penny of premium dollar has gone into our reserves in the
past six years.

To illustrate the point, set forth below is a chart (included in our prior filing) showing
underwriting results for the past seven years:

2 1t might be noted that the Department’s current proposal for small group reform -- which has been
shared with the Lepislature -- would give for profit-insurers with less than 10% market share the statutory
authority to medically underwrite.
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Underwriting Losses: Capital BlueCross and
Capital Advantage Insurance Company
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Recently, there has been an unprecedented escalation of health care costs nationwide
and in Central Pennsyivania and the Lehigh Valley, and competition among payors has
intensified. Particularly under these circumstances, CBC felt it was necessary to draw
upon its investment income and surplus in an attempt to hold down the level of health
care premiums for its subscribers.

In a very real sense, losses resulting from competitive pressures on CBC's nonprofit
hospital plan are used in the promotion of health in our service area.

(i)  The Individual Market

CBC’s commitment to the individual market includes programs such as Direct Pay,
Special Care, AdultBasic and CHIP.

The Direct Pay programs consist of various products offered to individual account
subscribers in the non-group market, including Traditional, Comprehensive, Security
{Medicare supplemental), HIPAA Eligible Comprehensive, and the Health Care Tax
Credit Comprehensive (a program for displaced workers certified to receive certain
Trade Adjustment Assistance benefits and for individuals who are receiving benefits
from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation).

The Special Care program offers affordable coverage with no deductibles to low-income
individuals.

The adultBasic program offers basic insurance benefits to uninsured, low-income aduit
Pennsylvanians. The adultBasic enrollee is responsible for payment of a very modest
premium {and although supported by the Commonwealth, even after government
reimbursement, the program still generates a net loss).

£
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The CHIP program offers comprehensive medical henefits (along with dental and vision)
to uninsured, low-income children in Pennsylvania.

(iv)  Voluntary Activities

CBC voluntarily provides financial and other assistance to organizations that promote
health such as the Children’s Miracle Network, the Salvation Army, Special Olympics,
the American Red Cross, the American Diabetes Association, the Susan Bymes Health
Education Center and the United Way—just to name a few.

CBC also provides other voluntary assistance, financial and otherwise, to relieve
poverty, advance education and otherwise benefit the community. Examples of these
include, contributions to the Boys and Girls Club, the Hemlock Girl Scout Council, the
Latin Alliance, the Whitaker Center, the YMCA/YWCA, Channels Food Rescue, the
Allied Arts Fund, Big Brothers Big Sisters, Habitat for Humanity, and various colleges
and universities.

An added element to our other voluntary activities are the numerous other efforts that we
engage in that may relieve poverty, advance education, promote health, government or
municipal purposes, and other purposes beneficial to the community that also arguably
advance a business interest for CBC. Examples of these include sponsoring events for
local Chambers of Commerce (Lancaster County Business Group on Health), partnering
with economic development organizations (TeamPA), educational programs
(“BrainBusters” and the “Great Teacher Award” program), local hockey and baseball
teams, orchestras, theaters, foundations, associations and local public television. This
includes assisting in various ways with fundraisers for these organizations.

{v} Other Contributions to the Commonwealth

CBC is exempt from payment of local property taxes to the municipalities in which CBC
has facilities. Nonetheless, consistent with its voluntary community commitment, and in
order to be a “good corporate nelghbor" to the communities in which it is headquartered
CBC has voluntarily made payments in lieu of real estate taxes.

When assessing expenditures made by CBC in connection with the operation of its
hospital plan, it is important to note that when CBC launched its full-service health plan,
after consideration of available alternatives and after consuitation with the Department,
circumstances dictated that CBC use its existing licensed subsidiary, CAIC, to contract
with professional providers and to underwrite medical surgical benefits. CBC’s decision
to use CAIC was prompted by the Department's traditional position that hospital plans
like CBC are prohibited from contracting directly with professional providers and
underwriting professional provider services and in light of the time-frames associated
with any other alternative. Beginning on April 1, 2002, as a commercial insurer, CAIC
began to pay the 2% premium tax on all business that CAIC underwrites. This
generates significant amounts of revenue for the Commonwealth. In spite of this, our
management and Board of Directors remain committed to ensuring a level of voluntary
community commitment consistent with and even exceeding that of prior years.

In addition, CBC' subsidiaries paid various taxes (depending upon the particular
subsidiary, capital stock taxes, sales and use taxes, and state income taxes).
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(vi)  Expenditures in 2002 and 2003
Set forth below is a chart of the foregoing expenditures in 2002 and 2003.

We first identify consolidated underwriting losses. We then separately identify those
losses incurred for the individual (direct pay) market because of the importance of
making quality health insurance available to this segment of our population. We also list
amounts spent for voluntary activities undertaken for the benefit of the communities in
our service area as well as other contributions made to the Commonwealth.

CBC's Volunfary Community Amount Spent Amount Spent
Commitment 2002 2003
1. Total Underwriting Losses by CBC ($78,661,655) ($73,810,000)
and CAIC
2. Underwriting Losses in the Individual INFORMATION [ _INFORMATON
" ; COMTENTIONALLY, £ [ IRTENTIONARL Y

Market (included in 1 above) OMITTED = OMITTED
3. Voluntary Activities”™ ($1,148,800)" ($1,168,388)
4. Other Contributions to Commanwealth ($8,015,112) ($24,616,191)
(State, Federal, Local and Premium
Tax)®

Projections for 2004 through 2006

In the upcoming years, CBC anticipates supporting our past efforts in the individual
market, voluntary activities and other contributions to the Commonwealth consistent with
and even exceeding our efforts in previous years. In spite of the general economic
downturn and in spite of CBC's inability {due to market conditions) to generate
underwriting gains, and absent unforeseen circumstances that may warrant a
reconsideration, CBC presently plans on increasing our commiiment to these voluntary
activities by approximately 5% over the next three years (2004, 2005 and 2006).

Further, CBC's management and Board of Directors has under consideration funding a
number of special projects that would accomplish significant steps towards the
advancement of education and the promotion of health for our communities. The
projects under consideration, when finalized, would increase the amount committed to
voluntary community education and health-related purposes by well over $1,000,000.

As indicated in our response to Iltem {d), the Department’s failure to approve increased
rates for individual {(non-group) programs is resulting in losses of nearly $1,000,000 per
month. Of course, this significantly increases our commitment to the Individual Market.
At the same it may require us to reduce expenditures in other areas of benefit to our
communities, and it forces us to reduce our surplus at a rate in excess of our prior
projections.

# Does not include KHPC.
% An approximation based upon 2003 activities.
¥ Does not include KHPC.
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Our projections for 2004 through 2006 may be re-assessed depending upoen the amount
of any losses resulting from competitive pressures and increased provider costs facing
the operation of CBC's nonprofit hospital plan.

CBC's management and Board of Directors are able to continue these voluntary
contributions to our communities during these difficult economic times because we have
been strong stewards of our assets over the last 65 years. To a very large extent, our
ability to continue these commitments resulted from the decision to build a strong and
economically viable company. If for any reason CBC's ability to plan for the future and
to control the strategic use of its capital and surplus is restricted by the Depariment, we
could be forced to reduce the scope of these commitments.
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Tab (d)

The information in this Tab (d) responds to ltem (d) of the Notice:

“(d)  provide a proposed business plan explaining how any maintained surplus that
results in an RBC ratio that is in excess of the maximum RBC ratio will be fairly
and equitably distributed to benefit plan participants and the Commonwealth’s
underinsured and uninsured citizens in a manner befitting charitable and
benevolent institutions such as the Blues Plans.”
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CBC’s Capital and Surplus are Adequate, But Not Excessive

The management and Board of Directors of CBC have concluded that the capital and
surplus currently held is adequate, but not excessive, faking into consideration our
current obligations, the need for flexibility o meet unforeseen contingencies and future
business plans.

We arrived at that conclusion after considering various quantitative and qualitative
factors that we believe need to be evaluated as part of a dynamic exercise and taking
into consideration the matters more particularly discussed in our response to ltem (b) of
this Application. In brief summary, such factors include:

The need for adequate funds to ensure that claims of members, participating
providers and vendors are timely paid, particularly considering that CBC is not
permitted to parlicipate in the Pennsylvania Guarantee Fund.

The need for funds to meet unforeseen contingencies such as large,
unanticipated increases in utilization of health services arising out of epidemics,
terrarist threais and other catastrophes.

The limited ability on the company’s part to access capital markets to fund the
growth and development of new products and services, new infrastructure (such
as investment in new claims processing, data and telephone systems, and
developing new operating facilities).

The fact that our company can only look internally to meet anticipated capital
needs.

CBC's unique status as the “insurer of last resort” for non-group coverage and
the financial consequences of serving in this position.

The desire on CBC’s part to continue offering non-group (direct pay) programs at
affordable rates for individual subscribers residing in our service area.

The failure on CBC's part to generate underwriting profits for the past seven
years.

The new and fiercely competitive level of competition in CBC’s market -
competition with CBC’s former business partner® as well as new, well funded
entrants in CBC's service area.

% In a Standard & Poors Ratings Direct Research Report published August 12, 2003, Standard & Poor's
rates our former business partner and now competitor and includes the following statement in its
description of “Major Rating Factors™ notes: “Competition is expected to remain fierce in the region where
Highmark and Capital BlueCross have been competing on price.” Steven Ader & Jacob L. Schlanger,

Research: Summary: Highmark Inc. (d/b/a Highmark BCBS & Highmark Blue Shield), Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Direct (Aug. 12, 2003).
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« The demographics of the market (reflecting an aging population that draws
heavily upon health care resources).

e The growing volatility of health care costs.

» A restrictive regulatory environment (which has impeded CBC's ability to flexibly
and quickly adjust to changing market conditions).’

» The importance the company places on providing continued, uninterrupted
coverage fo its customers, even in the most turbulent times and even after a
catastrophic event.

* A variety of other economic and industry variables.

In further support of this conclusion, we have attached as Exhibit (d)-1 a report prepared
by Douglas B. Sherlock, CFA of Sherlock Company, further documenting the particular
risks facing CBC and its policyholders and explaining the importance of reserves and
surplus for CBC and its policyholders at this point in CBC’s history.

As indicated by the President and Chief Executive Officer of CBC in his testimony before
the Insurance Commissioner on September 4, 2002:

Pennsylvanians know they can always count on the Blues to be there when they
need them. We believe we have an obligation to conduct our affairs in a manner
that assures we will never forsake that trust. In essence we must, through good
times and bad, ensure that the medical expenses of individuals we insure are
covered. We must be able to do this regardless of medical inflation, government
mandates, catastrophic events or any of a host of other issues. Itis our
contractual responsibility and our goal to provide this service year in and year
out. Our reserves are one of the prime ways we ensure we will always be able to
full our trust with our customers.

How our Surplus Developed

Beginning in 1992, CBC began a multi-year effort to rebuild a capital and surplus base
that had been severely depleted over the prior half decade. From 1987 through 1991,
CBC experienced cumulative underwriting losses of $178 million. These losses were

the result of unprecedented increases in health care costs experienced throughout the

' In a March 1, 2004 article in Business Wire concerning A.M. Best’s downgrade of the financial rating of
our former business partner and now competitor, one of the reasons given for the downgrade is as follows:
“Pennsylvania's insurance regulator will scrutinize Highmark’s surplus and reserve levels and quality any
excess by mid-2004. Any resulting surplus and claim reserve caps and mandated policy holder refunds
could hinder Highmark's -- and the other not-for-profit Blue plans® — ability to weather any softening of
the pricing market for health insurance products, as well as an equity market downturn and/or deterioration
in the credit market, should they occur. The regulator’s analysis -- and resulting mandate — wounld not
apply to the commonwealth’s for-profit health underwriters, potentially placing the Blues at a financial
strength disadvantage.” {Emphasis supplied.) A.M. Best Affirm Majority of Highmark's Financial
Strength Ratinps: Affirms Debt Rating and Revises Both Outlooks to Negative, Business Wire {(March 1,
2004).
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country as well as the refusal on the part of the Department to approve requested
increases in rates to offset these costs.

As a result, at the end of 1991, CBC found itself with only $124 million of capital and
surplus. This amounted to only 1.5 months of claim reserves®™—a financial position
deemed to be precarious and inconsistent with management's and our Board of
Director's goal to be a strong and secure financial institution—ready to meet virtually all
needs of our subscribers, providers and other stakeholders. At the time we were being
formally monitored by both the BCBSA and the Department.

The 1990’s brought with it many favorable trends that allowed CBC to build its capital
and surplus to a strong and secure position: appropriate rate increases to stem the
huge losses we experienced in our direct pay products, a leveling off of the trend in
medical costs as the concepis of “managed care,” utilization review” and “cost
containment” impacted the marketplace, very favorable investment markets that
produced historically high returns on our investment portfolio, and a voluntary hold on
significant capital investments in systems development and numerous other initiatives
while CBC undertook a lengthy and diligent process to determine its long-term future
through evaluation of a number of different partnership, merger and acquisition
possibilities. After several years, in large part as a result of this process, but also
because of the actions of our former business partner, CBC determined io remain
independent and to launch a full-service health plan focusing on the needs of Central
Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley. This decision necessarily took into account the
availability of surplus to fund the needed infrastructure investment for our new business
enterprise.

The growth in our surplus, however, was not achieved “on the backs” of our subscribers.
in fact, since 1991, CBC has had a cumulative underwriting loss of approximately $40
million. Furthermore, we have had year after year of underwriting losses since 1997,
forcing us t0 draw upon our surplus and investment income. Our losses since our break
up with our former business partner have been especially large as we were forced to
expedite the development of new systems, products and networks, which had been
deferred during the 1990's. In addition, the new millennium brought a resurgence of
extraordinary increases in medical costs as managed care and other cost containment
activities became less popular at the same time as new (and expensive) technologies
became more mainstream as well as huge increases in the cost of pharmaceuticals.

All of these factors have resulted in a significant depletion of our capital and surplus
base and are expected to continue to negatively impact our financial position for the next
few years.

Community Commitment

In CBC’s response to ltem (c) of this Application, CBC identifies past and projected
expenditures for those voluntary activities undertaken for the benefit of the residents of
its service area. Increases in such expenditures for the years 2004 through 2005 are
not reflected in the confidential Business Pian described below.

28 RBC for Health Plans was not introduced until 2000.

AR

CBC 00083



It is important to note, in evaluating these types of expenditures that CBC is governed by
the Hospital Plan Corporation Act and, under that Act, operates a nonprofit hospital plan.
The Act does not include any reference to a “social mission.” While CBC’s Board of
Directors has voluntarily undertaken a number of commitments for the benefit of the
residents of and communities located within CBCs' 21-county service area, CBC is not a
“charity” and has never operated as such. By law, CBC cannot accept donations, and
we must pay taxes — in fact as shown in the chart in the response to ltem (c) above, we
paid substantial amounts in Federal, State, Local and Premium taxes in the last two
years.

Confidential Business Pian

When CBC was considering evolving into a full-service, fully integrated health plan in the
fall of 2001, the Department requesfed CBC to submit a business plan. The plan was
requested in order to satisfy concerns, repeatedly expressed by the senior members of
the Department, that CBC's projected surplus levels would be sufficient for CBC to
compete against its former business partner and others in Central Pennsylvania and the
Lehigh Valley. The concerns a short two years ago were not that CBC had too much
surplus, but rather, whether it had enough fo effectively compete against its former
business partner as well as other strong competitors in Central Pennsylvania and the
Lehigh Valley.

We are deeply concerned in that CBC relied on the Department’s review of that business
plan and its understanding of our business needs going forward. We have already
invested significant funds in developing infrastructure and have planned for significant
additional expenditures on the assumption that our surplus would be available to fund
such expenditures. Indeed, as should be obvious, our very decision in 2001 to remain
an independent healith plan and to launch our new business enterprise as a stand-
alone, full-service health insurer committed to the residents of Central
Pennsylvania and Lehigh Valley as our exclusive focus (rather than merge into a
larger, multi-state consolidator} was based upon this assumption. Continued
availability of our surplus is, in fact, essential for successful implementation of the -
business plan.

Attached as Exhibit (d)-1 is a copy of the confidential business plan submitted in
September of 2001.

In fact, we believe that the resulting surplus reductions we expect to realize in the next
year cannot be sustained and have us remain a competitive force in this marketplace. In
selecting carriers, certain major customers in CBC's service area place significant
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emphasis on how well carriers have demonstrated financial stability as shown by the
ratings published by independent rating agencies such as A.M. Best (indeed, some
customers prefer doing business with insurers that have the higher ratings from A.M.
Best). This past year we received a public information rating from Best of B++ and, in
view of our 2003 operating losses, continuing competitiveness in our marketplace and
the poor regulatory environment that exists in Pennsylvania, there could be further
downgrade.

We are quickly approaching a point where we will no longer be able to carry the
significant underwriting losses we have sustained in the past few years as we are being
doubly impacted by not only surplus reductions, but also the loss of related investrment
income. Further, the Department's refusal to approve requested rate increases for our
individual products will only result in much larger increases in the future in order to bring
these products up to an acceptable level. #

Conclusions

First, CBC does not have excess surplus. CBC has an approximate level of surplus
commensurate with prudent management. The Notice only requests a plan for reducing
excess surplus to the extent that CBC has excess surplus and, therefore, CBC was not
required to submit such a plan and has not submitted such a plan in this Application.

Second, we do not believe the Department’s authority to regulate surplus gives it the
authority to require us to submit a proposed business plan for purposes of distributing
any alleged excess surplus fo third parties.

Third, we do not believe the Department has the authority to distribute or to require us to
distribute “excess” surplus, if any, to anyone, including but not limited to plan participants
and the Commonwealth’s underinsured and uninsured citizens.

Fourth, we do not believe surplus can or should be calculated on a stafic basis by using
such formulas as RBC. -

Fifth, we believe that in the normal course of business, CBC's surplus will be reduced in
the near-term.

Sixth, CBC has fully explained how its current level of surplus is consistent with both its
current requirements and with the plan that it proposed to the Depariment in 2001 in light
of the Department's concems about the termination of the Joint Operating Agreement.
There is no basis on which to conclude that the judgments of the Board of Directors in
this regard in 2001 or now and the judgment of the Department in 2001 should be
disturbed.

Seventh, we do not believe the Departrment can use RBC to measure excess surplus or
to force CBC to select a maximum RBC ratio selected from the range suggested in the
Notice.

% Capital calculates that the Department’s failure to approve increased rates for individual non-group
products is resulting in losses of nearly $1,000,000 per month.
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Exhibit (d)-1

Economists Report
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The Challenge of Capital for CBC

The amount of capital held should reflect not only the measured amount of risk, but also
an adequate "cushion" above that amount to take account of potential uncertainties in
risk measurement.

Supervision and Regulation Letter

SR 99-18 (SUP)

July 1, 1999

Division of Banking

Supervision and Regulation

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

Capital for health plans must be sufficient to operate safely for current members and
adequate to support competitive strategies, such as growth, which benefit consumers.
Capital BlueCross’ (CBC) capital needs are larger because of its non-profit heritage, its
status under federal tax law, the riskiness of its business, the highly competitive nature
of its market, the presence of new, well-funded entrants and the heightened capital
needs in this increasingly information system-intensive industry.

1. CBC is non-profit, not owned by investors. Capital is hard to raise and retain for
such plans.

Figure 1. Caplial BlueCross

CBC is a non-profit health plan, and is not (g cross Bi i ins. 1980-2002
owned by investors. Accordingly, it has 4% - !
less access to capital since equity offerings 2% i
are unavailable. Moreover, over the 0%

Ionger term, it has less flexibility in its Z%

capital  structure:  Unlike  public :: ' o

companies, it is unable to return capital to 1B80 1883 1886 1089 1992 1995 1998 2001
i wh win All BCBS Plans

ll‘S. © . ers kno & that, Shou%d need Source; PULSE Blues Insert December 2003

arise, it may go back to them to raise more

equity.

This means that CBC's only source of equity must come from internal sources, such as
profits. Moreover, since profitability
trends for health plans are volatile, profits 7952 If::‘:"?.: B8 @ ctedt Flan
must be stockpiled in profitable years to

maintain safe operations in unprofitable 8%

years. Figure 1 illustrates the cyclical 21%

nature of health plan operations among 14% ,

Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans. L e )
-Publicn=10 h --rl;luasn=13” .

For-profit health plans have strategies

A Sourca: PULSE Blues Insert December 2003
available to them that are generally not

70

CBC 00087



available to Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans. As shown in Figure 2, public companies
generally operate with far lower levels of equity than their counterpart Blue Cross Blue
Shield Plans. In the aggregate for-profit health plans have raised $4.7 billion in the
equity markets since 1987. This is not an alternative available to CBC.

At the local level, this difference is also
apparent. In California, a publicly-traded  [T/8ure 3. Capltal BlusCross

. 2003 ilal io Revenyes: Califomi
Blue Cross Blue Shield Plan competes 18%~ -
with an independent non-profit Blue 18% !
Cross Blue Shield Plan, providing a e —

unique insight to the differences in capital '

structure required of these types of Plans, :;: !_ . _ N
while making it possible to hold constant WellPoinl  Biue Cross Blus Shield
the effects of the Blue identity. ofCA  ofCA

Source: PULSE Blues inseit Decambar 2003

Figure 3 shows that in California, Blue

Cross of California, a subsidiary of publicly traded WellPoint, operates with less equity
to operating revenues compared to its non-profit competitor Blue Shield of California.
The three percentage point difference in this ratio between Blue Cross of California and
Blue Shield of California highlights the fact that non-profit health plans must
accumulate internally generated equity to a greater extent than that of publicly-traded
plans because external financing through capital markets is not an option for non-profit
plans. Put a different way, non-profit Blue Shield has 25% more capital per dollar of
revenues than for-profit Blue Cross.

The same need to operate at high levels of [Figure 4. Capital BlusCross

capital is also apparent in the proportion of |Netlovest.incomess %ol Prelexincome: CA
income that must be generated from non- 8%
profits” investment portfolio. Figure 4 5%
illustrates that the non-profit in California is %
far more dependent on its investment
portfolio than is its for-profit counterpart.
For non-profit plans, higher proportions of WellPoint Biue Cross ofBlue Shield of
investment income to pretax income offer CA CA
protection by providing a significant, stable cash flow stream that can be used to
continue operations and sustain capital levels during unprofitable years, especially since
external equity financing is unavailable.

2%

D%

2. CBC, as a faxable non-profit, has diminished abilities to retain earnings, even
when it is profitable.

Like many Blue Plans, CBC is in a paradoxical situation with respect to its ability to
maintain adequate capital. On one hand, as a non-profit, it may not employ the capital
markets to raise equity capital. On the other hand, under changes in federal tax laws in
the late 1980s, it is effectively fully taxable, like for-profit health plans. In other words,
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CBC lacks both the ability to raise capital
in the public equity markets, while having
diminished ability to reftain its earnings
because it is subject to federal income
taxes.

The implications of this are seen in Figure
5. A health plan in CBC's circumstances
must operate at far higher profit margins

Flgure 5, Capltal BlusCroas
Pre-lax income a5 a Parcent of Premlum

25%
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5%,
0% e

et o wy L T

Taxabla Equivalent

Tax Free
Assumes 35% Tax Rale

than would be the case if it were tax exempt. This need is especially critical since the

health plan business is highly volatile.

3. CBC is engaged in an infrinsically risky business, health coverage in
Pennsylvania. It is inherently more capital-intensive owing to high and volatile

health care costs.

Health care is more expensive in
Pennsylvania. The best available
information, from the Kaiser Family

Foundation, presented in Figure 6, illustrates
that Pennsylvania ranked eighth in the
nation in its per capita cost, 11% higher than
the US. average. Other health care metrics,
including admissions per thousand, E/R
visits per thousand and prescriptions per
capita are also much higher.

Figure 7 illustrates one reason why this is
the case. Pennsylvanians are older than
most Americans, with a smaller proportion
of young people and a larger proportion of
seniors than the United States as a whole.

Another factor contributing to high health
care costs is malpractice costs. According to
the Pennsylvania Medical Society,
malpractice insurance premiums average
two to three times that of comparable
insurance in California. Figure 8 illustrates
this. Malpractice premiums understate the
effect of high malpractice costs since it is
probable that a more aggressive, defensive
style of medicine accompanies this
insurance envirorunent.

Also, anecdotal evidence suggests that it is
more difficult for health plans in

Figure 6. Capltal BlueCross
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Pennsylvania to negotiate with hospitals than in other markets. This is not only the case
in rural hospitals but also in geographically complex markets. This is significant in that
the ability of a health plan to reduce the costs of health care is dependent on its
bargaining power. To the degree that hospitals possess effective monopoly power,
health plans are unable to negotiate Iower costs.

Finally, health care inflation is high and  [[/8ue?- Ca2 BlueCross
volatile,. These two factors create am  |qge -

unusually high need for capital to operate
safely. Figure 9 shows that health care
inflation is higher than inflation for all items
in the Consumer Price Index.

1982 1988 1980 1664 1088 2002

Figure 10 illustrates the volatilities of health
care inflation and general inflation: It is not
only more volatile but evidently getting
more so0. In the period from 1982 to 1992 the average spread between the difference from
the mean for health care inflation and the difference from the mean for CPI was 1.2
percentage points. After 1992 the average spread widened to 1.9 percentage points.

—&— Changa in per Caplla Health Spondiing — 8 Change In CA

4. CBC, along with other Blue Cross Blue

Shield Plans in Pennsylvania, operates 1 e e, GOl
with unique competitive pressures, 8% —-
increasing its need for capital. 4%

s )
Since, unlike most states, Pennsylvania Blue 0%
Plans compete with each other with Zh ¥
branded and unbranded products, they lack “‘“"1;;2““‘1;{;“ T v 1 2002
the valuable differentiating attribute of the — e quapn

exclusive right to employ the Blue name
and mark. In other words, while a respected
brand, like Blue Cross or Cadillac, would be expected to mute the effects of competitive
pressures, this protection is unavailable to CBC since it competes with Highmark Blue
Shield in its service area.

5. CBC faces tough new competition, necessitating more capital.

In recent years, CBC has faced new Figure 11, Capltal BlueCross

competitive challenges. These include new New Enlmanls via Intemal Develgpment and Acquisition
health plans entering CBC's principal service

areas in central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh
Valley, including both Highmark and public
companies.

Coveniry Health Care of PA {commercial)
Health Net {commercial)
Highmark Blue Shield (commercial)

Since 2000 Source: PA Depl. Hesith, Buresu of Managed Care

Highrrark in CBC servica ereas, accomding lo BCBSA website.

Coventry’s success, through both internal _ 8 lo BL .
Olher Public: Mid Allantic Medical, via phone Interview,

growth and acquisition, and the termination
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of the Joint Operating Agreement with Highmark are among the most significant
changes. CBC operates in one of the few areas nationally in which more than one Blue
Plan compete in the same market. Mid Atlantic Medical, recently acquired by the giant
UnitedHealth Group system, now offers its products in both York and Harrisburg.

6. CBC, like other health plans, has significant needs for investment in information
systems.

Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans’ average
Information Systems (IS) costs of $24,873
per employee annually, which is over three
times as high, as compared with
approximately $7,342 per employee (based
on industry sources) for U.S. companies as a
whole. The high costs of information
systems stem from the intensive

Flgure 12. Capital BlueCrogs

. . 2000 2001 2002 AlLLLS.
transactions and member service Seurce: Snerock Expansa Evalation Repat, SCHS Plans sod housty

requirements of health plans. Consumer-

directed health care and other products demanded by consumers require significant
investment. In addition, members, employers and providers increasingly demand
simplified processing of enrollment, claims and other transactions, often employing
internet-based solutions, which requires additional investment.

Investments in information systems costs, while crucial to CBC’s long-term success, are

frequently expensed because of the hard-to-estimate expected life of these expenditures.
Similarly, it is also notable that such investments as are capitalized are of little value for
statutory reporting purposes.

Moreover, it appears that information systems expenses are increasing rapidly. Among
Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans IS costs per employee increased by 8.61% in 2001, from
$21,525 to $23,340. Information Systems costs per employee increased 6.39% in 2002 to
$24,874.

7. A determination of the appropriate amount of capital requires consideration of
objectlve and subjective factors.

The amount of equity necessary for safe operation and growth depends on the riskiness
of the CBC’s business. This should be estimated through a variety of quantitative and
qualitative means including modeling and or simulation.

Institutions should be able to demonstrate that their approach lo relating capital fo risk is

concepltually sound and that outputs and results are reasonable. Sensitivity analysis of
key inpuls and peer analysis could be used by an inslitution in assessing its approach.

SR 99-18 (SUP)
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Exhibit (d)-2

2001 Confidential Business Plan

75
CBC 00092




C-50 {1/2002)

pataly
VAV

4]

Capital BlueCross
March 22, 2004

Stephen J. Johnson Randolph L. Rohrbaugh
Deputy Commissioner Deputy Commissioner
Office of Corporate and Financial Office of Insurance Product Regulation and
Regulation Market Enforcement
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Insurance Department Insurance Deparlment
1326 Strawberry Square 1326 Strawberry Square
Harrisburg, PA 17120 Harrisburg, PA 17120

Re: Reguest for Confidential Treatment of Information

Dear Messrs. Johnson and Rohrbaugh:

Attached is one complete copy of Capital BlueCross' response to the January 5, 2004
request by the Pennsylvania Insurance Department {(“PID") for certain information,
together with one copy redacted to eliminate confidential information. Also attached is
an electronic version of the complete and redacted copies of our response.

We are requesting confidential freatment of the chart of losses on page 13. Such
information is not publicly available, and its disclosure could be advantageous to
competitors.

In accordance with the PID's instructions, we have stamped the chart on page 13 as
“Confidential,” and we have omitted the text of the chart in the redacted copy (indicating
that such information has been intentionally omitted).

You may direct any inquiries regarding the issue of confidential treatment to the
undersigned (717-541-7277).

Our separate cover letter indicates that we are submitting our response without waiver of
any objection to this proceeding.

Please contact me if you have any questions.
Very truly yours,

ey

Patricia K. Wong
Supervising Counsel

CBC 00093
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Capital BlueCross
REDACTED COPY March 22, 2004
Stephen J. Johnson Randolph L. Rohrbaugh
Deputy Commissioner Deputy Commissioner
Office of Corporate and Financial Office of Insurance Product Regulation and
Regulation Market Enforcement
Commonwealth of Pennsyivania Commonweaith of Pennsyivania
Insurance Department Insurance Department
1326 Strawberry Square 1326 Strawberry Square
Harrisburg, PA 17120 Harrisburg, PA 17120

Dear Messrs. Johnson and Rohrbaugh:

By means of a Notice published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin on January 16, 2004
(“Notice”), the Pennsylvania Insurance Department (“PID"} directed Capital BlueCross
(sometimes referred to as “Capital’ or “CBC") and the other Biue Plans to make
application on or before April 15, 2004 for approval of the reserves and surpluses they
maintain under their respective enabling acts.

In addition, in a letter dated January 5, 2004 (“Letter”) to the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Capital BlueCross, the PID requested submission of certain
additional information to be provided on or before March 22, 2004.

Without waiver of any objection to this proceeding by Capital (including, without limit,
Capital’s objection to the use of RBC for purposes of establishing maximum surplus for
Capital or that the Notice is a de facto regulation that is invalid since it was not
promulgated pursuant to the Commonwealth Documents Law}, and in reliance upon the
representations made at the March 17, 2004 preliminary injunction hearing by the PID's
witness and counsel before the Honorable Dan Pellegrini in the Commonwealth Court of
Pennsylvania, Capital submits its response to the Letter. Capital's response to the
information requested is set forth in Tabs {a) through (e) that correspond to the
Department’s lettered requests. This response to the Department's request for
information is not intended to be, nor shall it be deemed, an admission that such
information is relevant to a determination of excess surplus.

Please contact me if you have any guestions.
Very truly yours,

Dk g

Patricia K. Wong
Supervising Counsel
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Tab (a)

The information in this Tab (a) responds to the following request:

(a) For CBC and each insurance subsidiary, an independent actuarial review and
certification of all claims unpaid, accrued medical incentive pool and bonus
payments, unpaid claims adjuslment expenses, aggregate policy reserve,
aggregate claim reserves, and accident and health premiums due and
unpaid/premiums received in advance/unearned premiums posted to the
companies’ statutory annual statements for 2003, and such related accounts on
the life and property & casualty annual statement blanks, in order to assess the
statement of reserves, surplus and RBC ratios. The independent actuary must
be contracted to derive a point estimate for each of these items. The point
estimate shall be a “best” estimate. As such, the point estimate is to be neither
excessive nor deficient. The independent actuary will be required to document
these estimates and findings with a consolidated actuarial report sufficient to
allow another actuary to reproduce and verify the conclusions. This consolidated
documentation will include and detail, inter alia, all data, assumptions,
representations and analyses relied upon to derive the point estimate and to
conclude that it was a "best estimate.” The independent actuary must also find,
for each parent and insurance subsidiary, each reinsurance contract transfers
risk, and if such contract is with an affiliate, the terms are fair and reasonable.
CBC's selection and retention of the independent actuary will be at CBC’s
expense, and subject to the Department's approval.
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Response fo ltemn (a)

As the PID is aware, Capital has engaged John Stenson, a Principal with Deloitte &
Touche LLP, to perform an independent actuarial review and issue an opinion on certain
balances contained in the December 31, 2003 Annual Statement for Capital, Capital
Advantage Insurance Company ("CAIC") and Keystone Health Plan Central (“KHPC™).
Specifically, each opinion will address the following items:

« Claims Unpaid {Page 3, Line 1)
¢ Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses (Page 3, Line 3)
s Aggregate Policy Reserves (Page 3, Line 4)

Mr. Stenson will also address the transfer of risk in KHPC's 2003 reinsurance agreement
with Highmark Inc. and the faimess and reasonableness of the terms of such
agreement.

In addition, we have engaged Emnst & Young LLP to provide an “agreed upon
procedures” report that will address the non-actuarial balances specified in Iltem (a) of
the PID's January 5, 2004 letter. Specifically, Ernst & Young LLP will report on the
following items included in the December 31, 2003 Annual Statement of each entity:

e Accident and Health Premiums Due and Unpaid (Page 2, Line 12.1)
¢ Premiums Received in Advance {Page 3, Line 8)

Note that none of the companies carry a balance for the following Annual Statement
captions:

» Accrued Medical Incentive Pool and Bonus Payments (Page 3, Line 2)
» Aggregate Claim Reserves (Page 3, Line 7)

Neither Deloitte & Touche LLP nor Emst & Young LLP have completed the above-
mentioned reports. We expect to file these reports with the PID no later than April 15,
2004. However, in the interim, we are submitting on behalf of Capital, CAIC, and KHPC
each entity’s audited statutory financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, as well as actuarial opinions issued by Ernst & Young LLP as of
December 31, 2003. The foregoing financial statements and actuarial opinions are
attached as Exhibits (a)-1, (a)-2 and (a)-3 to this response to item (a).

Please note that the audited statutory financial statements are consistent with the

respective 2003 annual statements filed with the PID on or about March 1, 2004 and
specifically state each of the balances enumerated above.
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Exhibit (a)-1

Capital BlueCross

Audited Statutory-Basis Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
together with Actuarial Opinion issued by
Ernst & Young LLP as of December 31, 2003
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CAPITAL BLUE CROSS
Statutory-Basis Financial Statements and Supplemental Schedules

Years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 with Report of Independent Auditors
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Capital Blue Cross

Statutory-Basis Financial Statements and Supplemental Schedules

Years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
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1 & Ernst & Y Lp & Phane: (410} 539-7940
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Baltimore, Maryland 21202 WWw.ey.com

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
Capital Blue Cross

We have audited the accompanying statutory-basis balance sheet of Capital Blue Cross
(the Company) as of December 31, 2003, and the related statutory-basis statements of
operations, changes in unassigned funds and cash flow for the year then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
The statutory-basis financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2002 were audited by other auditors whose report dated May 15, 2003 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those statements as to a comprehensive basis of accounting other
than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

In our opinion, the 2003 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Capital Blue Cross at December 31, 2003 and
the results of its operations and its cash flow for the year then ended, in conformity with
accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Pennsylvania Insurance Department.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the December 31,
2003 statutory-basis financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying summary
investment schedule and schedule of investment risk interrogatories are presented to
comply with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ Annual Statement
Instructions and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ Accounting
Practices and Procedures Manual and are not a required part of the December 31, 2003
statutory-basis financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in our audit of the December 31, 2003 statutory-basis financial
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statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
December 31, 2003 statutory-basis financial statements taken as a whole.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the
Pennsylvania Insurance Department and is not intended to be and should not be used by

anyone other than these specified parties.
évmzt ¥ MLLP

March 12, 2004
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Capital Blue Cross

Balance Sheets - Statutory Basis

Admitted assets

Cash and short-term investments
Bonds

Preferred stocks

Common stocks—unaffiliated

Accounts receivable: N
Accident and health premiums due and unpaid
Health care receivables
Investment income due and accrued
Amounts due from subsidiaries and affiliates
Amounts receivable relating to uninsured accident
and health plans
Due from other plans
Premium call receivables
Total accounts receivable

Investment in subsidianies and affiliates
Investment in joint ventures

Other long-term invested assets

Net deferred tax asset

Advance deposits

Electronic data processing equipment and software
Real estate

Goodwill

Other

Total admitted assets

December 31

2003 2002
(In Thousands).
3 42,103 3 74253
332,539 357,475
803 4,997
131,353 106,640
2,151 4,357
36,218 42,729
4,132 4,700
26,018 34,225
5,506 5,490
19,153 27,154
3,427 7,066
96,605 125,721
64,476 24,760
21,298 98,514
158,288 170,482
— 15,547
747 1,856
3,317 4,490
28,580 25,200
9,822 -
729 8,413
$ 890,660 $ 1,018,348
CBC 00102
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December 31
2003 2002
(In Thousands)

Liabilities and unassigned funds :
Liabilities:

Claims unpaid $ 73,597 $ 198,884

Unpaid claims adjustment expenses 2,206 7,442

Apgregate policy reserves 10,037 39,142

Premiums received in advance 24,533 39,668

General expenses due or accrued 39,988 43,549

Federal income tax payable 43,377 5,526

Amounts withheld or retained for account of others 10,683 9,705

Amounts due to subsidiaries and affiliates 95,235 57,366

Liability for amounts held under uninsured accident

and health plans 1,667 10,618

Payments due others 42,846 54,733

National account equalization fund - 12,630

Other 31,014 20,306
Total liabilities 375,183 499,569
Unassigned funds 515,477 518,779
Total liabilities and unassigned funds $ 890,660 $ 1,018,348
See accompanying rotes.
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Capital Blue Cross

Statements of Operations — Statutory Basis

Net premium income

Hospital and medical benefits
Claims adjustment expenses
General administrative expenses
Total underwriting deductions

Underwriting gain (loss)

Net investment income earmed
Net realized capital (losses) gains
Other income, net

Income before federal income taxes

Federal income tax expense (benefit) incurred
Net income

See accompanying notes.

0311-0483898-PH

Year ended December 31
2003 2002
(In Thousands)

$ 408,042 $ 1,029,070
281,458 907,261
17,262 32,307
49,922 126,182
348,642 1,065,750
59,400 (36,680)
18,428 34,106
(2,474) 6,310
6,333 10,788
81,687 14,524
23,136 (20,340)

$ 58,551 $ 34,864
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Capital Blue Cross

Statements of Changes in Unassigned Funds — Statutory Basis

Balance of unassigned funds at beginning of year
Net income
Net unrealized capital gains and losses
Change in net deferred income taxes
Change in nonadmitted assets
Other

Balance of unassigned funds at end of year

See accompanying notes.
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Year ended December 31
2003 2002
(In Thousands)
$ 518,779 $ 610,662

58,551 34,864
42,649 (16,839)
41,807 (2,409)
(145,633) (107,499)
(676)

3 515,477 $ 518,779
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Capital Blue Cross

Statements of Cash Flow — Statutory Basis

Year ended December 31
2003 2002
(In Thousands)

Cash from operations

Premiums and revenues collected, net of reinsurance $ 409,831 $ 1,058,853
Claims and claims adjustment expenses paid (429,243) (1,008,899)
General administrative expenses paid (53,483) (124,065)
Cash used by underwriting (72,895) (74,111)
Net investment income 16,305 48,097
Other income 6,332 10,788
Federal income taxes recovered (paid) 14,716 (6,877)
Net cash used in operations (35,542) (22,103)
Cash from investments
Proceeds from investments sold, matured or repaid:
Bonds 858,762 734,512
Stocks 223,139 37,529
Other invested assets 1,000 1,736
Cost of investments acquired:
Bonds (826,143) (508,288)
Stocks (236,977) (50,476)
Real estate (4,704) (162)
Other invested assets (107,000) (225,000)
Net cash used in investments (91,923) (10,149)
Cash from miscellaneous sources
Other cash provided 95,315 24,452
Net decrease in cash and short-term investments (32,150) (7,800)
Cash and short-term investments at beginning of year 74,253 82,053
Cash and short-term investments at end of year $ 42,103 $ 747253

See accompanying notes.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

I. Organization and Operations

Capital Blue Cross (the Company) is incorporated as a nonprofit organization in the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is subject to regulation by the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania Insurance Department (PID). The Company is an independent licensee of
the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association (BCBSA).

Health care benefits are provided under contracts with subscribers. The Company
contracts with providers of health care who are paid under various payment agreements.
In addition to servicing its own subscriber base, the Company processes claims for other
Blue Cross Plans’ subscribers who use providers in the Company’s service area. The
Company’s service area consists of 21 counties within Central Pennsylvania and the
Lehigh Valley.

On September 10, 2001, Highmark, Inc. (Highmark) terminated a joint operating
agreement to provide health care coverage to consumers in the Company’s service area.
This resuited in the end of a long-standing relationship between the Company, which
provided coverage of hospital services, and Highmark, which provided coverage of
physician services. Dissolution of the relationship became effective April 1, 2002, At this
time, the Company began underwriting all renewed coverage with medical surgical
benefits through its wholly owned subsidiary, Capital Advantage Insurance Company
(CAIC). :

The Company provides HMO coverage through Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.
(KHPC). KHPC was jointly owned with Highmark in a 50-50 ownership structure.
Effective April 1, 2003, through a stock purchase agreement, KHPC became a controlled
subsidiary of the Company. Beginning on April 1, 2003, the Company obtained
Highmark’s full voting proxy with respect to KHPC and began assuming full control and
responsibility for the governance, operations and financial results of KHPC. The stock
purchase agreement closed on November 26, 2003 and the Company obtained legal
ownership of the remaining 50% of KHPC’s stock on that date.

The Company also has three other wholly owned subsidiaries: Avalon Health, LTD;
Capital Administrative Services, Inc.; and Consolidated Benefits, Inc.

The Company and Highmark are joint owners of Health Benefits Management, Inc.
(HBMI), a managed health care service provider. HBMI ceased operations on April 30,
2003. The Company’s investment in HBMI as of December 31, 2003 is accounted for

under the equity method. A final distribution of the net assets of HBMI will occur during
2004.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

1. Organization and Operations (continued)

As of December 31, 2002, the Company and Highmark were equal members of the
Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the Foundation) a 501(¢)(3) organization.
The purpose of the Foundation was to administer all outreach, enrollment, financial and
reporting activities as required by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for the Children’s
Health Insurance Program. This program provides free or low-cost health insurance to
uninsured children from low-income working families. The Company, Highmark, and
KHPC underwrite the coverage for these children. The Company’s share of the coverage
underwritten is reflected in the accompanying financial statements. Effective January 1,
2003, the Foundation ceased operations and the Company and Highmark separately
subcontracted with KHPC to provide HMO coverage for children enrolled in the

program.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s statutory-basis financial statements are presented on the basis of
accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the PID. The National Association of
Insurance Commissioners’ (NAIC) Accounting Practices and Procedures has been
adopted as a component of prescribed or permitted practices by the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania. The Commonwealth has adopted certain prescribed accounting practices,
none of which impact the Company, that differ from those found in NAIC statutory
accounting practices (NAIC SAP). In addition, the PID has the right to permit other
specific practices that may deviate from prescribed practices. The Company had no such
permitted practices during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Accounting practices and procedures of the NAIC as prescribed or permitted by the PID
comprise a comprehensive basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (GAAP). The more significant differences are as follows:

(a) Investments in bonds are generally carried at amortized cost, while under GAAP, they
are carried at either amortized cost or fair value based on their classification
according to the Company’s ability and intent to hold or trade the securities;

(b) Investments in common stocks are valued as prescribed by the Securities Valuation
Office of the NAIC, while under GAAP, common stocks are reported at market value;

CBC 00108
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

{Amounts in Thousands)

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basgis of Presentation (continued)

(c) NAIC SAP requires an amount to be recorded for deferred taxes; however, there are
limitations as to the amount of deferred tax assets that may be reported as “admitted
assets.” The remaining deferred tax assets are nonadmitted. Also, deferred taxes do
not include amounts for state income taxes. Under GAAP, state income taxes are
included in the computation of deferred taxes, a deferred tax asset is recorded for the
amount of gross deferred tax assets expected to be realized in future years, and a
valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets not realizable;

(d) Assets are reported under NAIC SAP at “admitted-asset” value and “nonadmitted”
assets are excluded through a charge against unassigned funds, while under GAAP,
“nonadmitted assets” are reinstated to the balance sheet, net of any valuation
allowance;

(e) Comprehensive income and its components are not presented in the statutory
financial statements;

() Subsidiaries are included as common stock carried under the equity method
(investment in subsidiaries and affiliates), with the equity in net income of
subsidiaries credited directly to the Company’s unassigned funds for NAIC SAP.
GAAP requires subsidiaries to either by consolidated or carried under the equity
method, depending on certain criteria. Equity in earnings of subsidiaries carried under
the equity method for GAAP is included in the income statement.

(8) In accordance with NAIC SAP, the Company reports the income and claims
attributable to administrative services only (ASQO) and cost plus customers as
components of general administrative expenses in the statement of operations -
statutory basis.

Cash and Short-Term Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid securities with a maturity of three months or
less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Short-term investments include money
market instruments.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Bonds

Bonds are stated at amortized cost using the interest method or at values prescribed by
the NAIC. Interest is recognized on an accrual basis. Realized capital gains and losses are
calculated using the specific cost of the investments sold.

Preferred Stocks

Preferred stocks are stated at cost, lower of cost or amortized cost, or NAIC market
values depending on the assipned credit rating and whether the preferred stock has
mandatory sinking fund provisions.

Common Stocks

Common stocks—unaffiliated are carried at market value. The change in the stated value
is recorded as a change in net unrealized capital gains and losses, a component of
unassigned funds.

Common stocks—affiliated are reported based on underlying statutory equity for
insurance company subsidiaries. The Company’s wholly owned noninsurance subsidiary,
which has significant ongoing operations other than for the Company and its affiliates, is
reported at GAAP equity.

Other than Temporary Impairment

The Company periodically evaluates securities for other than temporary impairment.
Factors considered in determining whether declines in fair value are other than temporary
include the significance of the decline, the time duration of the decline, current economic
conditions and the Company’s ability and intent to hold the security until such time that
the fair value recovers. At the time a security is determined to be other than temporarily
impaired, the Company records a realized loss in the statements of operations. Any
subsequent increase or decrease in the security’s fair value is reported as an unrealized
gain or loss. The Company does not believe that any of its investments are other than
temporarily impaired at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Health Care Receivables

Health care receivables include advances to providers and pharmaceutical rebates
receivable (see Note 12).
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Real Estate and Equipment

Real estate is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Company provides for
depreciation of real estate using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the assets. Buildings are generally depreciated over 40 years. Leasehold improvements
are nonadmitted. The Company provides for amortization of leasehold improvements
using the straight-line method over the lesser of the useful life of the asset or the
remaining original lease term, excluding options or remewal periods. Leasehold
improvements are generally amortized over 3 to 20 years. Furniture and equipment, other
than real estate, are fully nonadmitted at Decernber 31, 2003 and 2002 under statutory
accounting principles. Depreciation and amortization expense related to furniture and
equipment and real estate was approximately $3,751 and $4,174 for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
expense as incurred,

Electronic Data Processing Equipment and Software

Electronic data processing (EDP) equipment and operating and nonoperating (a
nonadmitted asset) system software are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation expense is computed on the straight-line method over the lesser of the
estimated useful life of the related asset or three years for EDP equipment and operating
system software. Depreciation expense for nonoperating system software is computed
using the straight-line method over the lesser of its estimated useful life or five years.
Depreciation expense related to EDP equipment and operating and nonoperating system
software was approximately $3,721 and $3,110 for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

Goodwill

As a result of the acquisition of the additional interest in KHPC, the excess of the
purchase price over the Company’s share of KHPC’s statutory book value was recorded
as goodwill. Goodwill is an admitted asset subject to the following limitation: 10% of the
Company’s unassigned surplus adjusted to exclude any net positive goodwill, EDP
equipment and operating system software, and net deferred tax assets. Goodwill is
amortized to unrealized capital gains and losses on investments over a period of 10 years.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Claims Unpaid and Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses

Claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses include amounts for known
reported claims and an amount for claims incurred but not reported. Claims payable is
computed in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices and is based on
authorized healthcare services and past payment practices together with current factors
that in management’s judgment require recognition in the calculation. Such liabilities are
necessarily based on assumptions and estimates and while management believes the
amounts are adequate, the ultimate liability may be in excess of or less than the amounts
provided. The methods for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting
liability are continually reviewed and any adjustments are reflected in operations in the
period determined. Claim adjustment expenses include cost containment measures such
as case management, utilization review, and disease management programs; and other
costs incurred in the claim settlement process such as legal fees; outside adjuster fees;
and costs to record, process, and adjust claims.

Aggregate Policy Reserves

Aggregate policy reserves consist of unearned premiums and experience rating credits
and refunds. Under the Company’s experience rating formula, cumulative excesses of
revenue over claims expense and the applicable retention are used to reduce future rates
or, for certain types of rating methods, are refunded to customers. The positive balances
in rate stabilization funds under the retrospective credit method of rating and the refunds
under the retrospective refund method of rating are reflected in this category.

Other Contractual Liabilities

The Company performs an analysis of contractual obligations and arrangements,
including subscriber arrangements, that have either been entered into by the Company or
for which the Company is committed to as of the Company’s respective fiscal year end.
When it is probable that a loss will arise as a result of the contractual obligations and
arrangements that have either been entered into or committed to during a fiscal year, the
Company records 2 liability and corresponding charge to income based on a reasonably
determined estimate of the expected loss. Estimated losses on committed subscriber
contracts consider estimated claims expenses and contract maintenance costs. Contracts
are grouped in the manner in which the Company prices its business.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
National Account Equalization Fund

The National Account Equalization Fund represents amounts held for distribution to
participating plans that service national accounts and for the stabilization of future
premiums. This fund has been eliminated in 2003 as a result of the Company’s
participation in the BlueCard Program.

Net Premium Income

Premium income 1s recognized ratably during the coverage period. The unearned portion
of premium income is recorded in the balance sheets — statutory basis as aggregate policy
reserves and later reported in the statements of operations — statutory basis as premium
income when earned,

The Company participates with other Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans in administering
the health care benefit plans of various national accounts. Administrative fees are
generally recognized when earned on a monthly basis for the period the participating
agreement is in effect and are recorded as a reduction of general and administrative
expenses. Network access fees under this arrangement are also recorded as a reduction of
general and administrative expenses.

Certain claim payments, premium rates, administrative expense reimbursements and
provider discounts are subject to review and potential retroactive adjustment by third
parties. Reserves to reduce revenue are established for potential obligations arising from
such reviews. While claims for such adjustments have been asserted against the
Company, management believes that the resolution of these claims will not be materially
different from amounts recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

Hospital and Medical Benefits

Costs related to hospital and medical benefits are recognized in the period in which
members receive medical services. In addition to actual benefits paid, such expense
includes the impact of accruals for estimates of reported and unreported claims, which are
unpaid as of the balance sheet date.

CBC 00113

0311-0483898-PH 15



Capital Blue Cross
Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)
Expense Reimbursement

Operating expenses are allocated to various lines of business in order to determine the
expense reimbursement due from Highmark, other Blue Cross / Blue Shield Plans, and
governmental agencies for which the Company performs administrative services. The
Company is reimbursed for actual cost incurred or is reimbursed a predetermined
amount.

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to federal income taxes as if it were a stock property and
casualty insurance company. As a nonprofit corporation, the Company is exempt from
Pennsylvania corporate taxes. All of the Company’s subsidiaries are subject to federal
and state income or premium taxes. The Company files a consolidated federal income tax
return, including all of its wholly owned subsidiaries. Under NAIC SAP, the Company
records a provision (credit) for estimated current federal income tax liabilities generated
during the reporting period.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair
value disclosures for financial instruments:

Cash and Short-Term Invesiments and Other Long-Term Invested Assets—The
carrying amounts for these instruments approximate their fair values,

Bonds—The fair values for bonds are based on quoted market prices.

Common Stocks—Unaffiliated—The fair values for unaffiliated common stocks are
based on quoted market prices.

FPreferred Stocks—The fair values for preferred stocks are based on quoted market
prices.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with NAIC SAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates and assumptions could
change in the future as more information becomes known, which could impact the
amounts reported and disclosed herein.

3. Investments g

The cost or amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s investments are as follows:

Costor Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost (zains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2003
Bonds:
Government bonds $ 141,958 £ 1,101 § (312 $ 142,747
States, territories and
possessions 3,476 87 (55) 3,508
Special revenue 27,269 398 N 27,590
Public utilities 7,941 564 (11) 8,494
Industrial and miscellaneous 151,895 5,889 (657 157,127
Total bonds $ 332,539 $ 8,039 $(1,112) $ 339,466
Preferred stocks 3 803 $ 140 5 — s 243
Common stocks—unaffiliated 5 119,774 $12,312 $ (733 $ 131353
CBC 00115
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

3. Investments (continued)

Cost or Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2002
Bonds:
Govermnment bonds $ 154,412 $ 2,689 $ (8) $ 157,093
States, territories and
possessions 46,419 20 - 46,439
Special revenue 12,039 334 - 12,373
Public utilities 9,910 707 - 10,617
Industrial and miscellaneous 134,695 4,592 (103) 139,184
Total bonds $ 357,475 3 8,342 3 ain 3 365,706
Preferred stocks $ 4,997 ) 28 3 — 3 5,025
Common stocks—unaffiliated $ 133,609 $ 6,255 $(33,224) 3 106,640 .

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2003, by
contractual maturity, are shown below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual
maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or
without call or prepayment penalties.

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value
Due in less than one year $ 22,790 $ 23,006
Due after one year through five years 149,868 153,717
Due after five years through ten years 64,495 66,156
Due after ten years 05,386 96,587

$ 332,539 $ 339,466
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

3. Investments (continued)

Gross realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2003 2002

Bonds:

Realized gains $ 9,164 $ 18,659

Realized losses (307) (6,925)
Total bonds 8,857 11,734
Common stocks—unaffiliated:

Realized gains 2,421 2,696

Realized losses (13,722) (8,341)
Total common stocks—unaffiliated {11,301) (5,645)
Short-term investments:

Realized gains - 221

Realized losses (30) —
Total short-term investments _ (30) 221
Net realized capital (losses) gains $ (2474) $ 62310

Proceeds from the sale or maturity of bonds were $858,762 and $734,512 for the years

ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands}

4. Claims Unpaid and Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses

Activity in the liability for claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses is
summarized as follows:

December 31
2003 2002
Claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses
at beginning of year $ 206,326 $ 275,657
Incurred related to:
Current year 352,935 984,746
Prior years (54,215) (45,178)
Total incurred 298,720 939,568
Paid related to:
Current year 299,286 836,741
Prior years 129,957 172,158
Total paid 429,243 1,008,899
Claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses
at end of year $ 75,803 $ 206,326

" Actual health care trends, as compared to trend assumptions utilized in setting the
previous years’ claims payable, resulted in overall favorable development. The favorable
development was a result of lower than anticipated claims utilization.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

5. Income Taxes
The components of the current federal income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2003 2002
Federal . $ 23,136 $(20,345)
Foreign - 5
Federal income tax expense (benefit) $ 23,136 $(20,340)

The components of the net deferred tax (liability) asset recognized are as follows:

A

. December 31
2003 2002
Total deferred tax assets $ 160,599 $ 127,056
Total deferred tax liabilities (10,813) (5,454)
Net deferred tax asset 149,786 121,602
Total deferred tax assets nonadmitted (149,78 (106,055)
Net admitted deferred tax asset 3 - $ 15,547
Increase in nonadmitted asset $ 43,731 $ 30,003
CBC 001 1‘;
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

5. Income Taxes (continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:

Unrealized loss on investments 3 - $ 9,576

Discounting of unpaid claims 13,170 14,366

Benefit plan accruals 20,089 8,884

Rate stabilization reserves 2,774 5,148
- Contingent liabilities 5171 7,193

Other accrued liabilities 2,562 2,999

AMT credits 9,473 2,200

Intangible assets 29,802 32,116

Tax effect for certain nonadmitted assets 75,051 38,678

Other 2,507 5,896
Total deferred tax assets 160,599 127,056
Total deferred tax assets nonadmitted (149,786) (106,055)
Admitted deferred tax assets 10,813 21,001
Deferred tax liabilities:

Unrealized gain on investments (4,047) -

Other ' (6,766) (5.454)
Total deferred tax liabilities (10,813) (5,454)
Net admitted deferred tax asset $ - $ 15,547
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

5. Income Taxes (continued)

The change in net deferred income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2003 is
composed of the following:

December 31
2003 2002 Change
Total deferred tax assets $ 160,599 $ 127,056 $ 33,543
Total deferred tax liabilities {10,813) (5,454) (5,359)
Net deferred tax assets $ 149,786 $ 121,602 28,184
Tax effect of unrealized losses 13,623
Change in net deferred income tax $ 41,807

A reconciliation of federal tax expense (benefit) and the amount that would have been
provided at statutory rates is as follows:

2003 2002

Provision computed as statutory rate $ 28,590 $ 5,083
Tax-exempt interest - (2,157)
Interest income not recognized for statutory purposes 2,637 -
Intangible assets (2,313) (14,825)
Liabilities related to postretirement and other benefits 1,021 2,094
Experience rated credits and refunds (2,374) (9,584)
Contingent liabilities (1,769) -
AMT credits 7,246 (399)
Other (9,902) (552)

$ 23,136 $(20,340)

The Company had no capital loss carryforwards. None of the federal income taxes
incurred in the current year and the preceding years are available for recoupment in the
event of future net losses.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

6. Pension and Other Benefit Plans

The Company maintains pension and posiretirement medical benefit plans for the benefit
of substantially all its employees. The following schedules summarize the impact on the
balance sheets — statutory basis, as well as benefit obligations, assets, funded status, and
rate assumptions associated with the pension and postretirement medical benefit plans.

Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 100,721 $ 78,441 N/A N/A
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of

year $ 122,307 $ 106,809 $ 18,491 $ 15,947
Service cost 8,285 7.346 2,377 1,766
Interest cost 8.471 7,393 1,293 1,102
Change in assumptions and plan

amendments 17,628 6,830 - -
Actuarial loss (gain) 4,409 (576) 1,856 556
Benefits paid (7,339) (5,495) (683) (880)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 153,761 $ 122,307 $23,334 $ 18,491
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year $ 100,876 $ 108,957 $ - 3 -
Actual return on plan assets 17,660 (9,149) - -
Company contribution - 6,563 — -
Benefits paid (7,339) (5,495) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of

year $ 111,197 $ 100,876 $ - M) -
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

6. Pension and Other Benefit Plans (continued)

Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002

Funded status _ $ (42,564) £ (21,431) $(23,334) $(18,491)
Unrecognized prior service cost 274 297 (825) ®17)
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) 46,697 35,668 3,472 1,665
Remaining net asset at initial date

of application - (2,985) — -
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost 3 4407 $ 11,549 $(20,687) $(17,743)
Benefit obligation for nonvested

employees § 3478 § 2,158 $ 39,638 $31,429
Components of net periodic

benefit cost
Service cost $ 8285 $ 7,346 $ 2,377 $ 1,766
Interest cost 8,471 7,393 1,294 1,102
Expected return on plan assets (8,412) (9,181) - -
Amortization of unrecognized net

loss - - 49 -
Amortization of prior costs 1,783 22 (92) {92)
Net periodic benefit cost $ 10,127 $ 5,580 $ 3,628 $ 2,776
Weighted-average assumptions
Discount rate 6.0% 6.75% 6.0% 6.75%
Expected return on plan assets 8.5% 8.50% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.5% 5.00% N/A N/A

The Company also has a nonqualified supplemental retirement benefit plan covering
certain officers, which provide for eligible employees to receive additional benefits based
principally on compensation and years of service. This plan provides for incremental
benefit payments from the Company’s funds so that total benefit payments equal amounts
that would have been payable from the Company’s principal retirement plans if it were
not for limitations imposed by income tax regulations. Total liabilities under this plan
were $3,908 at December 31, 2003, including an additional minimum liability of $676.
Expenses under this plan were $692 for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

6. Pension and Other Benefit Plans (continued)

For measurement purposes, a 5.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of
covered health care benefits was assumed for 2003.

The postretirement health care benefit plan is subject to revision at the discretion of the
Board of Directors. Effective January 1, 1993, the Company contributes 100% toward the
cost of postretirement health care benefits beginning at age 62 for current retirees and
active employees whose age plus years of service as of this date equaled or exceeded 75.
For employees first becoming eligible for benefits on or after January 1, 1993, and whose
age plus years of service on that date was less than 75, the Company will contribute
toward postretirement health care benefits at age 62 at varying percentages.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for
the health care plan. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend
rates would have the following effects:

1% Increase 1% Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 1,747 $ (1,176)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 14,916 $(11,427)

On December 8, 2003 the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003 (the Act) was enacted. The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare (Medicare Part D) as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care
benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare
Part D. On January 12, 2004 the FASB Issued FSP 106-1, Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modemization Act of 2003 that permits the sponsor of a postretirement health care plan a
one-time election to defer accounting for the effects of the Act. The Company has elected
such deferral and thus the benefit obligation and net periodic postretirement benefit costs
above do not reflect the potential effects of the Act. Specific authoritative guidance on
the accounting for the federal subsidy is pending and that guidance, when issued, could
require the Company to change previously reported information.

7. Reimbursements of Operating Expenses

Reimbursements for administrative services performed for Highmark, governmental
agencies and other plans amounting to $17,015 and $30,183 in 2003 and 2002,
respectively, have been offset against general and administrative expenses.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

8. Guarantees to Affiliates

The Company guarantees all of the contractual and financial obligations of KHPC to its
members. There is no limitation to the maximum potential future payments that can be
made under this guarantee. This guarantee is based on the estimate of claims outstanding
as reported by KHPC on their balance sheet as of December 31, 2003, in the amount of
$60,338. '

The Company also guarantees all of the contractual and financial obligations of CAIC to
its members. This guarantee is based on the estimate of claims outstanding as reported by
CAIC on their balance sheet as of December 31, 2003 in the amount of $194,671. No
payments were made under this guarantee in 2003 or 2002.

These guarantees are required by the BCBSA in order for CAIC and KHPC to use the
registered Blue Cross service mark. Payment by the Company would only be required in
the event that CAIC or KHPC were not able to meet their financial obligations.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

The Company has entered into various lease agreements, primarily for computer
equipment, in the ordinary course of business. As of December 31, 2003, future
minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining
noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year are not considered by management to be
material. Lease expense was $6,385 and $6,482 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Line of Credit

The Company has a line of credit with an area bank in the amount of $25,000 which
expires in 2004. Borrowings under the line of credit bear interest at the 30-day LIBOR
rate, plus 120 basis points, and are payable upon demand. As of December 31, 2003 and
,2002’ no amount was outstanding under this agreement.

Litigation

The Company is involved in and is subject to claims, contractual disputes, and other
uncertainties. In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the
ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)
Regulatory

The Company has been named in a class action lawsuit alleging violation of the
Pennsylvania Non-Profit Corporation Lew and breach of subscriber contracts by
maintaining “excessive” surplus. Based on a decision of the Pennsylvania
Commonwealth Court in a similar case filed against another Pennsylvania Blue Cross
plan, the lower court dismissed the action against the Company, which dismissal was
affirmed by the Commonwealth Court. That decision has been appealed to the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court, which has stayed the action against the Company pending
disposition of the action against the other Blue Cross plan. Plaintiffs have also filed a
complaint with the PID under the Pennsylvania Unfair Insurance Practices Act. In
January 2004, the PID published a notice directing each Pennsylvania Blue plan to file an
application for approval of the reserves and surplus they maintain based on a range of
statutory risk based capital levels as defined under statutory regulations. The Company
has challenged the PID's authority to issue this notice. Management is not able to
estimate the impact of the outcome of this situation on the Company’s statutory-basis
financial statements.

The health care and health insurance industries are subject to numerous laws and
regulations of federal, state and local governments. These laws and regulations include,
but are not necessarily limited to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government
health care program participation requirements, reimbursement for patient services and
Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Government activity has increased with respect
to investigations and allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse
statutes and regulations by health care insurers and providers. Violations of these laws
and regulations could result in expulsion from government health care programs together
with the imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments
for patient services previously billed. Management believes that the Company is in
compliance with fraud and abuse as well as other applicable government laws and
regulations. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future
government review and interpretation as well as regulatory actions unknown or
unasserted at this time.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

10. Related Party Transactions

During the year, the Company incurred certain costs on behalf of CAIC, including costs
of salaries, professional fees and other administrative expenses. These amounts were
allocated between the companies based on relevant statistical measures. Net charges to
CAIC for services performed by the Company were $141,333 and $28,779 for 2003 and
2002, respectively.

The following table summarizes the due from/to subsidiaries and affiliates balances:

December 31
2003 2002
Due From Due To Due From Due To

KHPC 5 1,351 $ (1,880) $ 13,469 $ (4,670)
Joint programs 1,396 358 18,733 (20,885)
HBMI - - 46 -
Avalon Health, LTD - - 2 -
Capital Administrative

Services, Inc. 471 - 281 -
Consolidated Benefits, Inc. 164 - 117 -
CAIC 22,125 (93,713) 1,361 (31,81H)
Caring Foundation of Central

Pennsylvania 511 - 216 —
Total $ 26,018 $(95,235) $ 134,225 $(57,366)

11. Gain (Loss) from Uninsured Accident and Health Plans

The gain (loss) from operations from ASC and cost plus uninsured plans was as follows:

2003 2002
Gross reimbursement for medical costs incurred $ 139,706 $ 295,756
Gross administrative fees accrued 29,976 51,229
Gross expenses incurred (claims and administrative) (167,628) (382,545)
Gain (loss) from operations $ 2,054 $ (35,560)
CBC 00127
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

12. Pharmaceutical Rebates Receivable

The Company estimates pharmaceutical rebates receivable based upon the following
information:

Actual
Estimated Actual Actual Rebates
Pharmacy Rebates Rebates Collected
Rebates as Collected Collected More Than
Originally Pharmacy Within Within 91 to 180 Days
Reportedon  Rebates as 90 Daysof 180 Days of After
Financial Invoiced/ Invoicing/ Invoicing/ Invoicing/
Quarter Statements Confirmed Confirmation Confirmation Confirmation
December 31, 2003 $ 3,157 3 - 5 - $ - $ -
September 30, 2003 2,618 3,584 3,342 - -
June 30, 2003 3,133 3,261 - 3,261 -
March 31, 2003 2,927 3,276 - 3,276 -
December 31,2002  § 5,130 34,023 $ - $ 3,674 $ 349
September 30, 2002 3,649 3,719 3,719 - 284
June 30, 2002 4,379 4,120 4,113 7 287
March 31, 2002 3,836 6,063 4,334 15 1,615
13. Acquisition of KHPC

Effective April 1, 2003, the Company obtained the remaining 50% voting rights, control
and financial interest in KHPC. The purchase price consisted of $29,000 in cash and
$3,000 in assumed post retirement liabilities. In addition, the Company purchased
$7 million of KHPC surplus debentures owned by Highmark at par value. The acquisition
was accounted for as a statutory purchase and, accordingly, the 50% additional interest
was recorded at cost. The excess of the purchase price over the Company’s share of
KHPC’s statutory book value at April 1, 2003 has been recorded as goodwill in the
amount of $9,822. Statutory earnings in KHPC for the three months ended March 31,
2003 was $4,533.
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Capital Blue Cross

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

14, Subsequent Event

On March 8, 2004, the Company entered into a five-year, $50,000 secured credit facility.
The applicable interest rate will be based on 0.43 percentage points above the monthly
LIBOR. The loan is due and payable in full on March 8, 2009. The Company has pledged
securities as collateral for this credit facility. The facility contains a number of covenants,
representations and events of default typical of a credit facility agreement of this size and
nature, including financial covenants requiring the Company to maintain minimum
capital requirements. :
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Capital Blue Cross

Summary Investment Schedule — Statutory Basis

December 31, 2003

Admitted Assets as
Reported in the
Gross Investment Holdings* Annual Statement
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
(In Thousands)

Bonds:
U.8. Treasury securities $ 65,508 6.9% $ 65,508 8.6%
U.S. government agency and corporate
obligations (excluding mortgage-backed
securities):
Issued by U.S. government agencies 16,795 1.8 16,795 22
Issued by U.S. government-sponscred
agencies - - - -
Foreign government (including Canada,
excluding mortgage-backed securities) 3,334 0.4 3,334 0.4
Securities issued by states, territories, and
possessions and political subdivisions in
the U.S.:
State, territory, and possessions —
general obligations 3,476 0.4 3,476 0.5
Political subdivisions of states,
territories, and possessions and political
subdivisions — general obligations - -
Revenue and assessment obligations 22,631 24 22,631 3.0
Industrial development and similar
obligations - - - -
Mortgage-backed securities (includes
residential and commercial MBS):
Pass-through securities:
Guaranteed by GNMA 14,545 1.5 14,545 1.9
Issued by FNMA and FHLMC 46,413 4.9 46,413 6.1
Privately issued - - - -
CMOs and REMICs:
Issued by FNMA and FHLMC - - - -
Privately issued and collateralized by
MBS; issued or guaranteed by
GNMA, FMNA, or FHLMC - - - -
All other privately issued - - - -
Other debt and other fixed income
securities (excluding short term):
Unaffiliated domestic securities
(includes credit tenant loans rated by
the SVQ) 159,837 16.9 159,837 21.1
Unaffiliated foreign securities - -
Affiliated securities - - - -
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Capital Blue Cross

Summary Investment Schedule — Statutory Basis (continued)

December 31, 2003

Admitted Assets as
Reported in the
Gross Investment Holdings* Annual Statement
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
(In Thousands)

Equity interests:
Investments in mutual funds $ 85,897 9.0% 3 85,897 11.3%
Preferred stocks:
Affiliated - - - -
Unaffiliated 803 0.1 803 0.1
Publicly traded equity securities
(excluding preferred stocks):
Affiliated - -
Unaffiliated 43,170 4.6 43,170 5.7
Other equity securities:
Affiliated 64,476 6.8 64,476 8.5
Unaffiliated 2,386 02 2,286 03
Other equity interests including tangible
personal property under lease:
Affiliated - - - -
Unaffiliated - - - -
Mortgage loans:
Construction and land development - - — -
Agricultural - - - -
Single-family residential properties - - - -
Multifamily residential properties - - — -
Commercial loans - - - -
Real estate investments:
Property occupied by company 28,991 31 28,580 38
Property held for sale - - - -
Collateral loans - - - -
Policy loans - - - -
Receivables for securities - - - -
Cash and short-term investments 42,103 44 42,103 5.6
Write-in for invested assets 346,125 36.6 158,288 20.9
Total invested assets $946,490 100.0% $758,142 100.0%

*Gross investment holdings as valued in compliance with NAJC Accounting Practices and Procedures
Manual.
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Capital Blue Cross

Investment Risk Interrogatories — Statutory Basis

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

The Plan’s total admitted assets as reported in the balance sheet — statutory basis is
$890,660 at December 31, 2003,

1. The 10 largest exposures to a single issuer/borrower/investment, by investment
category, excluding: (i) U.S. government, U.S. government agency securities and
those U.S. government money market funds listed in the Appendix to the SVO
Purposes and Procedures Manual as exempt, (ii) property occupied by the
Company, and (iii) policy loans at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Percentage
of Total
Admitted
Investment Amount Assets

CAIC Surplus Notes $ 144,288 16.200%
KHPC Surplus Notes 14,000 1.572
Vanguard Institutional Index 42,961 4.824
Northern Institutional Funds 42,936 4821
General Motors Corp. 4,021 451
British Sky Broadcasting 2,740 308
Tyco 2,568 288
Ford 1,999 224
Allied Waste 1,724 194
Abitibi Consolidated 1,540 173

2. The amounts and percentages of the Company’s total admitted assets held in
bonds and preferred stocks by NAIC rating are as follows:

Bonds Amount Percent
NAIC-1 . $ 284,435 31.935%
NAIC-2 54,776 6.150
NAIC-3 22,177 2.490
NAIC-4 10,796 1.212
NAIC-5 - -
NAIC-6 - —
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Capital Blue Cross

Investment Risk Interrogatories — Statutory Basis (continued)

December 31, 2003
{(Amounts in Thousands)

Preferred Stocks Amount Percent
P/RP-1 5 - - %
P/RP-2 463 .052
P/RP-3 340 .038
P/RP-4 - _
P/RP-5 - -
P/RP-6 - -

The amounts and percentages of the Company’s total admitted assets held in
foreign investments (regardless of whether there is any foreign cwrency
exposure) and unhedged foreign currency exposure {defined as the statement
value of investment denominated in foreign currencies which are not hedged by
financial instruments qualifying for hedge), including (i) foreign-currency-
denominated investments of $0 supporting insurance liabilities denominated in
that same foreign currency of $0 and excluding (ii) Canadian investments and
currency exposure of $0 at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of the Company’s total admitted assets held in
Canadian investments and unhedged Canadian currency exposure, including
Canadian-currency-denominated investments of $0 supporting Canadian-
denominated insurance liabilities of $¢ at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Investment Amount Percent

Ontario Providence CDA $ 846 .0949%

The aggrepate amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted
assets held in investments with contractual sales restrictions (defined as
investments having restrictions that prevent investments from being sold within
90 days at December 31, 2003) are as follows: None
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Capital Blue Cross

Investment Risk Interrogatories — Statutory Basis (continued)

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

The amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets subject
to the following types of agreements are as follows:

At End of Each Quarter

Percentage
of Total 1st 2nd ard
Year End Admitted Quarter Quarter Quarter
Amount Assets Amount Amount Amount

Securities lending (do not include
assets held as collateral for such
transactions $

Repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements

Dollar repurchase agreements

Dollar reverse repurchase
agreements - - - - -

IR
=
5
& |
20
£

IR

1t
I
|

The amounts and percentages of warrants not attached to other financial
instruments, options, caps, and floors at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None.

The amounts and percentages of potential exposure (defined as the amount
determined in accordance with the NAIC Annual Statement Instructions) for
collars, swaps, and forwards at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None.

The amounts and percentages indicated below of potential exposure (defined as
the amount determined in accordance with the NAIC Annual Statement
Instructions) for futures contracts at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None.

The amounts and percentages of 10 largest investments included in the Write-ins
for Invested Assets category on the Summary Investment Schedule as of
December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Percentage
of Total
Admitted
Investment Amount Assets

Capital Advantage Insurance Company $ 144,288 16.200%
Keystone Health Plan Central 14,000 1.572
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STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
February 24, 2004

Board of Directors
Capital Blue Cross

1, Michael J. Cellini, am a member of the American Academy of Actuaries ("the
Academy"), and a Senjor Manager and Consulting Actuary with the firm of Ernst &
Young LLP. I have been retained by Capital Biue Cross ("the Company") to issue this
opinion. 1 meet the Academy qualification standards for issuing this opinion, and I am
- familiar with the valuation requirements applicable to the Company.

1 have reviewed the actuarial assumptions and actuarial methods used in determining the
reserves and related actuarial items listed below and as shown in the Annual Statement of
the Company, as prepared by the management of the Company for filing with state
regulatory officials, as of December 31, 2003. My responsibility is 1o express an opinion
on these reserves and related actuarial items based on my review. The actuarial methods,
considerations and analyses used in forming my opinion conform to the appropriate
Actuarial Standards of Practice and Actuarial Compliance Guidelines as promuigated by
the Actuarial Standards Board, and form the basis of this statement of opinion.

Amnnual
Statement
Reference

ltem Page-Line Amount
Claims Unpaid 3-1 $73,597,432
Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses 3-3 $2,206,041
Apgregate Health Policy Reserves 34 $10,036,906

The reserves and related actuarial itemns listed above represent the estimates made by
management of the Company for all unpaid claims as of December 31, 2003.
Considerable uncertainty and variability are inherent in such estimates, and, accordingly,
the subsequent development of the unpaid claims liability may not conform to the
assumptions used in the determination of the unpaid claims liability and therefore may
vary from the amounts in the foregoing table.

Page | of 3 February 24, 2004
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1 have relied on listings and summaries of claims and other relevant data, and upon
management’s representations regarding the collectibility of reinsurance recoverable
amounts, as expressed in the attached statement. 1 have relied upon Mr. Joseph N.
Romano, Vice President and Chief Actuary, for the accuracy of the data, as expressed in
the attached statement.

My review included the identification and evaluation of the effect on the foregoing
reserves of capitated risk-sharing contracts with service providers; however, my review
of such capitated risk-sharing contracts did not include an assessment of the financial
condition of the service providers. As such, the following opinion rests on the
assumption that such service providers will fulfill their obligations under their respective
contracts with the Company.

In other respects, my examination included such review of the actuarial assumptions and
actuarial methods, including comparing prior years’ estimates of unpaid claims liabilities
to their subsequent development and such other tests of the actuarial calculations, as I
considered necessary. -

In my opinion, the reserves and related actuarial items identified above:

(a) Are computed in accordance with presently accepted actuarial standards
consistently applied, and are fairly stated in accordance with sound actuarial
principles, except that consideration of the adequacy of the Company's reserves
and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which support them has
not been performed;

(b) Are based on actuarial assumptions relevant to contract provisions and
appropriate to the purpose for which the Annual Statement was prepared, and
provide for all reasonably anticipated unpaid claims under the contracts;

{c) Meet the requirements of the insurance laws and regulations of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania;

(d) Are computed on the basis of assumptions consistent with those used in
computing the corresponding items in the Annual Statement of the preceding
year, with any exceptions noted below;

(¢)  Include provision for all actuarial reserves and related actuarial items which ought
to be established; and,

Page 2 of 3 February 24, 2004
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3] Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial
liabilities of the Company under the terms of its contracts and agreements, by
which I mean that the estimated liabilities is an appropriate measure of reasonably
anticipated payments on incwrred claims under potentially moderately adverse
development, although, consistent with the scope of my review, the adequacy of

. the Company’s reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets
which support them has not been considered,

My review did not include asset adequacy analysis, as such analysis is not in the scope of
my assignment. I have not reviewed any of the Company's assets and 1 have not formed
any opinion as to their validity or valve. My opinion rests on the assumption that the
Company’s December 31, 2003 statutory-basis unpaid claims liability is funded by valid
assets that have suitably scheduled maturities and/or adequate liquidity to meet future
cash flow requiremnents. '

The scope of my review did not include preparation of the Underwriting and Investment
Exhibit - Part 2B of the Annual Statement. 1 relied upon Mr. Joseph N. Romano, Vice
President and Chief Actuary, Tegarding the consistency of paid claims data and unpaid
claims estimates with the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit. As part of my review, I
conducted analysis consistent with Section 3.6, “Follow-Up Studies”, contained in ASOP
Number 5, “Incurred Health and Disability Claims”, adopted by the Actuarial Standards
Board in December 2000.

My review relates only to those reserves and related actuarnial items identified herein, and
1 do not express an opinion on the Company's financial statements taken as a whole.

This opinion has been prepared solely for the Board and the management of the Company
and for filing with state regulatory officials, and for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield
Association, and is not intended for any other purpose.

gl L

Michael J. Cellini, Ph.D., ASA, MAAA
5 Times Square

New York, New York 10036-6530
(212) 773-0873
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Audited Statutory-Basis Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
together with Actuarial Opinion issued by
Ernst & Young LLP as of December 31, 2003
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Statutory-Basis Financial Statements and Supplemental Schedules
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;'IERNST& YOUNG & Ernst & Young Lp & Phone: (410) 539-7940

621 East Pralt Street Fax:  (410) 783-3832
Baltimore, Maryland 21202 WAV @Y.COM

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
Capital Advantage Insurance Company

We have audited the accompanying statutory-basis balance sheet of Capital Advantage
Insurance Company (the Company) as of December 31, 2003, and the related statutory-
basis statements of operations, changes in capital and unassigned funds and cash flow for
the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. The statutory-basis financial statements of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2002 were audited by other auditors whose report dated May 15,
2003 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements as to 2 comprehensive basis
of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

In our opinion, the 2003 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Capital Advantage Insurance Company at
December 31, 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash flow for the year then
ended, in conformity with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the
Pennsylivania Insurance Department.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the December 31,
2003 statutory-basis financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying summary
investment schedule and schedule of investment risk interrogatories are presented to
comply with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ Annual Statement
Instructions and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ Accounting
Practices and Procedures Manual and are not a required part of the December 31, 2003
statutory-basis financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing

0311-0483905-P 1
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I We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
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procedures applied in our audit of the December 31, 2003 statutory-basis financial
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
December 31, 2003 statutory-basis financial statements taken as a whole.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the
Pennsylvania Insurance Department and is not intended to be and should not be used by

anyone other than these specified parties.
Snmet MLLP

March 12, 2004

0311-0483505-PH
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Balance Sheets Statutory Basis

December 31
2003 2002

- (In Thousands)
Admitted assets- ‘

Cash and short-term Investments § 76,668 3 180,501
Bonds : 260,491 112,504
Accounts receivable:
Accident and health Premiums due and unpaid 7,458 8,999
Investment income due and accrued 2,066 1,316
Amounts dune from parent and affiliates 76,241 29,996
Amounis recejvable relating to uninsured accident
"and health plans o 356 484
Advances tg providers ' 12,430 ~
Premium cal] receivables 16,415 2,341
Other 452 398
Total accounts receivable : 115,418 43,534
Federal income tax recoverable 41,671 6,909

Total admitted assets ~ ) ‘ $ 494,248 $ 343,448

CBC 00144
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December 31
2003 2002
(In Thousands)
Liabilities, capital, and unassigned funds
Liabilities:
Claims unpaid $ 188,454 $ 107,784
Unpaid claims adjustment expenses 6,217 3,543
Aggregate policy reserves 31,671 18,535
Premiums received in advance 21,582 4,315
General expenses due or accrued 21,855 6,036
Other contractual liabilities 23,236 30,375
Amounts withheld or retained for account of others 309 239
Amounts due to parent 2,859 448
Liability for amounts held under uninsured accident
and health plans 157 27
Payments due others 1,171 89
Total liabilities 297,511 171,391
Capital and unassigned funds:
Capital stock, par value $750, 1,000 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding 750 750
Gross paid in and contributed capital 375 375
Surplus notes 325,625 225,625
Unassigned funds (130,013) (54,693)
Total capital and unassigned funds 196,737 172,057
Total liabilities, capital, and unassigned funds $ 494,248 $ 343,448
See accompanying notes.
0311-0483905-PH 4
CBC 00145



Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Statements of Operations — Statutory Basis

Net premium income

Hospital and medical benefits
Claims adjustment expenses
General administrative expenses
Total underwriting deductions

Underwriting loss

Net investment income earned

Net realized capital gains

Change in other contractual liabilities
Other income, net

Loss before federal income taxes

Federal income tax benefit
Net loss

See accompanying notes.

0311-0483905-PH

Year ended December 31
2003 2002
{In Thousands)
$ 921,820 $ 230,860
892,311 232,296
52,917 8,574
109,802 31,972
1,055,030 272,842
(133,210) (41,982)
7,525 1,391
1,151 131
7,139 (30,375)
1,615 1,702
(115,780) (69,133)
(41,676) (6,909)
3 (74,104) $ (62,224)
5
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Statements of Changes in Capital and Unassigned Funds — Statutory Basis

Year ended December 31

2003 2002
(In Thousands)
Balance of capital and unassigned funds at beginning
of year $ 172,057 $ 9312
Net loss (74,104) (62,224)
Change in net deferred income taxes 1,910 17,858
Change in nonadmiited assets (3,126) (17,889)
Change in surplus notes 100,000 225,000

Balance of capital and unassigned funds at end of year ~ $ 196,737 $ 172,057

See accompanying notes.

~
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Statements of Cash Flow — Statutory Basis

Cash from operations

Premiums and revenues collected, net of reinsurance
Claims and claims adjustment expenses paid
General administrative expenses paid

Cash from underwriting

Net investment income

Other income (expenses)

Federal income taxes recovered (paid)
Net cash (used in) provided by operations

Cash from investments

Proceeds from bonds sold, matured or repaid
Cost of bonds acquired

Net cash used in investments

Cash from financing and miscellaneous sources

Surplus notes, capital and surplus paid in

Other cash (uses) sources

Net cash provided by financing and miscellaneous
sources

Net (decrease) increase in cash and short-term
investments

Cash and short-term investments at beginning of year
Cash and short-term investments at end of year

See accompanying notes.

0311-0483%05-PH

Year ended December 31

2003 2002
(In Thousands)
$ 938,078 $ 196,121
(861,884) (129,603)
(93,982) (25,960)
(17,788) 40,558
7,926 527
1,616 (28,674)
6,914 (665)
(1,332) 11,746
347,187 37,396
(495,174) (143,154)
(147,987) (105,758)
100,000 225,000
(54,514) 46,553
45,486 271,553
(103,833) 177,541
180,501 2,960
$ 76,668 $ 180,501

-
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

1. Organization and Operations

Capital Advantage Insurance Company (the Company) is incorporated in the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is subject to regulation by the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania Insurance Department (PID). All of the outstanding shares of the Company
are owned by Capital Blue Cross (CBC), a Pennsylvania non-profit corporation which is
organized on a nonstock basis and has no voting securities. The Company has no
employees, as all administrative, accounting _services, operations, information
technology, actuarial, and management duties are provided by the parent company, CBC.

Health care benefits are provided under contracts with subscribers. The Company
contracts with providers of health care who are paid under various payment agreements.
The Company’s service area consists of 21 counties within Central Pennsylvania and the
Lehigh Valley.

Prior to April I, 2002, the Company’s activities were confined to issuing and
underwriting short-term major-medical insurance policies and providing administrative
and marketing services related to stop-loss insurance policies. Effective April 1, 2002, the
Company expanded its business to include comprehensive coverage of health care
benefits to consumers in the Company’s service area. The Company began to provide
coverage of physician services under an indemnity program, and hospital and physician
services under a preferred provider organization. As a result of this expansion, the
Company has experienced significant growth within its subscriber base.

CBC maintains a commitment to support the operations and liquidity of the Company.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s statutory-basis financial statements are presented on the basis of
accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the PID. The National Association of
Insurance Commissioners’ (NAIC) Accounting Practices and Procedures has been
adopted as a component of preseribed or permitted practices by the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania. The Commonwealth has adopted certain prescribed accounting practices,
none of which impact the Company, that differ from those found in NAIC statutory
accounting practices (NAIC SAP). In addition, the PID has the right to permit other
specific practices that may deviate from prescribed practices. The Company had no such
permitted practices during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

03 11-0483905-PH 2
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

{Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of Presentation (continued)

Accounting practices and procedures of the NAIC as prescribed or permitted by the PID
comprise a comprehensive basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (GAAP). The more significant differences are as follows:

(a) Investments in bonds are generally carried at amortized cost, while under GAAP, they
are carried at either amortized cost or fair value based on their classification
according to the Company’s ability and intent to hold or trade the securities;

(b) Investments in common stocks are valued as prescribed by the Securities Valuation
Office of the NAIC, while under GAAP, common stocks are reported at market value;

(c) NAIC SAP requires an amount to be recorded for deferred taxes; however, there are
limitations as to the amount of deferred tax assets that may be reported as “admitted
assets”, The remaining deferred tax assets are nonadmitted. Also, deferred taxes do
not include amounts for state income faxes. Under GAAP, state income taxes are
included in the computation of deferred taxes, a deferred tax asset is recorded for the
amount of gross deferred tax assets expected to be realized in future years, and a
valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets not realizable;

(d) Assets are reported under NAIC SAP at “admitted-asset” value and “nonadmitted”
assets are excluded through a charge against surplus, while under GAAP,

“nonadmitted -assets”—are reinstated to the balance sheet, net of any valuation
allowance; :

(¢) Comprehensive income and its components are not presented in the statutory
financial statements;

() In accordance with NAIC SAP, the Company reports the income and claims
attributable to administrative services only (ASO) and cost plus customers as
components of general administrative expenses in the statement of operations —
statutory basis.

0311-0483905-PH
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash and Short-Term Investments

In accordance with the Company’s cash management policy of maximizing the amount of
funds invested in income-eamning assets, the Company routinely anticipates the timing
and amount of future cash flow. This policy frequently results in the existence of negative
book cash balances.

The Company considers all highly liquid securities with a maturity of three months or
less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Short-term investments include money
market instruments.

Bonds

Bonds are stated at amortized cost using the interest method or at values prescribed by
the NAIC, Interest is recognized on an accrual basis. Realized capital gains and losses are
calculated using the specific cost of the investments sold,

The Company periodically evaluates bonds for other than temporary impairment. Factors
considered in determining whether declines in fair value are other than temporary include
the significance of the decline, the time duration of the decline, current economic
conditions and the Company’s ability and intent to hold the security until such time that
the fair value recovers. At the time a security is determined to be other than temporarily
impaired, the Company records a realized loss in the statement of operations. Any
subsequent increase or decrease in the security’s fair value is reported as an unrealized
gain or loss. The Company does not believe that any of its investments are other than
temporarily impaired at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Claims Unpaid and Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses

Claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses include amounts for known
reported claims and an amount for claims incurred but not reported. Claims payable is
computed in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices and is based on
authorized healthcare services and past payment practices together with current factors
that in management’s judgment require recognition in the calculation. Such liabilities are
necessarily based on assumptions and estimates and while management believes the
amounts are adequate, the ultimate liability may be in excess of or less than the amounts
provided. The methods for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting

0311-0483505-PH 1n
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Claims Unpaid and Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses (continued)

liability are continually reviewed and any adjustments are reflected in operations in the
period determined. Claim adjustment expenses include cost containment measures such
as case management, utilization review, and disease management programs; and other
costs incurred in the claim settlement process such as legal fees; outside adjuster fees;
and costs to record, process, and adjust claims,

Aggregate Policy Reserves

Aggregate policy reserves consist of uneamed premiums and estimated experience rating
credits and refunds. Under the Company’s experience rating formula, cumulative
excesses of revenue over claims expense and the applicable retention are used to reduce
future rates or, for certain types of rating methods, are refunded to customers. The
positive balances in rate stabilization funds under the retrospective credit method of
rating and the refunds under the retrospective refund method of rating are reflected in this
category.

Other Conftractual Liabilities

The Company performs an analysis of contractual obligations and arrangements,
including subscriber arrangements, that have either been entered into by the Company or
for which the Company is committed to as of the Company’s respective fiscal year end.
When it is probable that a loss will arise as a result of the contractual obligations and
arrangements that have either been entered into or committed to during a fiscal year, the
Company records 2 liability and corresponding charge to income based on a reasonably
determined estimate of the expected loss. Estimated losses on committed subscriber
contracts consider estimated claims expenses and contract maintenance costs. Contracts
are grouped in the manner in which the Company prices its business.

Net Premium Income

Premium income is recognized ratably during the coverage period. The unearned portion
of premium income is recorded in the balance sheets — statutory basis as part of aggregate
policy reserves and later reported in the statement of operations — statutory basis as
premium income when earned.

0311-0483905-PH 1
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Net Premium Income (continued)

Certain claim payments, premium rates, administrative expense reimbursements and
provider discounts are subject to review and potential retroactive adjustment by third
parties. Reserves to reduce revenue are established for potential obligations arising from
such reviews. While claims for such adjustments have been asserted against the
Company, management believes that the resolution of these claims will not be materially
different from amounts recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

Hospital and Medical Benefits

Costs related to hospital and medical benefits are recognized in the period in which
members receive medical services. In addition to actual benefits paid, such expense
includes the impact of accruals for estimates of reported and unreported claims, which are
unpaid as of the balance sheet date.

Income Taxes

The Company is included in a consolidated federal income tax return with CBC and other
affiliated companies, including Keystone Health Plan Central. The Company has a
written agreement, which sets forth the manner in which the total combined federal
income tax is allocated to each entity, which is a party to the consolidated return.
Pursuant to this agreement, the Company has the right to recoup federal income taxes
paid in prior years in the event of future net losses, which it may incur, or to recoup its
net losses carried forward as an offset to future net income subject to federal income
taxes. Under NATIC SAP, the Company records a provision (credit) for estimated current
federal income tax liabilities generated during the reporting period. The Company is also
subject to Commonwealth of Pennsylvania premium taxes.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair
value disclosures for financial instruments:

Cash and Short-Term Investments—The carrying amounts for these instruments
approximate their fair values.

Bonds—The fair values for bonds are based on quoted market prices.

0311-0483905-PH 12
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with NAIC SAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates and assumptions could
change in the future as more information becomes known, which could impact the
amounts reported and disclosed herein.

3. Investments

The cost or amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s investments in bonds are as
follows:

Cost or Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2003
Govemment bonds $ 169,141 $ 1,053 $(121) $ 170,073
Special revenue 12,412 39 (113) 12,338
Public utilities 2,310 43 - 2,353
Industrial and miscellaneous 76.628 1,474 {128) 77,974
Total bonds $ 260,491 $ 2,609 $(362) $ 262,738
December 31, 2002
Government bonds $ 70,327 $ 1,043 £ - $ 71,370
Special revenue 7,197 68 - 7,265
Public utilities 524 37 - 561
Industrial and miscellaneous 34,456 714 (87 35,083
Total bonds 3 112,504 $ 1,862 5 @7 $114279
0311-0483905-PH 12
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

3. Investments (continued)

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2003, by
contractual maturity, are shown below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual
maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or
without call or prepayment penalties.

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value
Due in less than one year $ 42,492 $ 42,627
Due after one year through five vears 125,858 127,130
Due after five years through ten years 37,146 37,683
Due after ten years 54,995 55,298

$ 260,491 $ 262,738

Gross realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are as follows:

Year ended December 31
2003 2002

Bonds:

Realized gains $ 2,364 $ 267

Realized losses (1,216) (136)
Total bonds 1,148 131
Short-term investments:

Realized gains 5 -

Realized losses (2) -
Total short-term investments 3 —
Net realized capital gains $ 1,151 $ 131

Proceeds from the sale or maturity of bonds were $347,187 and $37,396 for the year'.s
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

0311-0483905-PH : 14
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

4. Claims Unpaid and Unpaid Claims Adjusiment Expenses

Activity in the liability for claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses is
summarized as follows:

2003 2002
Claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjustment expenses
at beginning of year $111,327 $ 60
Incurred related to:
Current year 975,961 240,835
Prior years {30,733) 35
Total incurred 945,228 240,870
Paid related to:
Curent year 783,212 129,509
Prior years 78,672 94
Total paid 861,884 129,603
Claims unpaid and unpaid claims adjusttnent expenses
at end of year $ 194,671 $111,327

Actual health care trends, as compared to trend assumptions utilized in setting the
previous years’ claims payable, resulted in overall favorable development. The favorable
development was a result of lower than anticipated claims utilization.

5. Income Taxes

The components of the current income tax benefit are as follows:

Decembher 31
2003 2002
Federal income tax benefit $(41,676) $(6,909)
0311-0483905-PH 15
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

5. Income Taxes (continued)

The components of the net deferred tax asset recognized are as follows:

December 31
2003 2002
Total deferred tax assets $ 19,771 $ 17,877
Total deferred tax liabilities (24) (40)
Net deferred tax asset 19,747 17,837
Total deferred tax assets nonadmitted (19,74 (17,837)
Net admitted deferred tax asset 3 — 3 -
Increase in nonadmitted asset $ 1,910 $ 17,837

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:

Unearned premiums $ 185 $ 641

Discounting of unpaid claims 1,594 3,980

Rate stabilization reserves 9,225 2,575

Other contractual liabilities 8,133 10,631

Other 634 50
Total deferred tax assets 19,771 17,877
Total deferred tax assets nonadmitted (19,747) (17.837)
Admitted deferred tax assets 24 40
Deferred tax liabilities:

Bond discount 24) (40)
Total deferred tax liabilities (24) (40)
Net admitted deferred tax asset $ — 3 -
0311-0483905-PH 16
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

5. Income Taxes (continued)

The change in net deferred income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2003 is
composed of the following:

December 31
2003 2002 Change
Total deferred tax assets $ 19,771 $ 17,877 $ 1,894
Total deferred tax liabilities (24) (40) 16
Net deferred tax assets $ 19,747 $17.837 $1.910

A reconciliation of federal tax expense (benefit) and the amount that would have been
provided at statutory rates is as follows:

Year ended December 31
2003 2002

Provision computed as statutory rate $(40,523) $(24,197)
Interest expense not recognized for statutory purposes (2,637) (552)
Other contractual liabilities (2,499) 10,632
Claims unpaid (2,386) 3,981
Experience rated reserves 6,650 2,575
Other (281) 652

$(41,676) 3 (6,909

6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company’s parent, CBC, has been named in a class action lawsuit alleging violation
of the Pennsylvania Non-Profit Corporation Law and breach of subscriber contracts by
maintaining “excessive” surplus. Based on a decision of the Pennsylvania
Commonwealth Court in a similar case filed against another Pennsylvania Blue Cross
plan, the lower court dismissed the action against CBC, which dismissal was affirmed by
the Commonwealth Court. That decision has been appealed to the Pennsylvania Supreme
Court, which has stayed the action against CBC pending disposition of the action against
the other Blue Cross plan. Plaintiffs have also filed a complaint with the PID under the
Pennsylvania Unfair Insurance Practices Act. In January 2004, the PID published a notice
directing each Pennsylvania Blue plan to file an application for approval of the reserves

0311-0483505-PH 17
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

{Amounts in Thousands)

6. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

and surplus they maintain based on a range of statutory risk based capital levels as
defined under statutory regulations. CBC has challenged the PID’s authority to issue this
notice. Management is not able to estimate the impact of the outcome of this situation on
CBC’s or the Company’s statutory-basis financial statements.

The Company is subject to claims, contractual disputes and other uncertainties. In the
opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations.

The health care and health insurance industries are subject to numerous laws and
regulations of federal, state and local governments. These laws and regulations include,
but are not necessarily limited to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government
health care program participation requirements, reimbursement for patient services and
Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Government activity has increased with respect
to investigations and allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse
statutes and regulations by health care insurers and providers. Violations of these laws
and regulations could result in expulsion from government health care programs together
with the imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments
for patient services previously billed. Management believes that the Company is in
compliance with fraud and abuse as well as other applicable government laws and
regulations. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future
government review and interpretation as well as regulatory actions unknown or
unasserted at this time.

7. Guarantee from Parent

The Company has a guarantee from CBC for all contractual and financial obligations to
its members. This guarantee is required by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association to
enable the Company to use the registered Blue Cross and Blue Shield service marks.

0311-0483905-PH IR
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

8. Surplus Debentures

On March 15, 2002, September 13, 2002, December 20, 2002, and December 17, 2003
surplus debentures were issued by the Company to CBC in the amount of $25,000,
$50,000, $150,000, and $100,000, respectively. In addition, the Company had previously
issued to CBC a $625 surplus debenture. The notes bear interest at a rate which is
adjusted annually and is based on the five-year U.S. Treasury Bond rate determined for
each calendar year, plus 50 basis points. The interest rate was 3.28% and 4.80% for 2003
and 2002, respectively. Interest is due and payable annually on January 15 for interest
accrued as of December 31, upon approval by the PID. The Company did not pay any
interest in 2003, and paid interest in the amount of $372 for December 31, 2002. The
Company recognizes interest expense on these notes when approved by the PID. The PID
did not approve any interest in 2003 and 2002. Total interest contractually accrued but
not approved by the PID was $9,106 at December 31, 2003. These debentures are
subordinated to all other indebtedness. The Company may, with the approval of the PID,
redeem these debentures at any time, in part or in whole.

9, Related Party Transactions

During the year, CBC incurred certain costs on behalf of the Company, including costs of
salaries, professional fees and other adminisirative expenses. These amounts were
allocated between the companies based on relevant statistical measures. Net charges to
the Company for services performed by CBC were $141,333 and $28,779 for 2003 and
2002, respectively.

The following table summarizes the due from/to parent and affiliates balances:

December 31
2003 2002

Due From Due To Due From Pue To
CBC $ 74,447 $(2,859) $ 29,996 $(448)
Capital Administrative

Services, Inc. 1,794 - — —

Total $ 76,241 5(2.859) $ 29,996 $(448)
0311-0483505-PH 19
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Notes to Statutory-Basis Financial Statements (continued)

(Amounts in Thousands)

10. Loss from Uninsured Accident and Health Plans

The loss from operations from ASO and cost plus uninsured plans, which is reported as a
component of general and administrative expenses, was as follows:

2003 2002
Gross reimbursement for medical costs incurred $ 253,034 $17,215
Gross administrative fees accrued 27,445 (2,973)
Gross expenses incurred (claims and administrative) (289,847) (15,226)
Loss from operations $ (9.368) 3 (984)
0311-0483905-PH 20
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Summary Investment Schedule — Statutory Basis
December 31, 2003

Admitted Assets as
Reported in the
Gross Investment Holdings* Annual Statement
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
(In Thousands)

Bonds:
U.8. Treasury securities $113,422 33.6% $113,422 33.6%
U.S. government agency and corporate
obligations (excluding mortgage-backed
securities):
Issued by U.S. government agencies - - - -
Issued by U.S, government-sponsored
agencies - - - -
Foreign government (including Canada,
excluding mortgage-backed securities) - - - -
Securities issued by states, territories, and
possessions and political subdivisions in
the U.S.:
State, territory, and possessions —
general obligations 700 0.2 700 02
Political subdivisions of states,
territories, and possessions and political
subdivisions — general obligations - - - -
Revenue and assessment obligations - - - -
Industrial development and similar
obligations - - - -
Mortgage-backed securities (includes
residential and commercial MBS):
Pass-through securities:
Guaranteed by GNMA 17,888 53 17,888 5.3
Issued by FNMA and FHL.MC 49,543 14.7 49,543 14.7
Privately issued - - - -
CMOs and REMICs:
Issued by FNMA and FHLMC - - - -
Privately issued and collateralized by
MBRBS; issued or guaranteed by
GNMA, FMNA, or FHLMC - - - -
All other privately issued - - - -
Other debt and other fixed income
securities (excluding short term):
Unaffiliated domestic securities
(includes credit tenant loans rated by
the SVO) 78,938 23.4 78,938 234
Unaffiliated foreign securities -
Affiliated securities - - - -

0311-0483905-PH N
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Summary Investment Schedule — Statutory Basis (continued)

December 31, 2003

Admitted Assets ag
Reported in the
Gross Investment Holdings* Annual Statement

Amount Percentage Amount

Pereentage_

{In Thousands)
Equity interests:
Investments in mutual funds 3 - - % b -
Preferred stocks:
Affiliated - - -
Unaffiliated - - -
Publicly traded equity securities
(excluding preferred stocks):
Affiliated - - -
Unaffiliated - - -
Other equity securities:
Affiliated - - -
Unaffiliated - - -
Other equity interests including tangible
personal property under lease:
Affiliated - - -
Unaffiliated - - -
Mortgage loans:
Constructior and land development - - -
Apgricultural - - -
Single-family residential properties - - -
Multifamily residential properties - - -
Commercial loans - - -
Real estate investments:
Property occupied by company - - -
Property held for sale - - -
Collateral loans - _ - -
Policy loans - - -
Receivables for securities - - -
Cash and short-term investments 76,668 22.8 76,668
Write-in for invested assets

- %

22.8

Total invested assets $337,159 100.0% $337,159

100.0%

*Gross investment holdings as valued in compliance with NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures

Manual.

0311-0483%05-PH
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Investment Risk Interrogatories — Statutory Basis

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

The Plan’s total admitted assets as reported in the balance sheet — statutory basis is
$494.248 at December 31, 2003.

1. The 10 largest exposures to a single issuer/borrower/investment, by investment
category, excluding: (i) U.S. government, U.S. government agency securities and
those U.S, government money market funds listed in the Appendix to the SVO
Purposes and Procedures Manual as exempt, (ii) property occupied by the
Company, and (iii) policy loans at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Percentage
of ‘Total
Admitted
Investment Amount Assets
General Motors Corp. $ 3,929 795%
Kellogg 1,588 321
Time Wamer Inc. 1,363 276
Norfolk Southern Corp. 1,221 247
Walt Disney 1,044 211
General Mills 1,003 203
Daimler Chrysler 678 137
AT&T Broadband 560 J13
Fred Meyer Inc. 554 112
Lockhead Martin 479 097
2, The amounts and percentages of the Plan’s total admitted assets held in bonds by

NAIC rating are as follows:

Bonds Amount Percent
NAIC-1 $ 330,808 66.932%
NAIC-2 15,005 3.036
NAIC-3 - -
NAIC-4 - -
NAIC-5 : ~ -
NAIC-6 - -
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Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Investment Risk Interrogatories — Statutory Basis (continued)

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

The amounts and percentages of the Plan’s total admitted assets held in foreign
investments (regardiess of whether there is any foreign currency exposure) and
unhedged foreign currency exposure (defined as the statement value of investment
denominated in foreign currencies which are not hedged by financial instruments
qualifying for hedge), including (i) foreign-currency-denominated investments of
$0 supporting insurance liabilities denominated in that same foreign currency of
$0 and excluding (ii) Canadian investments and currency exposure of $0 at
December 31, 2003 are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of the Plan’s total admitted assets held in Canadian
investments and unhedged Canadian currency exposure, including Canadian-
currency-denominated investments of $0 supporting Canadian-denominated
insurance habilities of $0 at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None

The aggregate amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted
assets held in investments with contractual sales restrictions (defined as
investments having restrictions that prevent investments from being sold within
90 days at December 31, 2003) are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of admitted assets held in the largest 10 equity
interests (including investments in the shares of mutual funds, preferred stocks,
publicly traded equity securities, and other equity securities, and excluding money
market and bond mutual funds listed in the Appendix to SVO Practices and
Procedures Manual as exempt or Class 1) at December 31, 2003 are as follows:
None

Nonaffiliated, privately placed equities (included in other equity securities) and
excluding securities eligible for sale under (i) Securities Exchange Commission
(SEC) Rule 144a or (ii) SEC Rule 144 without volume restrictions at
December 31, 2003 totaled $741, which represents 0.15% of total admitted assets.

The amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in
general partnership interests (included in other equity securities) at December 31,
2003 are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in
mortgage loans at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None.
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15.

Capital Advantage Insurance Company

Investment Risk Interrogatories — Statutory Basis (continued)

December 31, 2003
(Amounts in Thousands)

The amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in
each of the five largest investments in one parcel or group of contiguous parcels
of real estate, excluding property occupied by the Plan at December 31, 2003 are
as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets subject
to the following types of agreements are as follows:

At End of Each Quarter

Percentage
of Total 1st 2nd 3rd
Year End Admitted Quarter Quarter Quarter
Amount Assets Amount Amount Amount

Securities lending (do not include
assets held as collateral for such
transactions) b

Repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements

Dollar repurchase agreements

Dollar reverse repurchase
agreements - - - - -

% 5

The amounts and percentages of warrants not attached to other financial
instruments, options, caps, and floors at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of potential exposure (defined as the amount
determined in accordance with the NAIC Annual Statement Instructions) for
collars, swaps, and forwards at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages indicated below of potential exposure (defined as
the amount determined in accordance with the NAIC Arnnual Statement
Instructions) for futures contracts at December 31, 2003 are as follows: None

The amounts and percentages of 10 largest investments included in the Write-ins
for Invested Assets category on the Summary Investment Schedule as of
December 31, 2003 are as follows: None
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Elf ERNST & YOUNG LLP

STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
 February 24, 2004

Board of Directors
Capital Advantage Insurance Company

1, Michael J. Cellini, am a member of the American Academy of Actuaries (“the
Academy"), and a Senior Manager and Consulting Actuary with the firm of Erst &
Young LLP. I have been retained by Capital Advantage Insurance Company ("the
Company”) to issue this opinion. 1 meet the Academy qualification standards for issuing
this opinion, and 1 am femiliar with the valuation requirements applicable to the
Company. -

1 have reviewed the actuarial assumptions and actuarial methods used in determining the
reserves and related actuarial items listed below and as shown in the Annual Statement of
the Company, as prepared by the management of the Company for filing with state
regulatory officials, as of December 31, 2003. My responsibility is to express an opinion
on these reserves and related actuarial items based on my review. The actuarial methods,
considerations and analyses used in forming my opinion conform to the appropriate
Actuarial Standards of Practice and Actuarial Compliance Guidelines as promulgated by
the Actuarial Standards Board, and form the basis of this statement of opinion.

Aopnual
Statement
Reference :

Itern Page-Line Amount
Claims Unpaid ' 3-1 $188,453,689
Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses 3-3 $6,216,742
Aggrepate Health Policy Reserves 34 $31,671,039

The reserves and related actuarial items listed above represent the estimates made by
management of the Company for all unpaid claims as of December 31, 2003.
Considerable uncertainty and variability are inherent in such estimates, and, accordingly,
the subsequent development of the unpaid claims lisbility may not conform to the
assumptions used in the determination of the unpaid claims liability and therefore may
vary from the amounts in the foregoing table. '

Page 1 of 3 February 24, 2004
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1 bave relied on listings and summaries of claims and other relevant data, and upon
management’s representations regarding the collectibility of reinsurance recoverable
amounts, as expressed in the attached siatement. I have relied upon Mr. Joseph N.
Romano, Vice President and Chief Actuary, for the accuracy of the data, as expressed in
the attached statement.

My review included the identification and evaluation of the effect on the foregoing
reserves of capitated risk-sharing contracts with service providers; however, my review
of such capitated risk-sharing coptracts did not include an assessment of the financial
.condition of the service providers. As such, the following opinion rests on the
assumption that such service providers will fulfill their obligations under their respective
contracts with the Company.

In other respects, my examination included such review of the actuarial assumptions and
actuarial methods, including comparing prior years’ estimates of unpaid claims liabilities
to their subsequent development and such other tests of the actuarial calculations, as 1
considered necessary.

In my opinion, the reserves and related actuarial items identified above:

(a) Are computed in accordance with presently accepted actuarial standards
consistently applied, and are fairly stated in accordance with sound actuarial
principles, except that consideration of the adequacy of the Company's reserves
and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which support them has
not been performed;

{(b) Are based on actuarial assumptions relevant to contract provisions and
appropriate to the purpose for which the Annual Statement was prepared, and
provide for all reasonably anticipated unpaid claims under the contracts;

{c) Meet the requirements of the insurance laws and regulations of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania;

(d) Are computed on the basis of assumptions consistent with those used in
computing the corresponding items in the Annual Statement of the preceding
year, with any exceptions noted below;

(¢)  Include provision for all actuarial reserves and related actuarial items which ought .
to be established; and,

Page 2 of 3 February 24, 2004
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H Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial
liabilities of the Company under the terms of its contracts and agreements, by
which T mean that the estimated liabilities is an appropriate measure of reasonably
anticipated payments on incurred claims under potentially moderately adverse
development, although, consistent with the scope of my review, the adequacy of
the Company’s reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets
which support them has not been considered,

My review did not include asset adequacy analysis, as such analysis is not in the scope of
my assignment. I have not reviewed any of the Company’s assets and 1 have not formed
any opinion as to their validity or value. My opinion rests on the assumption that the
Company’s December 31, 2003 statutory-basis unpaid claims liability is funded by valid
assets that have suvitably scheduled maturities and/or adequate liquidity to meet future
cash flow requirements.

The scope of my review did not include preparation of the Underwriting and Investment
Exhibit - Part 2B of the Annual Staternent. I relied upon Mr. Joseph N. Romano, Vice
President and Chief Actuary, regarding the consistency of paid claims data and unpaid
claims estimates with the Underwriting and Investment Exhibit. As part of my review, I
conducted analysis consistent with Section 3.6, “Follow-Up Studies”, contained in ASOP
Number 5, “Incurred Health and Disability Claims”, adopted by the Actuarial Standards
Board in December 2000,

My review relates only to those reserves and related actuarial items identified herein, and
I do not express an opinion on the Company's financial statements taken as a whole.

This opinion has been prepared solely for the Board and the management of the Company
and for filing with state regulatory officials, and for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield
Assoclation, and is not intended for any other purpose.

Prpll

Michael J. Cellini, Ph.D., ASA, MAAA
5 Times Square

New York, New York 10036-6530
(212} 773-0873
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Keystone Health Plan Central

Audited Statutory-Basis Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
together with Actuarial Opinion issued by
Ernst & Young LLP as of December 31, 2003
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Statutory-Basis Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 with Report of Independent Auditors

CBC 00172



=’I ERNST& YOUNG & Emst & Young Lp = Phone: (215) 448-5000
Two Commerce Square Fax:  (215) 448-4069
Suite 4000 Www.ey.com
2001 Market Slreet
Philadelphia

Pennsylvania 19103-7096

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying statutory-basis balance sheet of Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (the
Company) as of December 31, 2003, and the related statutory-basis statements of operations, changes in capital and
surplus and cash flow for the year then ended. Theses financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The
statutory-basis financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2002 were audited by other
auditors whose report dated February 28, 2003 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements as to a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An andit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

_As described in Note 1, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting

practices prescribed or permmitted by the Pennsylvania Insurance Department, which is a comprehensive basis of
accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

In our opinion, the 2003 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash
flow for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 14 to the financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting
for pharmacy rebate receivables.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the 2003 statutory-basis financial statements
taken as a whole. The accompanying supplemental investment disclosure is presented to comply with the Annual
Statement Instructions and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ Accounting Practices and
Procedures Manual and is not a required part of the statutory-basis financial staterments. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the 2003 statutory-basis financial statements and, in our
opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 2003 statutory-basis financial staternents taken as a
whole.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the Pennsylvania Insurance
Department and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Sanct ¥ MLLP

A Member Practice of Ernst & Young Global

February 9, 2004
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. KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
STATUTORY-BASIS BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2003 and 2002

2003 2002
l ADMITTED ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 73,158,904 $ 85,004,025
Short-term investment - 4,044 936
l Investments 79,543,319 50,225,794
Receivables:
Subscription income 25,830,032 22,922,446
I Self - insured groups 12,737,267 17,969,378
Other 2,380,828 592,727
Amounts due from affiliates:
Capital Blue Cross 1,274,400 1,274,400
Highmark Life Insurance Company - 374,757
Deferred income tax assets, net 3,680,491 3,419,541
EDP equipment and operating system software (net of accumulated
depreciation of $2,702,909 and $2,649,686 in 2003 and 2002, respectively) 467,643 561,728

o

Total admitted assels 199,072,884

$ 186,389,732

LIABILITIES, CAPITAL AND SURFLUS
Liabilides:
Claims oulstanding $ 50,229,316
Unearned subscriplion income and advance premium 42,102,040
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 16,761,086
Federal income taxes payable 6,007,490
Amounts due to affiliates:
Capital Blue Cross 3,215,519
Highmark Inc. -
Highmark Life Insurance Company

Amounts held for others 8,343,140
Amounts payable to providers 1,375,164

$ 52,194,552
38,387,302
20,018,820

1,489,276

9,081,847
1,095,978
113,307
693,585
9,528,188
2,495,372

Total liabilities 128,236,443

135,098,627

Capital and surplus:
Common stock:
Class A, 51 par value, 75,000 shares authorized,
20,000 issued and outstanding 20,000
Class B, $1 par value, 75,000 shares authorized,
20,000 issued and outstznding 20,000
Additional paid-in-capital 1,160,000
Surplus debentures 14,000,000
Unassigned surplus 55,636,44)

20,000

20,000
1,160,000
16,000,000
34,091,105

Tolal capital and surplus 70,836,441

51,291,105

Total liabililies, capital and surplus $ 199,072,884

$ 186,389,732

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statutory financial statements
3

I Keystone Health Plan Management Company 202,688
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I KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC,

STATUTORY-BASIS STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

2003 2002
I Income:
Subscription income $ 449,094,238 § 420,498,124
Investment income 2,733,198 3,390,527
I Realized gain (loss) on investments, net 17,672 (832,190)
Other Income 14,058 188,279
l 451,859,166 432,244,740
l Expenses:
Hospital and facility expense 199,150,185 194,033,011
Physician and related expense 106,021,491 99,332,932
l Capitation expense 37,157,283 39,795,223
Prescriplion drug expense 32,536,352 34,713,887
Administrative and general expense 46,330,371 46,492,835
I Interest expense 1,321,604 1,003,316
422,517,286 415,371,204
| Income before provision for federal income taxes 29,341,880 16,873,536
I Provision for federal income taxes 7,688,616 8,194,345
Net income $ 21,653,264 $ 8,679,191
' The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statutory financial statements CBC 00175
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
STATUTORY-BASIS STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL AND SURPLUS
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

Class A& B Additional  Subordinate
Common Paid-in and Surplus  Unassigned
Shares Stock Capital Debentures Surplus Total
Balance, December 31, 2001 40,000 3 40,000 $ 1,160,000 § 18,000,000 % 24211.869 § 43,411,869
Decrease in surplus debentures (2,600,000) (2,000,000)
Increase in non-admitied assets (1,178.,045) (1,178,045)
Other capital & surplus adjustrnents:
- unrealized gain on
equity securities 382,711 382,711
- change in net deferred
income tax 1,995,379 1,985,379
Net income 8,679,191 8,679,191
Balance, December 31, 2002 40,000 $ 40,000 $ 1,160,000 $ 16,000,000 $ 34,091,105 $ 51,291,105
Decrease in surplus debentures (2,000,000) (2.000,000)
Decrease in non-admitted assets 834,552 834,552
Other capital & surplus adjustments:
- unrealized gain on
equity securities 096,906 996,906
- change in net deferred
income tax : (1,935,386}  (1,939,386)
Net income 21,653,264 21,653,264
Balance, December 31, 2003 40000 $ 40,000 $ 1,160,000 § 14,000,000 % 55,636,441 § 70,836,441

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these statutory financial statements
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
STATUTORY-BASIS STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash provided by operating activities:

Premiums and revenues, net of reinsurance $ 449,898,160 $ 432,018,796
Net transfers from affiliates - 22,766,626
Investment income 3,399,653 3,433,353
Miscelleancus receipts 14,058 188,279
Other cash (used in) provided by operating activities (5,331,966) 4,862,874
Cash used in operating activities:
Medical expenses (376,830,546) (370,074,338)
Administrative and general expenses (45,000,377) (43,745,006)
Net ransfers to affiliates (7,192,153) -
Federal income taxes paid (3.170,402) (8,347,626)
Net cash provided by operating activities 15,786,427 41,102,958
Cash flows from investing activities: _
Payments for purchase of investments (101,273,141) (23,860,469)
Proceeds from maturity of investments 22,895,000 14,000,000
Payments for acquisidon of furniture and equipment (261,096) {505,795)
Proceeds from sale of furniture and equipment - 3,062
Net cash used in investing activities (28,744,430) (10,363,202)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Interest paid {932,054} (1,003,316)
Payment of surplus debentures (2,000,000) (2.000,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,932,054) (3,003,316)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and short-lerm investments (15,890,057) 27,736,440
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at beginning of year 89,048,961 61,312,521
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at end of year § 73,158,904 $ 89,048,961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statutory financial statements
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1.

KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant Accounting Policies:

Description of the Business:

Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in 1985 as a for profit corporation for
the purpose of operating as a health maintenance organization (HMO) in Central Pennsylvania. The
Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Capital Blue Cross (CBC). The Company was previously owned
50% by Highmark Inc. (Highmark) and 50% by CBC. On November 26, 2003, CBC and Highmark
finalized a Stock Purchase Agreement in which Highmark sold its 50% ownership interest in the Company
to CBC. The Agreement was effective April 1, 2003.

Nature of Operations:

The Company underwrites managed care insurance products and provides administrative services, which
include network access, quality management and utilization management, to various self-insured employer
groups. All medical loss exposure associated with self-insured contracting activity is retained by the
employer groups.

The Company's geographical market area consists of 21 counties within Central Pennsylvania.

Basis of Presentation:

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ Practices and Procedures Manual (NAIC SAP) has
been adopted as a component of prescribed or permitted practices by the Insurance Department. The
Insurance Department has adopted certain prescribed accounting practices that differ from those found in
NAIC SAP. None of these differences between the Insurance Department’s prescribed accounting practices
and NAIC SAP had any impact on the Company.

The Company prepares its statutory-basis financial statements in conformity with accounting practices
prescribed or permitted by the Insurance Department of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the Insurance
Department), which differ from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP).

The more significant differences from GAAP are:

Investments: Investments in bonds are reported at amortized cost or market value based on their National
Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) rating; for GAAP, such fixed maturity investments would
be designated at purchase as held-to-maturity, trading or available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity fixed
investments would be reported at amortized cost, and the remaining fixed maturity investments would be
reported at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses reported in operations for those designated as
trading and as a separate component of shareholders’ equity for those designated as available-for-sale.

Non-admitted Assets: Certain assets designated as non-admitted, principally prepaid expenses, furniture and
equipment, certain receivables greater than 90 days past due and other assets not specifically identified as an
admitted asset within the NAIC SAP are excluded from the accompanying balance sheets and are charged
directly to unassigned surplus. Under GAAP, such assets are included in the balance sheet.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Basis of Presentation, continued:

Deferred Income Taxes: Deferred tax assets are limited to 1) the amount of federal income taxes paid in
prior years that can be recovered through loss carrybacks for existing temporary differences that reverse by
the end of the subsequent calendar year, plus 2) the lesser of the remaining gross deferred tax assets
expected to be realized within one year of the balance sheet date or 10% of capital and surplus, excluding
any net deferred tax assets, EDP equipment and operating software and any net positive goodwill, plus 3)
the amount of remaining gross deferred tax assets that can be offset against existing gross deferred tax
liabilities. The remaining deferred tax assets are non-admitted. Deferred taxes do not include amounts for
state taxes. Under GAAP, state income taxes are included in the computation of deferred taxes, a deferred
tax asset is recorded for the amount of gross deferred tax assets expected to be realized in future years, and a
valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets not realizable.

Surplus Debentures: Surplus debentures are reflected in statutory capital and surplus, under GAAP, surplus
debentures are reflected as a liability.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements of insurance companies requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the statutory-basis financial statements and accompanying
notes. Such estimates and assumptions could change in the future as more information becomes known,
which could impact the amounts reported and disclosed herein.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments:

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity date of three months or
less at date of purchase, to be cash equivalents for purposes of the statutory-basis balance sheets and the
statements of cash flow. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Short-term
investments are securities with a maturity date of one year or less at date of purchase, excluding instruments
classified as cash or cash equivalents.

Investments:

The Company's invested assets consist of commercial paper, U.S. Treasury securities, corporate and
municipal bonds, other U.S. Government agency debt instruments and certain equity securities. Debt
securities are carried at amortized cost and premiums or discounts are amortized using the effective interest
method. Marketable equity securities are carried at fair value (using market prices published by the NAIC
Securities Valuation Office) and unrealized gains and losses are reported as an adjustment to surplus.
Realized gains and losses are calculated based on amortized cost using the specific identification method for
calculating these gains and losses.

The Company accounts for its wholly-owned subsidiary, Keystone Health Plan Management Company
(KHPMC), using the GAAP equity method. Income is recognized as unrealized gains and losses, which is
reported as an adjustment to surplus.

The Company periodically evaluates securities for other than temporary impairment. Factors considered in

determining whether declines in fair value are other than temporary include the significance of the decline,

the time duration of the decline, current economic conditions and the Company’s ability and intent to hold

the security until such time that the fair value recovers. At the time a security is determined to be other than

temporarily impaired, the Company records a realized loss in the statutory-basis statement of operations.
Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Investment Income:

All due and accrued investment income was included in-the statutory-basis financial statements since no
amounts are 90 days past due. ,

Income Taxes:

The Company and its subsidiary, KHPMC are part of CBC's consolidated federal income tax return. The
method of allocation between the companies is subject to written agreement, approved by the Board of
Directors. Allocation is based upon separate return calculations with current credit for net losses. Inter-
company tax balances are settled within 60 days of statutory due dates.

Claims Outstanding:

The liability for claims outstanding is based on known amounts of reported claims and an estimate for
incurred but not reported claims using past experience adjusted for current trends. The methods used to
determine this estimate are continually reviewed and any resulting adjustments are included in current

operations.

The Company evaluates its various managed care products by contract type to determine if a contract
reserve is necessary. Contract reserves are established when a portion of premiums eamned in the early
periods of a multi year fully insured contract are meant to pay for anticipated increases in claim expenses
during the later periods of the contract.

Additionally, the Company evalvates whether a premium deficiency reserve is necessary. Premium
deficiency reserves are necessary when future premiums plus claim reserves are insufficient to account for
future expected claim payments and expenses. The Company does not take investment income into
consideration when making premium deficiency reserve evaluations.

Contract reserves and premium deficiency reserves are included in claims outstanding. At the point in
which the Company identifies that a contract or premium deficiency reserve is necessary, the loss is
recognized in the statutory-basis statement of operations.

As a result of the Company’s periodic evaluation of its various managed care products, the Company has
determined that one of its products requires a premium deficiency reserve, as of December 31, 2003 and
2002. Accordingly, the Company recorded premium deficiency reserves of $282,629 and $223,290 as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Amounts Held for Others:

Amounnts held for others consist of advances from self-insured employer groups for medical costs incurred
by the Company on behaif of these groups.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Reingurance:

Through its reinsurance contract, the Company seeks to reduce losses that may arise from risks or
occurrences of an unexpected nature that cause adverse underwriting results. Premiums and health care
costs are accounted for on bases consistent with those used in accounting for the original policies issued and
the terms of the reinsurance contracts.

Subscription Income:

Subscription income is recognized on contracts that contain insurance risk. Subscriber premiums are
generally billed in advance of the contractual coverage periods. These premiums are included in income as
eamed during the coverage period. The unearned portion of premiums is reflected in the statutory-basis
balance sheets as uneamed subscription income and advance premium.

Administrative Service Revenue:
Administrative service revenue is recognized on contracts that do not contain insurance risk. Administrative
services revenue is recorded in the statutory-basis statements of operations in the period that the related
services are provided to self-insured employer groups and is recorded as a reduction to administrative and

general expense.

Health Care Service Cost Recopnition:

The Company contracts with primary care physicians to provide primary health care services to its
members. Medical expenses include all amounts incurred by the Company under the aforementioned
contracts. The cost of other health care services provided or contracted for is accrued in the period in which
the coverage is provided to a member and is based in part on estimates. The methods used to determine
these estimates are continually reviewed and any resulting adjustments are included in current operations.

Change in Accounting Principle:

As of January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of SSAP #84, “Certain Health Care Receivables
and Recejvables Under Government Insured Plans” regarding admissibility of pharmaceutical rebate
receivables.

Reclassifications:

Certain items in the December 31, 2002 statutory-basis financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to current year presentation.

Continued
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l KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
2. Investments:
I The amortized cost and fair values of investments in securities at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as
follows:
I 2003
l Amortized Gross Gross
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Fair
or Cost Gains Losses Value
' U.S. Treasury securities $ 770,692 3 1,406 § 1,056 % 771,042
U.S. Government agencies 30,091,342 113,564 35,629 30,169,277
I Municipal bonds 2,082,118 75,051 - 2,157,169
Corporate obligations 42,621,539 536,231 247,218 42,910,552
l Total debt securities 75,565,601 726,252 283,903 76,008,040
Marketable equity securities 3,148,747 328,881 - 3,977,628
. Total § 78,714,438 §$ 1,555,133 $ 283,903 -5 79,985,668
l 2002
Amortized Gross Gross .
I Cost Unrealized Unrealized Fair
or Cost Gains Losses Value
I U.S. Treasury securities § 1564,653 $ - 96,886 § - $ 1,661,539
U.S. Governinent agencies 20,029,814 365,562 - 20,395,376
I Mounicipal bonds 9,988,009 299,693 - 10,287,702
Corporate obligations 15,514,480 316,765 - 15,831,245
I Total debt securities 47,096,956 1,078,906 - 48,175,862
Marketable equity securities 3,128,838 - - 3,128,838
' Total $ 50225794 § 1,078,906 $ . § 51,304,700
I Continved CBC 00182



KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

2. Investments, continued:

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2003, by contractual maturity, are
shown below. Expected maturities could differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the
right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penaities.

2003

Amortized Fair

Cost Value
Due within 1 yr. or less $ 2,555902 § 2,570,856
Due after I yr. through 5 yrs. $§ 29,531,379 $ 29,764,850
Due after 5 yr. through 10 yrs. § 22,338,993 § 22,243,260
Due after 10 years 21,139,417 21,429,074
Total $ 75,565,691 $ 76,008,040

A bond with a par value of $100,000 (amortized cost of $100,154 and $99,920 as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively) at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was on deposit with the Insurance Department as
required by law. :

The Company does not own any below investment grade debt securities. Proceeds from the sale of
investments were $49,894,807 and $0 and gross realized gains were $17,672 and 30 in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. In addition, the Company recorded a realized loss on marketable equity security investments
of $0 and $832,190 in 2003 and 2002, respectively, as a result of an other than temporary impairment write-
down.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Income Taxes:

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant .portions of deferred tax assets and

liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
Pension / postretirement benefits
Unearned subscription income
Accrued expenses
Discounting of claims outstanding
Difference in investment carrying values
Fixed assets
Health care receivables
Other

Total deferred tax assets
Non-admitted deferred tax assets
Admitted deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:

Interest
Other

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets

Decrease in non-admitted assets

The change in net deferred income taxes is comprised of the following (this analysis is exclusive of pon-

admitted assets):

Total deferred tax assets
Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets

Tax effect of unrealized gains
Change in net deferred income taxes

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
3 - $ 3,011,286
1,724,828 1,531,799
2,590,000 2,590,000
469,766 536,792
884,984 884,984
354,148 483,288
258,956 -
1,310,495 826,027
7,593,177 9,864,176
(3,909,360) (6,109,690)
3,683,817 3,754,480
- 244,601
3,326 90,338
3,326 334,939

$ 3,680491 § 3,419,541

(2,200,336)

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 Change
$ 7,593,177 $§ 9,864,176 § (2,270,999)
3,326 334,939 (331,613)
$ 7,589,851 § 9,529,237 (1,939,386)
§ (1,939,386)
Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC,
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

3. Income Taxes, continued:

The provision for federal income taxes incurred is different from that which would be obtained by applying
the statutory Federal income tax rate to income before income taxes. The significant items causing this
difference are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002

_ Provision computed at statutory rate $ 10,381,611 % 5,905,738
Tax exempt interest deduction (138,602) (102,772)

Temporary differences recorded directly to surplus {502,477) 359,085

QOther (112,530) 36,915

Total § 0628002 & 6,198,966

Federal income taxes incurred § 7688616 $ 8,194,345
Change in net deferred income taxes 1,939,386 (1,995,379)
Total statutory income taxes $ 9628002 % 6,198,966

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had state income tax net operating loss carry forwards totaling $6
million, which will expire by 2007. The Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset for these carry
forwards.

The following are income taxes incurred in the current and prior years that will be available for recoupement
in the event of future net losses:

2003 3 8414343
2002 § 7,434,380

Transactions with Parents, Subsidiaries and Affiliates:

Highmark provided certain administrative services, including the administration of employee benefits and
risk management programs, on behalf of the Company during 2003 and 2002. CBC provided claims
processing and certain administrative services on behalf of the Company during 2003 and 2002. Highmark
Life Insurance Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Highmark, maintained a reinsurance policy for
stop-loss coverage on medical claims during 2003 and 2002.

Continued
14
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

4. Transactions with Parents, Subsidiaries and Affiliates, continued:

For services received, the Company was charged the following fees from affiliated entities during 2003 and
2002, and are included in hospital and facility expense and administrative and general expense (amounts
reported for CBC exclude charges associated with self-insured business):

2003 2002
Capital Blue Cross $ 7,846,380 $ 7,702,330
Highmark Inc. (A) 2,069,137 2,095,711

In accordance with the Company’s reinsurance contract, the following premiums and recoveries were
incurred during 2003 and 2002:

_ 2003 2002
Highmark Life Insurance Company (A)
Premiums 1,917,059 1,366,841
Recoveries (670,810) (882,732)

$ 1,246,249 § 484,109

(A) As a result of the Stock Purchase Agreement signed by CBC and Highmark, Highmark or any of its
subsidiaries are not considered an affiliated entity for 2003.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the following amounts due from (to) affiliated entities were outstanding:

2003 2002
Capital Blue Cross
Due from $ 1274400 $ 1,274,400
Due to (3,215,519) (9,081,847)
Due to CBC $ (1,941,119 § (7.807.447)
Highmark Inc.
Due to 3 - $ (1,095,978)
Due to Highmark Inc. $ - § (1,095,978)
Highmark Life Insurance Company
Due from 3 - b 374,757
Due to - (113,307)
Due from Highmark Life
Insurance Company $ - $ 261,450
Due to Keystone Health Plan
Management Co. $ (202,688 $ (693,985)
Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

4. Transactions with Parents, Subsidiades and Affiliates, continued:

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary KHPMC, provided certain administrative and medical
management services to CBC of approximately $900,000 and 36,600,000 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company had a guarantee from CBC and Highmark, to the extent of their ownership interests, for all
contractval and financial obligations of the Company through November 26, 2003. Since November 26,
2003, the Company's guarantee has been only from CBC, its sole owner. This guarantee is the result of a
requirement by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association to enable the Company to use the registered
Blue Cross and Blue Shield service marks.

5. Benefit Plans:

The employees of the Company are covered under the retirement plan of Highmark. Accordingly, the
Company has been charged $1,798,007and $1,500,705 in 2003 and 2002, respectively, by Highmark for its
portion of total pension expense. These amounts are included in the Company's statutory-basis statements of
operations.

Highmark also sponsors a post-retirement health benefit plan, which covers eligible employees of the
l Company. The Company's portion of the total post-retirement health benefit expenses for 2003 and 2002 of
: $741,715 and $487,906, respectively, has been included in the Company's statutory-basis statements of
I operations based on allocations determined by Highmark. :

Additionally, Highmark also sponsors a defined contribution plan that covers eligible employees of the
Company. The plan allows participating employees to contribute a percentage of their annual salary subject
to current Internal Revenue Service (IRS) limitations. Employee contributions are matched by the Company
at various percentages. The Company’s contributions were $398,377 and $389,899 in 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

As a result of the Stock Purchase Agreement, beginning January 1, 2004 the employees of the Company will
be covered under CBC's retirement, post-retirement and defined contribution plans.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Surplus Debentures:

The Company had surplus debentures outstanding of $16,000,000 as of December 31, 2002, of which
$8,000,000 was owed to each CBC and Highmark. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had surplus
debentures outstanding of $14,000,000. As a result of the Stock Purchase Agreement finalized on-
November 26, 2003 between CBC and Highmark, CBC purchased all surplus debentures that the Company
owed to Highmark. As such, $14,000,000 outstanding at December 31, 2003 was owed entirely to CBC.

Note Number 001 002 003 004 Total
Note Holder CBC CBC CBC CBC '
Date Issued 12/30/1998  12/30/1998  12/29/2000  12/29/2000
Par Value (Original amount of
Note) $ 6,000,000 $ 6000000 $ 5,000,000 $ 5000,000 $ 22,000,000
Carrying Value $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000 $ 5,000,000 $ 5,000,000 $ 14,000,000
Interest Rate 3.71% 3.71% 3.71% 3.71%
Principal and/or Interest Paid
Current Year $ 1,174,860 $ 1,174,860 § 291,167 $ 291,167 § 2,932,054
Total Principal and/or Interest
_ Paid $ 5,222,177 $ 5222177 § 664,655 $ 664,655 § 11,773,664
Unapproved Principal / Interest $ - $ - 3 - $ - $ -
Date of Maturity: -
2004 $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,000,000
2005 ¥ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ - 2,000,000
2006 3 - $ - $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,000,000
2007 $ - 3 - $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,000,000
2008 $ - 3 - $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,000,000
Thereafter 3 - 5 - $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000 $ 4,000,000
Total § 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000 $ 5,000,000 % 5,000,000 $ 14,000,000

The above referenced surplus debentures were issued in exchange for cash. These surplus debentures bear
interest at a rate that is adjusted annually and is based on the five-year U.S. Treasury Bond rate plus 1%.
These surplus debentures are subordinated to all other indebtedness and are collateralized by the assets of
the Company. The carrying value for the surplus debentures approximate their fair value.

The Company, with the approval of the Insurance Department, may redeem the surplus debentures at any
time, in part or in whole. In addition, interest payments and accruals must also be approved by the
Insurance Department. Interest expense is not recorded in the statutory statements of operations until
approval for accrual has been obtained by the Insurance Department. Interest, which includes prior years’
interest, in the amount of $1,321,604 and $1,003,316 was approved for accrual or payment in 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

7. Litigation:

The Company has been named as the defendant in a class action lawsuit regarding changes made between
1997 and 1998 to the premium rates and benefit structure of SeniorBlue, the Company's Medicare HMO
product. Although efforts are being made to resolve this matter through a negotiated sertlement it is still
uncertain as to whether this case will be resolved in the coming year.

The Company is subject to various ather lcgal actions and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its
business. Due to the complex nature of these actions and proceedings, the timing of thc ultimate resolution
of these matters is uncertain.

In the opinion of management, based on consultation with legal counsel, adequate provision has been made
in the statutory-basis financial statements for the lability with respect to these matters, and the ultimate
liability with respect to outstanding litigation could potentially materially affect the statutory financial
position of the Company.

. Leases:

The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for office space and certain equipment, which extend
through 2005. The following is a summary of operating lease payments:

2003 . 2002
Minimum rentals $ 2,540,703 $ 2,196,466
Sublease income (224,129) (42,756)
Net expense $ 2316574 § 2,153,710

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

2004 $ 1,870,125
2005 52,721
Total $ 1,922,846

[# 4]

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

9. Uninsured Plans:

The Company provides self-insured contract activities to certain employer groups. The employer group
retains all medical loss risk associated with self-insured contracting activities. The following summarizes

the Company's self-insured activities during 2003 and 2002:

ASOQ Uninsured Plans
2003 2002
Net reimbursment for administrative expenses $ (1,309,599) §  (1,409,642)
Total other income or expense - -
Net loss from operations $  (1,309,599) §  (1,409,642)
Total claim payment volume $ 107,610,963 § 106,319,166
10. Reinsurance:
During 2003 and 2002, the Company s reinsurance contract was with Highmark Life Insurance Company.
The Company had an unsecured reinsurance recoverable on paid losses from Highmark Life Insurance
Company in the amount of $120,832 and $374,757 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
11. Changes in Claims Qutstanding:

The following is an analysis of the Company’s liability for claims outstanding as of December 31, 2003 and

2002:
2003 2002
Claims outstanding as of January 1 $ 52,194,552 $ 53,861,431
Incurred related to:
Current year 387,977,462 378,401,977
Prior years (13,112,152) (10,508,549)
Total incurred 374,865,310 367,893,428
Paid related to:
Current year 341,937,220 329,231,756
Prior years 34,893,326 40,328,551
' Total paid 376,830,546 369,560,307
l Claims outstanding as of December 31 $ 50229316 $ 52,194,552
l Continued | CBC 00190
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

Changes in Claims Outstanding, continued:

Amounts reported in the analysis of claims outstanding are net of reinsurance. The liability for claims
outstanding attributable to insured events of prior years has decreased healthcare service costs by
$13,112,152 and $10,508,549 in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decrease is the result of the re-estimation
of unpaid losses on the Commercial and Medicare lines of business. This decrease is generally the result of
ongoing analysis of recent loss development trends. Original estimates are increased or decreased as
additional information becomes known regarding individual losses.

. Minimum Capital and Surplus:

Under the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the Company is currently required
to maintain minimum capital and surplus equal to the greater of $1,000,000 or 3 months of uncovered
expenditures, for insolvency purposes. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company met the minimum
capital and surplus requirements.

. EDP Equipment, Oggra_ting System Software and Other Depreciable Fixed Assets:

Electronic data processing equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Maintenance, repairs
and minor improvements are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is computed under the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the
cost and related accurnulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is

included in operations.

A summary of the major components of depreciable fixed assets at December 31, 2003 1s as follows:

2003
Total Non-admitted Net
EDP eguipment $ 3,095259 §$ - $ 3,095,259
Operating system software $ 75,293 § - $ 75,293
Fumniture and fixtures $ 1362362 $ 1,362,362 $ -
Non-operating system software b 723,468 § 723,468 § -
Leasehold improvement and other $ 1,667,525 $ 1,667,525 3 -
$ 6923907 $ 3,753,355 $§ 3,170,552

Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,132,480) (3.429,571) $ (2,702,909)

Total 3 791,427 3 323,784 § 467,643
Depreciation expense totaled $760,549 and $1,020,267 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Continued CBC 00191
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

14. Certain Health Care Receivables:

For periods ending December 31, 2001 and prior, the Company recorded pharmacy rebates as they were
received. In 2002, the Company began recording pharmacy rebates on an accrual basis, based on actual
scripts filled. The Company admits pharmacy receivables applicable to the quarter ended on the statutory
financial statement date.

Estimated Actual Actual Actual
Pharmacy Pharmacy Rebates Rebates Rebates
Rebates Rebates as Received Received Received

Reported on Billed or Within 90  Within91to  More Than
Financial Otherwise Days of 180 Days of 180 Days

Quarter ._Statements ___ Confirmed Billing Billing After Billing
12/31/2003 $ 1,375,528 3 - 3 - $ - 3 -
5/30/2003 $ 1,338,121 § 77509 $ 775096 $ - $ -
6/30/2003 $ 1,377,949 $ 1219968 § 593543 $§ 626426 § -
3/31/2003 $ 1340248 $ 1,339901 $ 619,880 § 572,669 § 147,352
12/31/2002 $ 2,005,140 § 2,005,140 § 2,005140 $ - 3 -
9/30/2002 $ 1,881,760 $ 1,881,760 $ 1,881,760 § - $ -
6/30/2002 $ 1,107,841 $ 1,107,841 $ 1,107,841 § - $ -
3/31/2002 $ 984252 $ 984252 § 984252 § - 3 -
12/31/2001 - $ 1,559,313 $ 1,559313 $ 1,559313 § - § -
9/30/2001 $ 977,153 § 977,153 $§ 977,153 § - $ -
6/30/2001 $ 1,620,708 $ 1,620,708 $ 1,620,708 3 - b -
3/31/2001 $ 965809 $ 965809 $ 965809 § - $ -

15. Risk-Based Capital:

The Company is subject to minimum risk-based capital requirements that were developed by the NAIC.
The formulas for determining the amount of risk-based capital specify various weighting factors that are
applied to financial balances and various levels of risk activity. Regulatory compliance is determined by a
ratio of the Company’s total adjusted capital, as defined by the NAIC, to its authorized control level risk-
based capital, as defined by the NAIC. Companies below specific ratio thresholds are categorized within
certain levels, each of which requires specific corrective action. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
Company exceeded minimum risk-based capital requirements.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO STATUTORY-BASIS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

16. Stock Purchase Agreement:

On March 26, 2003, the Company’s parent companies, CBC and Highmark entered into a Stock Purchase
Agreement whereby CBC would aquire Highmark’s 50% share of the Company’s stock, making CBC the
sole owner. This Agreement was subject to certain subsequent conditions, which included Inmsurance
Department approval of grant of irrevocable proxy from Highmark to CBC to vote its shares pending
closure of the transaction and of the transaction itself. This proxy was approved and became effective on
April 1, 2003, giving CBC effective control of the Company as of that date. The Insurance Department
subsequently approved the transaction itself and, after other conditions were met regarding agreements for
Highmark to continue certain services to the Company for a period, the transaction closed on November 26,
2003. As part of the transaction, the Company executed a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release,
which released all claims to purchase affiliated managed care organizations, which had been subject of a
1997 arbitration ruling and court order.

Continued
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
SUMMARY INVESTMENT SCHEDULE
For the year ended December 31, 2003

Investment Calegory

Gross
Invesment Holdings
Amount Percentlage

Admitted Assets as
Reported in the Annual
Statement
Amount Percentage

Bonds:
U.S. reasury secturities
U.5. government agency and corporate obligations
(excluding montgage-backed securities):
Issued by U.S. government agencies
Issued by U.S. govemnment-sponsored agencies
Foreign government (including Canada, excluding
morigage-backed securities)
Securilies issued by states, territories and possessions
and political subdivisions of the U.S.:
State, terriotory and possession general obligations
Political subdivisions of states, temitories and possessions
political subdivisions general abligations
Revenue and assessment obligations
Industrial development and similar obligations
Mornpage-backed securities (includes residential
and commercial MBS):
Pass-through securities:
Guaranteed by GNMA
Issued by FNMA and FHLMC
Privately issued
CMOs and REMICs:
Issued by FNMA and FHLMC
Privaiely issued and collateralized by MBS issued or guaranteed
by GNMA, FMNA and FHLMC
- All other privately issued

-Other debt and other fixed income securities (excluding short-term):

Unaffiliated domestic securities {incl. Credit tenant loans rated by SVQ)
Unaffiliated loreign securities
Affiliated securiies

Continued
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770,691 0.512%
- 0.000%
21,199,137 14.074%

- 0.000%

2,082,118 1.382%

- 0.000%
10,047,079 6.670%
- 0.000%

- 0.000%
- 0.000%
- 0.000%

- 0.000%

- 0.000%
- 0.000%

41,150,423 27.319%
316,243 0.000%
- 0.000%

770,691 0.505%
- 0.000%
21,199,137 13.883%

- 0.000%

2,082,118 1.364%

- 0.000%
10,047,079 6.580%
- 0.000%

- 0.000%
- 0.000%
- 0.000%

- 0.000%

- 0.000%
0.000%

41,150,423 26.948%

316,243 0.000%
- 0.000%
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I KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
SUMMARY INVESTMENT SCHEDULE, Continued
l For the year ended December 31, 2003
| Admitted Assets as
Gross Reported in the Annual
Invesment Holdings Statement
I Investment Category Amount Percentape Amount Percentage
Equity interests: .
Investment in mutual funds 3,977,628 2.641% 3,977,628 2.605%
Preferred stocks:
I Affiliated - 0.000% - 0.000%
Unaffiliated ’ .- 0.000% - 0.000%
Publicly traded equity interests (excluding preferred stocks):
l Affiliated - 0.000% - 0.000%
Unaffliated . - 0.000% - 0.000%
~ Other equity securities: '
Affiliated (2,070,875) -1.375% - 0.000%
I/ Unaffiliated - 0.000% - 0.000%
Other equity interests including tangible personal property under lease: .
Affiliated - 0.000% - 0.000%
' . Unaffiliated . - 0.000% - 0.000%
- Mortgage loans:
Construction and land development - 0.000% - 0.000%
' Apriculmural - 0.000% - 0.000%
Single lamily residential properlies - 0.000% - 0.000%
Multifamily residential properties - 0.000% - 0.000%
Commercial loans - 0.000% - 0.000%
l Real estate loans:
Property occupied by company : - 0.000% - 0.000%
Property held for production of income - 0.000% - 0.000%
l Property held for sale ' - 0.000% - 0.000%
Collateral loans - 0.000% - 0.000%
Policy loans - 0.000% - 0.000%
Receivables for securities - 0.000% - 0.000%
' Cash and shont-term investments 73,158,904 48.568% 73,158,904 47.910%
' Write-in for invested assels - 0.000% - 0.000%
I Total invested assets 150,631,348  100.000% 152,702,223  100.000%
' Continued CBC 00195
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KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES

For the year ended December 31, 2003

1. State the reporting entity’s total admitted assets as reported on page 2 of the Annual Stated -
$199,072,884

2. State by investment category the 10 largest exposures to a single issuer / borrower / investment,
excluding U.S. government, U.S. government agency securities and those U.S. government money
market funds listed in the appendix to the SVO Purposes and Procedures Manual as exempt, property
occupied by the company and policy loans.

2.01
2,02
2.03
2.04
2.05
2.06
2.07
2.08
2.09
2.10

Percentage of Tolal
Investment Category Amount Admitted Assets
Equity: investment in mutual fund § 3,977,628 2.00%
Bond: industrial & miscellaneous $ 1,535,525 0.77%
Bond: industrial & miscellaneous ¥ 1514992 0.76%
Bond: industrial & miscellaneous 3 1,143,447 0.57%
Bond: special revenue, special assessment $ 1,080,105 0.54%
Bond: industrial & miscellaneous $ 1,074,920 0.54%
Bond: slate, territory and possessions $ 1,063,475 0.53%
Bond: industrial & miscellaneous $ 1,021,558 0.51%
Bond: state, territory and possessions $ 1,018,643 0.51%
Bond: industrial & miscellaneous $ 999,836 0.50%

3. State the amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in bonds and

preferred stocks by NAIC rating.
Percentage of Total
Bonds Amount Admitted Assets
3.01 NAIC-1 $ 61,869,105 31.08%
3.02 NAIC-2 $ 13,696,586 6.88%
3.03 NAIC-3 3 - 0.00%
3.04 NAIC-4 3 - 0.00%
3.05 NAIC-5 5 - 0.00%
3.06 NAIC-6 5 - 0.00%
Continued
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11.

KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES, Continued
For the year ended December 31, 2003

State the amounts and percentages of the reporting entity's total admitted assets held in foreign
investiments (regardless of whether there is any foreign cumency exposure) and unhedged foreign
currency exposure {defined as the statement value of investments denominated in foreign currencies
which are not hedged by financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting as specified in SSAP No.
31 — Derivative Instruments), including:

(4.01) Foreign-currency-denominated investments of - $0

(4.02) Supporting insurance liabilities denominated in that same foreign currency of - $0

(4.03) Canadian investments and curency of - $0

(4.04) Assets held in foreign investments less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets,
therefore detail not required for interrogatories 5-10 - Yes

Aggregate foreign investment exposure categorized by NAIC sovereign rating: Not required

Two largest foreign investment exposures to a single country, categorized by the country’s NAIC
sovereign rating: Not required

Agpregate unhedged foreign currency exposure: Not required
Aggregate unhedged foreign currency exposure categorized by NAIC sovereign rating: Not required

Two largest unhedged foreign currency exposures to a single country, categorized by the country’s
NAIC sovereign rating: Not required

List the 10 largest non-sovereign (i.e. non-governmental) foreign issues: Not required

State the amount and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in Canadian
investrnents and unhedged Canadian currency exposure, including:

(11.01) Canadian-currency-denominated investments of - $0

(11.02) Supporting Canadian-denominated insurance liabilities of - $0

(11.03) Assets held in Canadian investments less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted
assets, therefore detail not required for interrogatory 12 - Yes

Continued
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES, Continued
For the year ended December 31, 2003

Agprepate Canadian investment exposure: Not required

State the aggregate amount and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in
investments with contractual sales restrictions (defined as investments having restrictions that prevent
investments from being sold within 90 days) - $0, 0.00%

Assets held in investments with contractual sales restrictions less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s
total admitted assets, therefore detail not required for interrogatory 13: None

State the amounts and percentages of admitted assets held in the largest 10 equity interests (including
investments in the shares of mutual funds, preferred stocks, publicly traded equity securities, and other
equity securities, and excluding money market and bond mutual funds listed in the Appendix to the
SVO Practices and Procedures Manual as exempt or Class 1) — Mutual Fund: $3,977,628, 2.00%

Assets held in equity interests less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets, therefore not
required for interrogatory 14: None

State the amounts and percentages of the reporting entity's total admitted assets held in nonaffiliated,
privately placed equities (included in other equity securities) and excluding securities eligible for sale
under Sccurities Exchange Commission (SEC) Rule 144a or SEC Rule 144 without volume restrictions

- $0, 0.00%

Assets held in nonaffiliated, privately placed equities less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total
admitted assets, therefore not required for interrogatory 13: None

State the amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in general
partnership interests (included in other equity securities) - $0, 0.00%

Assets held in general partnership interests less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets,
therefore not required for interrogatory 16: None

With respect to mortgage loans reported in Schedule B, state the amounts and percentages of the
reporting entity’s total admitted assets held - $0, 0.00%

Mortgage loans reported in Schedule B less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s admitted assets,
therefore not required for interrogatories 17 and 18: None

Conltinued
27
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r KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN CENTRAL, INC.
SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES, Continued

For the year ended December 31, 2003
i 18. Aggregate mortgage loans having the following loan-to-value ratios as determined from the most
current appraisal as of the annual statement date: Not Applicable

19. State the amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in each of the five
largest investments in one parcel or group of continuous parcel of real estate reporting in Schedule A,

excluding property occupied by the company - $0, 0.00%

Assets held in each of the five largest investments in once parcel or group of continuous parcels of real
estate reported in Schedule A less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets, therefore
" detail not required for interrogatory 19: None

-«

types of agreements:

(20.01) Securities lending - $0, 0.00%

(20.02) Repurchase agreements - $0, 0.00%

(20.03) Reverse repurchase agreements - $0, 0.00%
(20.04) Dollar repurchase agreements - $0, 0.00%

! 20. State the amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets subject to the following
' (20.05) Dollar reverse repurchase agreements - $0, 0.00%

21. State the amounts and percentages indicated below for warrants not attached to other financial
instruments, options, caps and floors: $0, 0.00%

22. State the amount and percentages indicated below of potential exposure (defined as the amount
determined in accordance with the NAIC Annual Statement Instructions) for collars, swaps, and

forwards: $0, 0.00%

'. 23. State the amounts and percentages indicated below of potential exposure (defined as the amount
' determined in accordance with the NAIC Annual Statement Instructions) for future contracts: $0,
0.00%

24. State the amounts and percentages of 10 largest investents included in the Write -ins for Invested
Assels category included on the Summary Investment Schedule - $0, 0.00%

Continued CBC 00199
28



Ell ERNST&YOUNG LLP

STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION
February 24, 2004

Board of Directors
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.

I, Michael J. Cellini, am a member of the American Academy of Actuaries ("the
Academy"), and a Senior Manager and Consulting Actuary with the firm of Emnst &
Young LLP. I have been retained by Keystone Health Plan Central ("the Company") to
issue this opinion. I meet the Academy qualification standards for issuing this opinion,
and I am familiar with the valuation requirements applicable to the Company.

I have reviewed the actuarial assumptions and actuarial methods used in determining the
reserves and related actuarial items listed below and as shown in the Annual Statement of
the Company, as prepared by the management of the Company for filing with state
regulatory officials, as of December 31, 2003. My responsibility is to express an opinion
on these reserves and related actuarial items based on my review. The actuarial methods,
considerations and analyses used in forming my opinion conform to the appropriate
Actuarial Standards of Practice and Actuarial Compliance Guidelines as promulgated by
the Actuarial Standards Board, and form the basis of this statement of opinion.

Annual
Statement
Reference

Itemn Page-Line Amount
Claims Unpaid 3-1 $49,946,687
Unpaid Claims Adjustment Expenses 3-3 $1,741,038
Aggregate Health Policy Reserves 34 $282,629

The reserves and related actuarial items listed above represent the estimates made by
management of the Company for all unpaid claims as of December 31, 2003.
Considerable uncertainty and variability are inherent in such estimates, and, accordingly,
the subsequent development of the unpaid claims liability may not conform to the
assumptions used in the determination of the unpaid claims liability and therefore may
vary from the amounts in the foregoing table.

Page 1 of 3 February 24, 2004
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Sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

I have relied on listings and summaries of claims and other relevant data, and upon
management’s representations regarding the collectibility of reinsurance recoverable
amounts, as expressed in the attached statement. 1 have relied upon Mr. Brian J. Britt,
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer, for the accuracy of
the data, as expressed in the attached statement.

My review included the identification and evaluation of the effect on the foregoing
reserves of capitated risk-sharing contracts with service providers; however, my review
of such capitated risk-sharing contracts did not include an assessment of the financial
condition of the service providers. As such, the following opinion rests on the
assumption that such service providers will fulfill their obligations under their respective
contracts with the Company.

In other respects, my examination included such review of the actuarial assumptions and
actuarial methods, including comparing prior years’ estimates of unpaid claims liabilities
to their subsequent development and such other tests of the actuarial calculations, as I
considered necessary.

In my opinion, the reserves and related actuarial items identified above:

(a) Are computed in accordance with presently accepted actuarial standards
consistently applied, and are fairly stated in accordance with sound actuarial
principles, except that consideration of the adequacy of the Company's reserves
and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets which support them has
not been performed;

(b)  Are based on actuarial assumptions relevant to contract provisions and
appropriate to the purpose for which the Annual Statement was prepared, and
provide for all reasonably anticipated unpaid claims under the contracts;

(©) Meet the requirements of the insurance laws and regulations of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania;

(d) Are computed on the basis of assumptions consistent with those used in
computing the corresponding items in the Annual Statement of the preceding
year, with any exceptions noted below;

()  Include provision for all actuarial reserves and related actuarial iterns which ought
to be established; and,

Page 2 of 3 February 24, 2004

CBC 00201



Ell ERNST & YOUNG LLP

® Make good and sufficient provision for all unpaid claims and other actuarial
liabilities of the Company under the terms of its contracts and agreements, by
which I mean that the estimated liabilities is an appropriate measure of reasonably
anticipated payments on incurred claims under potentially moderately adverse
development, although, consistent with the scope of my review, the adequacy of
the Company’s reserves and related actuarial items in conjunction with the assets
which support them has not been considered,

My review did not include asset adequacy analysis, as such analysis is not in the scope of
my assignment. I have not reviewed any of the Company’s assets and I have not formed
any opinion as to their validity or value. My opinion rests on the assumption that the
Company’s December 31, 2003 statutory-basis unpaid claims liability is funded by valid
assets that have suitably scheduled maturities and/or adequate liquidity to meet future
cash flow requirements.

The scope of my review did not include preparation of the Underwriting and Investment
Exhibit - Part 2B of the Annual Statement. I relied upon Mr. Brian J. Britt, Vice
President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer, regarding the consistency
of paid claims data and unpaid claims estimates with the Underwriting and Investrent
Exhibit. As part of my review, I conducted analysis consistent with Section 3.6, “Follow-
Up Studies”, contained in ASOP Number 5, “Incurred Health and Disability Claims”,
adopted by the Actuarial Standards Board in December 2000.

My review relates only to those reserves and related actuarial items identified herein, and
I do not express an opinion on the Company's financial statements taken as a whole.

This opinion has been prepared solely for the Board and the management of the Company
and for filing with state regulatory officials, and for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield
Association, and is not intended for any other purpose.

Pl L

Michael J. Cellini, Ph.D., ASA, MAAA
5 Times Square

New York, New York 10036-6530
(212) 773-0873

Page 3 of 3 February 24, 2004
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Tab (b)

The information in this Tab (b) responds to the following request:

{b) If the results from (a) above require amendment of an annual statement blank
fited by CBC or any of ils insurance subsidiaries on or around March 1, 2004, an
amended annual statement blank{s) shall be filed within 15 business days of
submission of the information herein requested.

4
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Response to Item (b)

No action is required at this time pending the outcome of the reporls we intend to file in
response to ltem (a).

5
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Tab (c)

The information in this Tab (c) responds to the following request:

{c) A description of all affiliated foundations or similar affiliated entities, including
charter documents; annual reports of financial condition for 2002 and 2003;
financial reports for 2002 and 2003 showing funding from all sources, including
but not limited to the parent corporation, governments, and outside sources; a
cerlified statement of federal tax exemption; and a listing of officers, including
their positions in the parent corporation or any of the parent’s subsidiaries.

6
CBC 00205



Response to ltem (c)

Capital and its former business partner established a non-profit entity, the Caring
Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the “Caring Foundation"). Both Capital and its
former business partner served as Members of the Caring Foundation. As Members of
the Caring Foundation, Capital and its former business partner each appointed two
Directors to serve on the Board of the Direclors; the remaining five Directors on the nine
person Board were independent.

The Caring Foundation was incorporated on October 15, 1992 and was organized
exclusively for charitable, educational, and scientific purposes under Section 501(c¢)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code. Specifically, the purpose of the Caring Foundation was to
“benefit economically disadvantaged children and other members of the Central
Pennsylvania Community who do not have access to adequate health care, by providing
support to and sponsoring programs designed to improve the availability, qualify [sic]
and awareness of health care with respect to economically-disadvantaged members of
the Central Pennsylvania community.”

The Caring Foundation carried out its purpose by administering the Children’s Health
Insurance Program (*CHIP") on behalf of Capital and its former business partner. CHIP
is a health insurance program, providing comprehensive medical benefits (along with
dental and vision) for uninsured children from low-income families operated with the
benefit of financial support from the Commonwealth. In addition to administering the
CHIP program, the Caring Foundation subsidized the premiums certain families paid for
CHIP coverage. The Caring Foundation’s subsidy of the CHIP program is further
described in Capital's response to ltem (d) below.

In October and Novermnber 2003, respectively, the Caring Foundation's Board of
Directors and Members voted to dissolve the Foundation for two reasons. First,
Capital's former business partner had previously decided to terminate the joint operating
agreement effective April 1, 2002. As a result, when the contract for the CHIP program
came up for renewal, the two entities bid for and were selected separately as contractors
for the CHIP program as of September 1, 2002, with an effective date for the separate
CHIP programs commencing on January 1, 2003. [n spite of this separation, the Caring
Foundation continued to subsidize the premiums for the separate CHIP programs of
Capital and its former business partner from January 1, 2003 through July 2003.
Second, the Caring Foundation depleted all of the funds that were available to it to
subsidize the CHIP premiums in July 2003.

In response to the PID’s request, attached as Exhibits {(c)-1, (¢)-2, (¢)-3 and (c)-4 to this
ltem (c) are the following documents: (1} Charter Document {Articles of Incorporation)
(2} Annuat Financial Statements for 2002; Financial Statements for 2002 Required by
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133; and Unaudited Financial Statements
for 2003; (3) a Corporate Secretary Certificate and Letter of Federal Tax Exemption; and
(4) a Listing of Officers, including their positions in the parent corporation or any of the
parent’s subsidiaries.

.
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Exhibit (c)-1

Caring Foundation

Articles of incorporation
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dcrofikn Numbar. | . Fllod with the Depanimeni of State OM

ercty Koo 2129233 o SRV,

ARTICLES OF INCOAPORATION-DOMESTIC NONPROFIT CORPORATION
DSCR:15-5008 (Fav 90)

In compliance with the requiremems of 15 PaC.S. § 5305 {relating to anlicles of incorpordion), tha undersigned, dasiring
1o Incorporale 8 nonprolit corporation, hereby stale(s) that:

1. The name of the corporation Is__€aring Foundation of Centr-~? Pennsylvania

Z The (2) address of this corporation’s lnhlal registared office in this Commonweakh or (b) name of hs commercial teginared
oflice provider and the county of verue is:

(a) 2500 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg PA 17110 Dauphin
Number end Sues ) Cry Sale Dp Counsy
{b) c/o:
Hame of Commuvtial Regislered OMics Provider County

Fer a corporatic.. topreserted by a commercial reglstered ofice Mr_wmwhm]smmdﬂnﬂdhmhwﬁchm
mmumwluummm’dﬁmW.

4 The corporation ks Incorporated under the Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1088 for the foliowing purpose or purposes:
Please see attached.

4. The corporation dogs Nt comemplata pecunlary gain or profit, Inciderdal or ctherwise.

& Trwcpmorétionlsomalﬁeduponamrmodtmh.
6. m:u&!rmmxxmmmmmmmu

7. mmxwxmmﬁwmmqu TR AMMBROH YK RS 0N S XD O

DANA TN ER
S KW TR QLD AT KR A PR TR R SITHDICHRN K KR I TOCKER 100 A RE KTORTEHDER K e YA G T

[ anmmmmmmmwmr.lw.daachhcmmuh:

Capital Blue Cross 2500 Elmerton Avenue, Harrisburg, PA' 17110

9. The spectied efiective dais, ¥ any, Is-

manth day your hour, K any
10. Any sddibonal provisions of the anicles, X any, anach an 8 1/2 x 13 shesL

A, PRI L Nt e VRS et i gaat g o

}
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DSCE:15-6308 (Rev 60)-2

W TROERhY WEHE::)“F.QB'H Incorporetor(s) has (have) signed these Anticles of Incorporation this 14th _ uey of

CAPITAL BLUE -CROSS
(Signature)

. ot

) [Signature)

(Signaiurs)

920CT IS FH 4 05
.PA DEPT. OF STAIE

A Mo =i
AN



{1} Tha Corporation is organized exclusively for charitabla,
sducatlional and sclentlfic purposes {wlthin the meanlng af Section 501(c){3)
of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, or correasponding sectien of any futurs
tax code)}. The Corporaticn shall be operated exclusively for such charitable,
sducational and sclentific purposas. In carrylng out its charitable,
sducational and sclentific purooses, the Corporatlon shal) benefit
sconomically disadvantsged chlldran and other membars of the Central
Penneylvania coomunity who do nnt have access to adequate health care, by
providing wupport to and sponsoring programa designad to improve the
avallabllity, qualify snd awarenssas of health care with rewrt2ct to
economically-disadvantsged mechars of the Central Pennsylvania community.

{2) Ho part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall ctpure to the
beneflt of, or be distributsble to ites merhers, officers, directors, or other
private persons, except that the Corporatlon shall be authorized and empowerad
to pay reasonable compsnsstion for services rendered and to make paymsnts in
distrlbutions in furtherance of ite purposes as Iindicated in (1} abcva. HNo
subatantial part of the activitlies of the Corporatlion shall be the carrying on
of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the
Corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in {including the
publishing or distribution of statemantm} any politlcal campiign on behalf of
or in opposlition to any csndidate for publle office. HNotwithstanding any
othar provision of thesa Articles, the Corporation shall not carry on any
other activities not permittsd to bs carriad-on (a] by & corporation exsmpt
from federal incoms tax undar Bectlon 501(e}{d} ¢f the Internal Revanue Code,
or corresponding section of sny future federal tax code, or (h) by ‘s
corporation, contributlons to which are deductibls under Section 170{c)(2] of
the Intsrnal Revenus Code, or correspondlng ssection of any future federal tax
code.

{3} Vpon the dissolution of the Corporation, its assats shall ba
dlatributed for one or more sxsmpt purposes within the meaning of Section
S01{c})(2) of the Internal Favanue Cods, oOT corresponding section of any future
federal tax coda, or shall be distribvted to the feadersl governmant, or to a
state or local government, for a public purpose. Any such assets not =mo
dispossd of shall ba disposed of by ths Court of Comrmon Pleas of thoe county in
which tha princlpal officea of the Corporaticn is then located, sxclusively for
such purposss or to such organiration or organl:atlons, as the court ohall
detmrmine, which are organirsd and operated exclusively for such purposes as
indicated in paragraph {1) above.
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Exhibit (c)-2

Caring Foundation
The Annual Report (Audited) for 2002

Financial statements for 2002 Required by
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133

The Annual Report (Unaudited) for 2003
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Caring Foundation of
Central Pennsylvania

Financial Statements for the Years Ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and
Independent Auditors’ Report
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» Deloitte & Touche LLP
Twenty-5Second Floor
1700 Market Street
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103-3984

Te}: (215) 246-2300
Fax:(215) 569-2441

s | Deloitte
&Touche

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors
of the Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the Caring Foundation of Central
Pennsylvania (the “Foundation™) as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related statements of activities
and of cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Foundation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit inciudes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for ou
opnion. '

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Foundation as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the
years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, as of December 31, 2002, Capital Blue Cross and
Pennsylvania Blue Shield mutually agreed to dissolve their joint administration of the children's health
insurance program. The Foundation will continue to administer the subsidized program until the funds run out
in 2003. The future disposition of the Caring Foundation will be decided during 2003.

As discussed in Note 7 to the financial statements, the accompanying 2001 staternent of activities has been
restated to include the effects of certain contributed services and outreach administrative expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

June 26, 2003

Deloitte CBC 00213
Touche
Tohmatsu



CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 AND 2001

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

Investments
Accrued interest

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabie

NET ASSETS—Unrestricted

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

See notes to financial statements,

2002 2001
553,070 2,990,851

- 201,625

- 5,253
553,070 $ 3,197,729
239,592 32,311,125
313,478 886,604
553,070 $ 3,197,729
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 AND 2001

2002 2001
{As Restated
see Note 7)
CHANGES IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS:
Revenues, gains and other support:
Grant from Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund $ 2,576,083 $2,336,438
Contributed services 2,896,939 2,373,771
Investment income 13,453 70,389
Total revenues, gains and other support 5,486,475 4,780,598
Expenses:
Blue Chip of Pennsylvania 5,572,190 4,750,615
Qutreach 487,411 437,034
Total expenses 6,059,601 5,187,649
DECREASE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS (573,126) . (407,051)
NET ASSETS—UNRESTRICTED, BEGINNING OF YEAR 886,604 1,293,655
NET ASSETS—UNRESTRICTED, END OF YEAR $ 313,478 ¥ 886,604

See notes to financial statements.
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 AND 2001

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Amortization of premium
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments
Changes in assets and liabilities which provided (used) cash:
Accrued interest
Accounts payable

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from maturity of investments

Net cash provided by investing activities

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

See notes to financial statements,

2002 2001
$ (573,126) S (407,051)
(446) (2,574)
5,071 (1.272)
5,253 9,849
_(2,071.533)  2,247.956
_(2.634,781) 1,846,908
197,000 800,000
197,000 800,000
(437,781) 2,646,908
2,990,851 343,943
$ 553,070  $2,990.851
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 AND 2001

2.

DESCRIPTION OF ENTITY

The Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the “Foundation™) was incorporated in 1992 as a
nonprofit membership corporation within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania under the Nonprofit
Corporation Law of 1988. Capital Blue Cross (“CBC") and Pennsylvania Blue Shield (“PBS”)
(collectively, the “Members”™) are equal members of the Foundation. The Foundation is an independent
licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association.

The Foundation was organized to provide and administer fully and partially subsidized health insurance
to underprivileged children who reside in the communities serviced by CBC.

The Members have been awarded a grant from the Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund, an agency of
the Pennsylvania Insurance Departrent, to administer the provisions of the Pennsylvania Children’s
Health Care Act (P.L. 741, No. 113) (the “Act”) within the communities serviced by CBC. Under the
terms of the grant, the Members provide health insurance coverage, as well as purchase coverage from
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (“KHP Central™), and provide administrative services. -The
Foundation acts as a subcontractor for CBC and PBS to administer the provisions of the Act.

As of December 31, 2002, CBC and PBS mutually agreed to dissolve their joint administration of the
children's health insurance program. The Foundation will continue to administer the subsidized program
until the funds run out in 2003. The future disposition of the Caring Foundation will be decided during:
2003.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents consist of investments in money market funds and
short-term repurchase agreements with financial institutions. These investments are readily convertible
into cash and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value,

Investmenis—The Foundation carries investments at fair value. Fair values are based on quoted market
prices as of the statement of financial position date. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments
are determined using the specific identification method and recognized as investment income. Realized
and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in Investment income in the statements of activities.

Contributed Services—For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Foundation recognized
$2,896,939 and $2,373,771, respectively, in contributed services support from the Members. These
contributed services consist of salaries and benefits, printing, legal fees and other administrative
expenses incurred by the Members in performing administration and outreach activities. The Members’
cost is the basis for the estimated fair value of these contributed services (see also Note 7).

Grani from the Pennsylvania Children's Health Fund—For the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Foundation recognized $2,576,083 and $2,336,438, respectively, in grant revenue, which
represents the amounts of the combined federal and state awards passed through from the Members for
administrative services provided by the Foundation.

Income Taxes—The Foundation has qualified as a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code and, accordingly, no provision for income taxes is required.

-5-
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and administer the activities of the Foundation, and primarily includes administrative costs for
intake and retention of children (members), and other related services.

Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. They also
affect the reported amounts of revenues and other Support and expenses during the Teporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, fespectively, all of which became effective January 1,
2001. These statements establish accounting and Teporting standards for derivative instruments,
including those embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133 requires

CBC 00218



4.

INVESTMENTS

Investments at December 31, 2001 were as follows:

2001
Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate bonds ¥ 196,554 ¥ 5,071 E - § 201,625

All of the Foundation’s investments that were held at December 31 , 2001 matured during 2002,
Proceeds received from such maturities amounted to $197,000 and related reversal of the unrealized gain
of $5,071 was included in Investment income on the Statement of Activities.

FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

In 2002 and 2001, the Foundation incurred expenses in connection with the Blue Chip prograim of
$4,457,838 and $3,813,866, respectively. Expenses allocated for management and general activities
totaled $1,252,924 and $936,749 for the Blue Chip program and $487,411 and $437,034 for Qutreach in
2002 and 2001, respectively.

5. REIMBURSEMENTS OF OPERATING EXPENSES

Reimbursements for administrative services performed for CBC amounting to $138,572 and $0 in 2002

and 2001, respectively, have been offset against the management and general activities of the Blue Chip -

program,
CREDIT RISK

The Foundation maintains all of its cash with one financial institution. Accounts are insured up to
$100,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
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RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEAR CONTRIBUTED SERVICES AND OUTREACH
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE :

Subsequent to the issuance of the Foundation’s 2001 financial statements, it was determined that the
Foundation had not properly allocated expenses incurred by CBC for administrative services performed
on behalf of the Foundation, resulting in an understatement of outreach expenses for the year ended
December 31, 200]1. As CBC does not charge the Foundation for these services, the related contributed
services from these administrative expenses incurred was similarly understated for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The impact of the restalement was to increase both revenues and expenses by
$273,978, therefore there was no impact on Unrestricted Net Assets. As a result, the Statement of
Activities for the year ended December 31, 2001 has been restated from the amounts previously
reported as follows:

December 31, 2001
As As
Previously Restated
Reported
Statement of Activities
Revenues, gains and other support:
Contributed services $ 2,099,793 ¥ 2,373,711
Total revenues, gains and other support 4,506,620 4,780,598
Expenses:
QOutreach 163,056 437,034
Total expenses 4,913,671 5,187,649

LI N NN
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. Deloitte & Touche LLP
Twenty-Second Floor
1700 Market Street
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Tel(215) 246-2300
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&Touche

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of the
Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the Caring Foundation of Central
Pennsylvania (the “Foundation”) as of December 31, 2002, and the related statements of activities and
cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the '
Foundation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audtt in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the {inancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.” We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania as of December 31, 2002, and the
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, as of December 31, 2002, Capital Blue Cross and
Pennsylvania Blue Shield mutually agreed to dissolve their joint administration of the children's health
insurance program. The Foundation will continue to administer the subsidized program until the funds
run out in 2003. The future disposition of the Caring Foundation will be decided during 2003.

Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of the
Foundation, taken as a whole. The accompanying Supplemental Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
Awards for the year ended December 31, 2002, which is the responsibility of management of the
Foundation, is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the United States Office of
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-profit
Organizations, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements and, in our
opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole.

—
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 26,
2003 on our consideration of the Foundation’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be
read in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit.

Deeloitte. vTouche 11 p

June 26, 2003
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2002

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 553,070
TOTAL ASSETS $ 553,070
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES-Accounts payable : $ 239,592
NET ASSETS-Unrestricted | 313478
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 553,070

See notes to financial statements.
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

CHANGES IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS:
Revenues, gains and other support:
Grant from Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund
Contributed services
Investment income

Total revenues, gains and other support

Expenses:
Blue Chip of Pennsylvania
Qutreach

Total expenses

DECREASE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS-BEGINNING OF YEAR

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS-END OF YEAR

See notes to financial statements.

$ 2,576,083
2,896,939
13,453

_ k=

5,486,475

5,572,190
487 411

—
6,059,601
(573,126)

__ 886,604

3313478
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

- T T R

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Decrease in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Amortization of premium
Change in unrealized gains on investments
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest
Accounts payable

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from maturity of investrents

Net cash provided by investing activities
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS-BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS-END OF YEAR -

See notes to financial statements.

$ (573,126)
(446)
5,071

5,253
(2,071,533)

(2,634,781)

197,000

197,000
(2,437,781)
2,990,851

3553070
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

1. DESCRIPTION OF ENTITY

The Canng Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the “Foundation™) was incorporated in 1992 as a non-
profit membership corporation within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania under the Non-profit
Corporation Law of 1988. Capital Blue Cross (“CBC”) and Pennsylvania Blue Shield (“PBS”)
(collectively, the “Members™) are equal members of the Caring Foundation. The Foundation is an
independent licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association.

The Foundation was organized to provid-e and adminisfer fully and partially subsidized heaith insurance
to underprivileged children who reside in the communities serviced by CBC.

The Members have been awarded a grant from the Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund, an agency of
the Pennsylvania Insurance Department, to administer the provisions of the Pennsylvania Children’s
Health Care Act (P.L. 741, No. 113) (the “Act") within the communities serviced by CBC. Under the
terms of the grant, the Members provide health insurance coverage, as well as purchase covera ge from
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (“KHP Central™) and provide administrative services. The
Foundation acts as a subcontractor for CBC and PBS to administer the provisions of the Act.

As of December 3 1, 2002, CBC and PBS mutually agreed to dissolve their joint administration of the
children's health insurance program. The Foundation will continue to administer the subsidized program
until the funds run out in 2003. The future disposition of the Caring Foundation will be decided during
2003.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Casl and Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents consist of investments in money market funds and short
term repurchase agreements with financial institutions. These investments are readily convertible into
cash and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Investments—The Foundation carries investments at fair value. Fair values are based on quoted market
prices as of the statement of financial position date. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments
are determined using the specific identification method and recognized as investment income. Realized

and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in Investment income in the statement of activities.

All of the Foundation’s investmenis that were held at December 31, 2001 matured during 2002,
Proceeds received from such maturities amounted to $197,000 and related reversal of the unrealized gain
of $5,071 was included in Investment incorne on the Statement of Activities.

Coniributed Services—For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Foundation recognized $2,896,939
in contributed services support from the Members. These contributed services consist of salaries and
benefits, printing, legal fees and other administrative expenses incurred by the Members in performing
administration and outreach activities. The Members’ cost is the basis for the estimated fair value of
these contributed services.
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Grant from the Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund—For the year ended December 31, 2002, the
Foundation recognized $2,576,083 in grant revenue, which represents the amounts of the combined
federal and state awards passed through from the Members for administrative services provided by the
Foundation.

Income Taxes—The Foundation has qualified as a lax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code and, accordingly, no provision for income taxes is required.

Blue Chip of Pennsylvania—Blue Chip of Pennsylvania represents expenses incurred to operate and
administer the activities of the Foundation, and primarily includes administrative costs for intake and
retention of members (children), and other related services.

Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions.
These estimates and assumplions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, They also affect the reported
amounts of revenues and other support and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements—In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure requirements Jor Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebiedness of Others (“FIN 45™). FIN 45 elaborales on the existing disclosure requirements for most
guarantees, including loan guarantees such as slandby letters of credit. It also clarifies that at the time a
company issues a guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value, or market
value, of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee and must disclose that information in its-interim
and annual financial statements. This guidance does not apply to certain guarantee contracts, such as
those issued by insurance companies or for a lessee’s residual value guarantee embedded jn a capital
lease. The provisions related to recognizing a liability at inception of the guarantee for the fair value of
the guarantor’s obligations would not apply to product warranties or to guarantees accounted for as
derivatives. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 apply on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, regardless of the guarantor’s fiscal
year-end. The disclosure requirements are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods
ending after December 15, 2002. The Foundation does not expect that the adoption of the initial
recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 will have a material imnpact on its financial
position or results of operations. The adoption of the disclosure requirements of FIN 45 did not have a
material rmpact on the Foundation’s financial statements.

FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

In 2002, the Foundation incurred program expenses in connection with Blue Chip of $4,457,838.
Expenses allocated for management and general activities totaled $1,252,924 for Blue Chip and
$487,411 for Outreach in 2002.

REIMBURSEMENT OF OPERATING EXPENSES

Reimbursements for administrative services performed for CBC amounting to $138,572 in 2002 have
been offset against the management and general activities of Blue Chip.
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5.

CREDIT RISK

The Foundation maintains all of its cash with one financial institution. Accounts are insured up to
$100,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

* ¥ ¥ % ¥ %k

CBC 00230



Deloitte & Touche LLP

* Twenty-Second Floor

1700 Market Street
Phifadelphia, Pennsylvanla 19103-3984

Tel: (215) 246-2300
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING BASED UPON THE AUDIT PERFORMED iN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors of the
Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania

We have audited the financial statements of the Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the

" “Foundation™) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002, and have issued our report thereon
dated June 26, 2003. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United Stales of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Foundation’s financial statements are free
of matenal misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, coniracts, and grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinién.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Foundation’s intemnal control over financial
reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on
the financial slatements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.
Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all
matters in the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material
weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control
components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in amounts that would
be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be detected within a
1imély period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. We noted no
matlers involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that we consider to be
material wealmesses. :

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management,
federal awarding agencies, state funding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Detoitte vTouche LLp
June 26, 2003

Deloitte
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAM

To the Board of Directors of the
Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania
Hamrisburg, Pennsylvania

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of the Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the “Foundation™)
with the types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget
(“OMB") Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to each of its major federal
programs for the year ended December 31, 2002. The Foundation's major federal program is identified
in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned
Costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each
of its major federal programs is the responsibility of the Foundation’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Foundation’s compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government '
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and OMB Circular A-133,
Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB
Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a
direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence about the Foundation’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our -audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Qur audit does not provide a legal determination on the Foundation's
compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the Foundation cornplied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to
above that are applicable to each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the Foundation is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to
federal programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Foundation’s internal
control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major
federal program in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal conirol over compliance in accordance with
OMB Circular A-133.

Deloitte . CBC 00232
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Our consideration of the Foundation’s internal control over compliance would not necessarily disclose
all matters in the inlemal control that might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a
condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not
reduce to a relatively low level the risk that noncompliance with applicable requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants that would be material in relation to a major federal program being
audited may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control over
compliance and its operalion that we consider to be material weaknesses.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management,
federal awarding agencies, state funding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

September 23, 2003

-11-
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Federal
CFDA
Number
Federal Program/Pass Through Grantor
Department of Health and Human Services -
Children’s Health Insurance Prograrm:
Passed through the Commonwealth of Permsylvania - .
Deparitment of Insurance - Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund:
Capital Blue Cross—claims 93.767
Caring Foundation-adrministrative costs 93.767

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

See notes to Supplemental Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.

~-12 -

Federal
Expenditures

$ 15213444

1,690,383

3 16,903,827
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The expenditures included in the accompanying schedule are presented using the acerual basis of
accounting. The amounts reported in this schedule as expenditures may differ from certain
financial reports submitted to federal funding agencies due to those reports being prepared on
either a cash or modified accrual basis of accounting.

2. RECONCILIATION OF FEDERAL AWARDS TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania (the “Foundation™) became a subcontractor for
Capital Blue Cross ("CBC”) and Pennsylvania Blue Shield to administer the provisions of the
Pennsylvania Children’s Health Care Act (P.L. 741, No. 113) on Septernber 1, 1999. Under this
arrangement, the Foundation receives grant payments directly from the Pennsylvania Department
of Insurance, however, ninety percent of the federal award is passed immediately on to CBC for
claims payments; the Foundation retains the remaining ten percent of the federal award for
administrative services. Since the contractial arrangement for provision of health insurance
coverage is between CBC and the Pennsylvania Children’s Health Fund, the Foundation only
Tecognizes its ten percent pass through award as grant revenue in its financial statements.

* %k * ok ok Kk
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CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL PENNSYLVANIA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Part I - Summary of Anditors’ Results

1.

The independent auditors’ report on the financial statements expressed an unqualified opinion with
an explanatory paragraph. '

Reporiable conditions in the internal control over financial reporting — none reported.
Our audit disclosed no matters of noncompliance that are material to the financial statements.

Reportable conditions in the internal control over compliance requirements applicable to major
{ederal awards programs — none reported.

The independent auditors’ report on compliance with requirements applicable to major federal
awards programs expressed an unqualified opinion.

The audit disclosed no findings which are required to be reported by OMB Circular A-133.

The Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania's only major program was under the U.S.

Department of Health and Human Services, Children’s Health Insurance Program CFDA # 93.767.

A threshold of $300,000 was used to distingnish between Type A and Type B programs as those
terms are defined in OMB Circular A-133.

The Canng Foundation of Central Pennsylvania did qualify as a low-risk auditee as that term is
defined in Section .530 of OMB Circular A-133.

Part IT - Financial Statement Findings Section

The audit disclosed no items required to be reported in this section.

Part III — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs Section

The audit disclosed no items required to be reported in this section. -

Part IV — Status of Prior-Year Findings

- There were no prior-year {indings.

14
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Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania
Statements of Financial Position
As of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002

' Restated
December December
31, 2003 31,2002
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $233,648 $553,070
TOTAL ASSETS $233,648 $553,070
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities:
Accounis Payable-Capital Biue Cross and PA Blue Shield $233,648 $239,592
" Total Liabilities 233,648 239,582
Net Assets - Unresiricted ; 0 313,478
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $233,648 $553,070
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Caring Foundation of Central Pennsyivania
Statements of Aclivities
For the Nine Months Ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002

Restated
December December
31, 2003 31,2002
Revenues and other support:
Contributed services $963,425 $2,896,938
Investment income 2,357 18,525
965,782 2,915,463
Net assets released from restrictions:
Salisfaction of grant restriction (Grant from PA Children's
Health Care Fund) 108,038 2,576,083
Total unrestricted revenues and other support 1,073,820 . 5,491,546
Expenses: .
BlueCHIP of Pennsylvania 1,087,799 . 5,572,190
Qutreach 289,499 487,411
Total Expenses 1,387,298 6,059,801
{(DECREASE) IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS {313,478) (568,055}
NET ASSETS, BEGINNING ) 313,478 -881,633
NET ASSETS, ENDING $0 $313,478
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Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania

Slalernent of Funclional Expenses

For the Nine Months Ended December 31, 2003

Expenses

Health Insurance
Member Administrative Expenses
Salaries

Fringe Benefits
General Administrative
Qutside Services
Depr/iC.O.C-F&E
Equipment Use Charge
Magazines

Insurance

Legal

Office Supplies
Postage

Printing

Rent

Telephone

Travel

Adult Basic

Total Expenses

Total

BlueCHIP Outreach Expenses
600,410 0 600,410
86,797 0 86,797
199,264 148,516 347,780
82,5653 69,373 151,926
612 43 655

44 946 7,249 52,195
6,407 9,638 15,945
23,893 22,923 46,816
2,889 aze 3,197
171 184 355

0 0 0

2,050 1.282 3,332
25,163 5,162 30,325
7,740 2,577 10,317
20,003 12,488 32,491
6,395 8,414 15,809
1,588 422 2,010
{13,082) 0 {13,062)
1,097,799 289,495 1,387,298
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Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Nine Months Ended December 31, 2003

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
(Decrease) in unrestricted net assets
Adjustments to reconcile the {decrease) in unrestricted net assets to net cash
provided (used) by cperating activities:

Increase/(Decrease) in:
Accounts payable - Capilal Blue Cross and PA Blue Shield

NET CASH (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, ENDING

($313,478)

(5,944)

(319,422)
553,070

__$233,648_
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Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania
Analysis of Contributed Services
For the Nine Months Ended December 31, 2003

CBC PBS KHP TOTAL
Contributed Services $1,071,463 $0 | $0  $1,071,463
Less: Reimbursement from State {108,038} 0 ] 0 (108,038)
_ Net Contribuled Services $963,425 50 30 $563,425
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Caring Foundation

Certificate of Federal Tax Exemption
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CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE SECRETARY

|, Elizabeth J. Gant, being the Secretary of the Caring Foundation of Central Pennsylvania, duly
organized and validly existing under the laws of Pennsylvania, and having a principal place of
business at 2500 Elmerton Avenue, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17110, hereby certify that the
attached letter from the Internal Revenue Service dated April 30, 1997 is a true and correct

copy to the hest of my knowledge, information, and belief.

In witness whereof, | have hereunto set my hand this 19th day of March 2004.

By: Elizabeth J. Gant
Title: Corporate Secretary
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INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE
DISTRICT DIRECTOR

P. Q. BOX 2508
CINCINNATI, OH 45201

Date: APR 30 1397

CARING FOUNDATION OF CENTRAL
PENNSYLVANIA

C/0 CAPITAL BLUE CROSS
2500 ELMERTON AVE

DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Employer Identification Number:

25-1693273
DLN:

17053096772007
Contact Person:

D. A. DOWNING
Contact Telephone Number:

{513} 241-519%

HARRISBURG, PA 17177-9758
Our Letter Dated:
Qctober, 1952
Addendum Applies:
No

Dear Applicant:

This modifies our letter of the above date in which we stated that you
would be treated as an organization that is not a private foundation until the
expiration of your advance ruling period.

Your exempt status under section 501{a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an
organization described in section 501 (c) {3) is still in effect. Based on the
information you submitted, we have deterxrmined that you are not a private
foundation within the meaning of section 502(a) of the Code because you arxe an
organization of the type described in section 509{a) (1) and 170(b) (1} {A) (vi}.

Grantors and contributors may rely on this determination unless the
Internal Revenue Service publishes notice to the contrary. However, if you
lose your section 509{a){1) status, a grantor or contributor may not rely on
this determination if he or she was in part responsible for, or was aware of,
the act or failuxre to act, or the substantial or material change on the part of
the organization that resulted in your loss of such status, or if he or she
acquired knowledge that the Internal Revenue Service had given notice that you
would no longer be classified as a section 509(a) (1) oxganization.

If we have indicated in the heading of this letter that an addendum
applies, the addendum enclosed is an integral part of this letter.

Because this letter could help resclve any questions about your private
foundation status, please keep it in your permanent records.

If you have any questions, please contact the person whose name and
telephone number are shown above.

Sincerely yours,

District Director

Letter 1050 (DO/CG)
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Caring Foundation

Listing of Officers
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Officers of the Caring Foundation

Name Position in Caring Position in Parent Company
Foundation and Subsidiaries
Aaron Walton Chairman Highmark, Inc.’
James M. Mead President President and CEO

Capital BlueCross

Chairman and CEQ
Capital Advantage Insurance
Company

Chairman

Capital Administrative
Services, Inc. d/bfa NCAS-
Pennsylvania

Chairman
Keystone Health Plan Central

Chairman, President and CEQ
Avalon Health, Ltd.

Chairman
Consolidated Benefits, Inc.

Chaiman
CBC Insurance Company (a
Vermont Corporation)

Lee Van Valkenburgh Vice President Vice President, Special
Projects
Capital BlueCross

Vincent Caroccl Director Retired
Part-lime Consultant
Capital Blue Cross

Elizabeth Gant Secretary Corporate Counsel
Capital BlueCross

Carl Buch Treasurer Retired
Part-time Consultant
Capital Blue Cross

¥ Given the fact that Capital and Highmark are now in full competition, Capital does not have
access to information regarding Mr. Walton's current paosition or title.
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Tab (d)

The information in this Tab {d) responds to the following request:
{d) A description of all social mission activity in 2002 and 2003 by the parent

corporation and all subsidiaries, including, for subsidized products, financial
reports documenting the levels of subsidy.

8
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Response to Item (d)

As discussed below, the term “social mission® does not have a statutory basis. The
information provided in response to this request describes the activities through which
Capital and its subsidiaries meet Capital's responsibilities under the Hospital Plan
Corporation Act and the Nonprofit Corporation Law.

Statutory Differences between Hospital Plan Corporations (such as Capital)
And Professional Health Services Plan Corporations

Pennsylvania law prescribes a different set of charitable and benevolent purposes for
hospital plan corporations such as Capital BlueCross than for professional health
services plan corporations such as Highmark Blue Shield.

A hospital plan corporation is governed by the provisions of the Hospital Plan
Corporation Act (40 Pa.C.S.A. § 6101 et seq., and referred to helow as the "Hospital
Plan Corporation Act” or the “Act”).

Under the Act, a hospital plan corporation is defined as a not-for-profit corporation
engaged in the business of maintaining and operating a “nonprofit hospital plan.” A
“nonprofit hospital plan” is defined as:

A plan whereby for prepayment, periodical or lump sum payment
hospitalization or related health benefits may be provided to subscribers
to such plan. § 6101.

Under Section 6103 of the Hospital Plan Corporation Act, Capital is declared a charitable
and benevolent institution for purposes of exempting it from state tax laws. The Act
does not include the term “social mission” or any reference to a "social mission.” The
Nonprofit Corporation Law (15 Pa.C.8.A. § 5101 et seq.) defines “Charitable purposes”
very broadly as:

The relief of poverty, the advancement of education, the
advancement of religion, the promotion of health, governmental or
municipal purposes, and other purposes the accomplishment of
which is beneficial to the community. § 5103.

By operating a hospital plan, Capital gives subscribers the means to pay for hospital
expenses, assists hospitals and subscribers finance the cost of health care, and thus
promotes the health of the residents of its 21 county service area.

Conversely, professional health services plan comporations are governed by the
provisions of a separate statute — the Professional Health Services Plan Corporation
Act (40 Pa.C.S.A. §6301 et seq.). Unlike the Hospital Plan Corporation Act, the
Professional Health Services Plan Corporation Act contains the following “Declaration of
necessity:”

Declaration of necessity. -- Itis hereby declared that adequate
professional health services are essential for the maintenance of the
physical and mental health of the residents of this Commonwealth, and
that it is necessary that provision be made for adequate professional

9
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health services to persons of low income who are unable to provide
such services for themselves or their dependents without depriving
themselves or their dependents of such necessaries of life as food,
clothing and shelter. (Emphasis supplied.) § 6303(a).

The requirement of service to “persons of low income” is embedded in the very
definition of a “nonprofit professional health service plan® (40 C.5.A. § 6302). A similar
provision is not contained in the Hospital Plan Corporation Act.

Clearly the legislature set different and separate standards for hospital plan corporations
and professional health services plan corporations.

How Capital Fulfills its Statutory Responsibilities

Capital BlueCross has fulfilled and continues to fulfill its statutory responsibilities under
the Hospital Plan Corporation Act and the Nonprofit Corporation Law:

(i) by giving members the means to pay for hospital expenses and by
serving as a vehicle to help hospitals and subscribers finance the cost of
care — that is, by operating a Nonprofit Hospital Plan {see Paragraph
(i) below),

(ii) by offering such programs as CHIP, adultBasic, Special Care and the
Health Care Tax Credit Program {see Paragraph {ii) below); and

(iii) by undertaking voluntary aclivities intended for the benefit of the residents
of its 21 county service area (see Paragraphs {iii) and (iv) below).

(i) Capital’s Nonprofit Hospital Plan

Capital operates a Nonprofit Hospital Pian in its 21 county service area. As part of that
Plan, Capital has traditionally and veluntarily undertaken charitable and community
activities intended to benefit the residents of Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh
Valley. Among other things, Capital has historically and voluntarily assumed the role of
“insurer of last resort” for residents of its service area. That is, Capital has provided pre-
paid access to hospitalization benefits (regardless of health status) to the non-group
market. Since we began operating as a full-service health plan on April 1, 2002 without
our former business partner, Capital has continued its longstanding tradition of serving
as “insurer of last resort” in the non-group market in conjunction with its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Capital Advanltage Insurance Company.

Commercial health insurers have traditionally maintained the profitability of their health
insurance in the non-group market by either refusing coverage for those Pennsylvanians
with significant pre-existing health problems or charging significantly higher premiums;
they have often structured rates in a manner such that they are higher based upon
health status or age at the time of enrollment. Capital, on the other hand, has offered
coverage in the non-group market that is community rated (with no differential rating due
to age or health status) and, through continuous open enroliment, has served all
Pennsylvanians in Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley who desire such
coverage.

10
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As shown by the chart below, Capital has not generated a profit on any of its
underwritten business (i.e., non-group, community rated, and experience rated) for over
seven years.

Underwriting Losses: Capital BlueCross and
Capital Advantage Insurance Company

50.00 —

(810.00)

(520.00) {i=oc

{$30.00)

{540.00)

($50.00)

$ In Mlllions

{560.00)

{370.00)

(580.00)

($90.00) L=

Recently, there has been an unprecedented escalation of health care costs nationwide
and in Central Pennsylvania and the Lehigh Valley, and competition among payors has
intensified. Particularly under these circumstances, Capital felf it was necessary to draw
upon its investment income and surplus in an attempt to hold down the level of health
care premiums for its subscribers.

(i) The Individual Market
For the reasons explained above, and due to rate fegulation, Capital's premiums

charged to subscribers in connection with programs for the non-group market do not
cover the actual costs of these programs.

11
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Individual Programs

These programs include Direct Pay, Special Care, and adultBasic. The Direct Pay
programs consist of various products offered to individual account subscribers in the
non-group market, including Traditional, Comprehensive, Security (Medicare
supplemental), HIPAA Eligible Comprehensive, and Health Care Tax Credit
Comprehensive {a program for displaced workers certified to receive certain Trade
Adjustment Assistance benefits and for individuals who are receiving benefits from the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation). The Special Care program offers affordable
coverage with no deductibles to low-income individuals. The adultBasic program offers
basic insurance benefits to uninsured, low-income adult Pennsylvanians. The
adultBasic enrollee is responsible for payment of a very modest premium {and although
supported by the Commonwealth, even after government reimbursement, the program
still generates a net loss).

CHIP Program

The CHIP program offers comprehensive medical benefits {(along with dental and vision}
to uninsured, low-income children in Pennsylvania. As noted in the chart below, the
CHIP program operates at a net loss (after factoring in administrative expense, premium
subsidy, and underwriting gains/losses).

Pursuant to the CHIP contract with the Commonwealth, administrative expenses are
capped (and expenses incurred above the cap absorbed for the benefit of CHIP
enrollees).

In addition, in order to reduce the premiums certain families have to pay for CHIP
coverage, either the Caring Foundation or Capilal BlueCross has made contributions to
the CHIP program to subsidize the families' premiums. The Caring Foundation’s
contribution from 1999 through July 2003 was derived from an unanticipated profit
Capital BlueCross and its former business partner realized on the CHIP program in
1994-1995. Although Capital BlueCross and its former business partner attempted to
return these funds to the Commonwealth, the Commonwealth refused to accept them
because there was no mechanism under the contract for the Commonwealth to do so.
As a result, the Caring Foundation's Board of Directors directed that these funds be
used to subsidize the premiums certain families had to pay for CHIP coverage. These
funds were depleted in July 2003.

Since that time, Capital has continued to subsidize the premiums from its own surplus so
that low-income families can continue to afford quality health insurance coverage for
their children, thereby reinforcing our community commitment. Overall, from April 1999
through the present, over 1,500 children have directly benefited from the reduced
premiums the families were required to pay for CHIP coverage. Financial reports
relating to the Caring Foundation for 2002 and 2003 are included as Exhibit (c)-2 to
Capital's response to ltem (c).

12
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(iii) Voluntary Activities

Capital makes a number of donations and sponsors a number of programs intended to
benefit the residents of its 21 county service area.

In terms of donations, Capital makes nurmerous charitable contributions to benefit
organizations that fight disease or offer assistance, such as the Children’s Miracle
Netwark, the Salvalion Army, Special Olympics, tha American Red Cross, the American
Diabetes Association, and the United Way. Capital also makes numerous contributions
to benefit the community, including the Boys and Girls Club, the Hemlock Girl Scout
Council, the Latin Alliance, the Whitaker Center, the YMCA/YWCA, Channels Food
Rescue, the Allied Arts Fund, Big Brothers Big Sisters, Habitat for Humanity, and various
colleges and universities.

In terms of health education activities, Capital provides a number of services, including
such health related services as providing blood pressure and other health screenings,
issuing health and wellness materials, and attending/supporting health fairs.

In terms of sponscrships and other aclivities that serve the general community or
support educational activities but also advance Capital's business interests, Capital has
made contributions to or sponsored local Chambers of Commerce and economic
development agencies, educational programs (including “BrainBusters” and the “Great
Teachers Award" program), local hockey and baseball teams, opera houses, orchestras,
and theaters, foundations and associations, and local public television.

Because Capital BlueCross is a nonprofit corporation, it is exempt from payment of local
property taxes to the municipalities in which Capilal BlueCross has facilities. However,
consistent with its voluntary charitable and community commitment and in order to be a
“good neighbor” to the communities in which it resides, Capital BlueCross voluntarily
makes payments in lieu of real estate taxes.

(iv)  Other Conftributions to the Commonwealth
Capital BlueCross itself is exempt from payment of the two percent (2%) tax on

insurance premiums. However, in assessing Capital BlueCross' charitable and
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community commitments, we note that beginning on April 1, 2002, its subsidiary, Capital
Advantage Insurance Company, began to pay the 2% premium tax on all of the business
that it underwrites. The payment of the premium tax by Capital Advantage [nsurance
Company is a significant additional benefit to the Commonwealth on top of our
continuing voluntary charitable and community commitments.

In addition, Capital BlueCross’ subsidiaries paid various taxes: capital stock taxes —
Capital Administrative Services, Inc. d/b/fa NCAS® Pennsylvania (‘“NCAS") and
Consolidated Benefits, Inc. ("CBI"); sales and use taxes — Capital Advantage Insurance
Company, Keystone Health Plan Central, NCAS and CBI; and state income taxes —
Keystone Health Plan Central, NCAS and CBI.
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Tab (e)

The information in this Tab {e) responds to the following request:

(&) An explanation of the role that any for-profit wholly owned subsidiaries have in
furtherance of CBC's charitable mission.

15
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Response o Item (e)

Role of Qur Subsidiaries

The role of Capital’s for-profit subsidiaries is: {i) to provide a full array of products in
Capital’'s 21 county service area to befter serve our customers and members; and
(i) to enhance Capital's overall financial strength.

For example, when Capital’s joint operating agreement was terminated by its former
business partner, Capital's commitment to [ocal health care in our communities was at
risk (in fact, our survival was in question). As a result, as the PID is aware, Capital
determined that in order to rernain a viable health insurer in Central Pennsylvania and
the Lehigh Valley, Capital needed to evolve into a full-service health insurer capable of
providing not only hospitalization, but also professional provider-based medical-surgical
and major medical benefits. Given the PID's restrictive interpretation of the Hospital
Plan Corporation Act, it became necessary to study alternatives and to select the best
and most expeditious vehicle for contracting with professional providers.

After consideration of the available alternatives, and after consultation with the PID
concerning the time-frames and the complexity of utilizing a number of other vehicles
(including use of a professional health services plan corporation}, Capital determined
that the best alternative was to utilize Capital Advantage Insurance Company {CAIC) to
contract with professional providers. Among other things, CAIC was aiready capitalized,;
it was already licensed to use the “Blue Cross” name and logo; and it had the statutory
authority to seek and receive PID and DOH autherity to offer preferred provider
organization arrangements.

Accordingly, CAIC submitted the necessary filings with the PID and the Pennsylvania
Department of Health, and after extensive review, CAIC was approved to operate as a
preferred provider organization (PPQO) and to offer a Gatekeeper PPO/Point-of-Service
(POS) managed care program.

In many ways, CAIC simply stepped into the shoes of Capital’'s former business partner
and allowed Capital {i) to continue to offer the same product line as it had offered in the
past and (ii) to avoid any disruption to its customer base. So, for example, the
“traditional” program, once offered jointly by Capital and its former business partner, is
now jointly offered to subscribers by Capital and CAIC; the “traditional” program consists
of basic hospitalization benefits offered by Capital and medical-surgical and major
medical benefits offered by CAIC.

Capital's individual (direct-pay) products are offered by CAIC, either alone orin
conjunction with Capital BlueCross. As one example, our comprehensive program for
HIPAA-eligible individuals (which provides coverage on a guaranteed-issue basis
without a pre-existing condition exclusion period for HIPAA-eligible individuals) is offered
jointly by CAIC and Capital. This coverage, which may be accessed by individuals who
cannot obtain benefits elsewhere, is only offered in Pennsylvania by Blue plans like
Capital BlueCross.
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Capital BlueCross

May 17, 2004

Via Fax: 717-772-1969 and
1U.S. First Class Mail

1430 F3NVYNSNI vd
13SNN0J 43IHD 03AI1393Y

Sandra L. Ykema, Esquire
Department Counsel
Commonwealth Of Pennsylvania
Insurance Department

1341 Strawberry Square
Harrisburg, PA 17120

Re: Notice 2004-01 Application Process
Dear Ms. Ykema:

This letter is in response to your letter of May 7, 2004 on behalf of the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department (the “Department”) requesting clarification or an additional submission
with regard to the Capital BlueCross (“CBC”) March 22, 2004 Submission (the “CBC
Submission™) in response to the Department’s January 5, 2004 Letter.

As you know, I have orally (and, at your request, by e-mail) requested an extension of
time for CBC to respond to your May 7, 2004 letter so we could schedule 2 meeting between our
respective actuaries to resolve how CBC can meet the Department's request for an actuarial
certification different from that prescribed for annual statements. On Friday afternoon, May 14,
2004, I spoke with your colleague at the Department, Stephen B. Davis, during which he told me
that the Department has met with the other Blue Cross Plans to discuss actuarial issues raised by
the Department’s January 5, 2004 Letter and that the Department is taking our request for an
extension under advisement. I look forward to your response regarding the meetine and
extension.

Mr. Davis indicated that CBC should respond to the items of the May 7, 20(_)4 let'ter to the
extent CBC is able by today. That is the purpose of this letter. I will address each item in the
order presented in your letter.

FIRST REQUEST

Avalon Health Ltd. (“Avalon”) is an inactive HMO. No report was made for Avalon
because it does not carry any balances pertinent to the Department’s request. See, footnote 8 on
page 15 of the CBC April 15, 2004 Application.

CBC 00258
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SECOND REQUEST

This item will probably be the main topic at the meeting to be scheduled between CBC
and the Department. It makes sense, therefore, for CBC to postpone 2 more detailed response to
this part of the Letter of May 7, 2004 until we have held our meeting. That meeting will be
attended by CBC’s independent actuary, Mr. John Stenson. He is a Fellow of the Society of
Actuaries, a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries and is associated with Deloitte
Consuiting LLP.

Since that meeting may result in additional work being done by our independent actuary,
CBC suggests that supplying the underlying documentation from Mr. Stenson be postponed for
‘the time being until we see what can be worked out at that meeting. That said, CBC is willing to
provide the underlying documentation for the Statements Of Actuanial Opinion for CBC, for
CAIC and for KHPC signed by John Stenson and included in CBC’s Application as Exhibit (a)-1
with the Department’s assurances that this confidential information will indeed be kept
confidential. As you probably know, such items are based on highly confidential claims
information which is not shared with the public or competitors. We await your direction on this
aspect of our response to your May 7, 2004 letter.

THIRD REQUEST

The CBC April 15, 2004 Application stated in footnote 6 on page 13 that “Aggregate
Health Policy Reserves” includes “Uneamned Premium Reserves.” This presentation is consistent
with the instructions for the preparation of our December 31, 2003 Annual Statement. Aggregate
Health Policy Reserves were, in turn, opined upon by the independent actuary retained by CBC,
John Stenson, for CBC, CAIC and KHPC. See Exhibit (a)-1 to the CBC April 15, 2004
Application. In order to avoid any unnecessary duplication, I incorporate my response to your
Second Request herein.

FOURTH REQUEST

Consistent with the statements above, CBC expects to provide the Department with
responsive information in electronic form after the meeting to be scheduled.

" VYery truly yours,

IOJ ~ /(i

Patricia K.
Supervising Counst

cc:  Connie Foster, Saul Ewing
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June §, 2004
Via Hand Delivery
Sandra L. Ykema, Esquire
Department Counsel
Commonwealth Of Pennsylvania
Insurance Depariment

1341 Strawberry Square
Hammisburg, PA 17120

Re: Notice 2004-01 Application Process
Dear Ms. Ykema:

The attached information from John Stenson, FSA, MAAA, Principal of Deloitte
Consulting LLP supplements the March 22, 2004 Submission of Capital BlueCross (“CBC”) in
response to paragraph (a) on page 2 of the January 5, 2004 letter from Stephen J. Johnson and
Randolph L. Rohrbaugh of the Pennsylvania Insurance Department to James M. Mead, President
and Chief Executive Officer of Capital BlueCross (the “January 5th Letter”). This information 1s
being submitted in express reliance on conversations between counsel for CBC and Counsel for
the Pennsylvania Insurance Department (the “Department”), during which the Department's
counsel confirmed that information designated as confidential by CBC will be treated as
confidential by the Department and not disclosed to the public. If another party should seek
disclosure of this information from the Department, the Department will treat the information
designated as confidential by CBC as proprietary and confidential information belonging to CBC
and shall not disclose it to such third party, except pursnant to Court order. Upon receipt of any
request from a third-party for information designated "confidential" by CBC, the Department
will notify CBC of such a request to allow CBC to intervene or otherwise seek additional
protections from having to disclose such information. The Department may, but does not have
to, assist CBC with any efforts to maintain the confidentiality of the information in any Court
proceeding.

Very truly yours,

Gl

Patricia K.
Supervising Cetnsel
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